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ADVERTISEMENT.

THE many important Objects connected with the COUNTY OF
KENT, the numerous Communications with which I have been fa-
vored by particular Friends, and the extent of my own Researches,
have occasioned me to extend the Description of that very interest-
ing District to a Length far beyond my original Intention, which
was to have included it in the same Volume with the Counties of
Hertford and Huntingdon. It therefore becomes necessary to
divide the Letter-Press, so that the EIGHTH Volume may com-
mence with the ‘City of Rochester;’ for which Purpose, Pages
611 and 612 are Reprinted, (with some requisite Additions and
Omissions,) and given with this Number, which concludes the
Description of Kent. The SEVENTH Volume will now contain
Hertfordshire, Huntingdonshire, and that Part of Kent which pre-
cedes Rochester; and the Reader will observe, that, from the Cause
above stated, the Pages are numbered in Succession through both
Volumes. The History of the County of HUNTINGDON will be
published within two or three Months at furthest; and the Seventh
Volume will then be complete. The NINTH Volume (by MR.
BRITTON) will include Lancashire, Leicestershire, and Lincoln-
shire, Five Numbers of which are now printed; and the TENTH,
Middlesex, and Monmouthshire. Any Information for the Two
latter Counties I shall feel extremely happy to be obliged with, as
I shall commence the Account of them immediately on the Com-
pletion of Huntingdonshire; for which, also, the communication
of any materials will be highly acceptable.

E. W. BRAYLEY.

32, Newman-Street, Oxford-Street,
December, 1807.

In concluding the present Volume, I cannot refrain from re-
peating my strong Sense of the Favors which I have received
from the many Noblemen and Gentlemen of Kent, of whom I
have had occasion to make Enquiries; and I must in particular
again return by best Acknowledgments to S. E. BRYDGES, Esq.
MR. THOMAS FISHER, and the REV. MARK NOBLE, for whose
respective Communications I am greatly indebted. My sincere
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Thanks are also due to LORD KEITH, K. B. the EARL OF
DARNLEY; LORD ROKEBY; JANE, LADY WILSON; CHOLM-
LEY DERING, Esq. WILLIAM HAMMOND, Esq. MAJOR-
GENERAL FORD; CAPTAIN HARRISON; E. AUSTEN, Esq.
J. M. FECTOH, Esq. ROBERT FOOTE, Esq. —— WILDMAN,
Esq. J. BURTON, Esq. The REV. J. LYON; the REV. P. PAR-
SONS; DR. LORD; ROBERT LANE, Esq. J. KNOTT, Esq.
J. SIMONDS, Esq. MR. W. H. KING, &c. &c.

- - -

THE BINDER

Is desired to take Notice, that the Eighth Volume will include
(pro tempore) the following Prints.

Tunbridge Priory,
Holywell House,
Shrewsbury,
St. Vincent’s Rocks,
Netley Abbey,
Merton College Chapel,



Luton Church,
Wingham College and Church,
Tetbury,
Lees Priory,
St. John’s Preceptory,
Ragland Castle,
Bridgenorth,
Mackworth Castle,
Pope’s House, Twickenham,
Interior of Rochester Cathedral,
Quarry Hill,
West Gate, Canterbury,
Chapel in Brougham Castle,
Valley of Langdale,
Kenelworth Castle,
Hatfield House,
Vignette, St. Mildred’s Church,
View in Scandale,
Rye House,
Tintern Abbey, and
Lanthony Abbey.

These should be carefully placed together at the End of the Vo-
lume, with Silver Paper between each; excepting the Vignette, and
Chapel in Brougham Castle, which are to be placed at the begin-
ning of the Volume. The Signatures begin with Rr; and the
Description of Rochester, which must immediately follow the
Dedication, with Page 611. Pages 1281 and 1282, of the small
Paper, must be cancelled, and their Place supplied by the same
Pages given in the present Number.

This Leaf must be cancelled when the Volume is bound up.
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BY
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’Tis thine, Britannia, thine the noble aim
To live through long futurity of fame;
To gain the wreaths that grateful Arts bestow,
Pow’rs proudest immortality below!
In Time’s decay, ere Albion’s Empire dies,
To leave her constellation in the skies;
Eclipse the glories of the World combined,
Exalt thy sons, and dignify mankind!
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TO
THE RIGHT HONORABLE
GEORGE CAPEL CONINGSBY,
EARL OF ESSEX,
VISCOUNT MALDEN, AND BARON CAPEL OF HADHAM,
LORD LIEUTENANT OF THB COUNTY OF HEREFORD,
HIGH STEWARD OF LEOMINSTER,
AND
VICE PRESIDENT OF THE BENEVOLENT INSTITUTION,
THIS VOLUME
OF
Topographical, Historical, Descriptive, and Literary,
DELINEATI0NS IN THE COUNTIES OF
HERTFORD, HUNTINGDON, & KENT,
IS RESPECTFULLY INSCRIBED,
IN
GRATEFUL MEMORIAL
FOR THE
FAVORS CONFERRED BY HIM
ON HIS OBEDIENT SERVANT,

EDWARD WEDLAKE BRAYLEY.

Newman Street, Oxford Street,
August, 1808.
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ADVERTISEMENT.

The completion of the present VOLUME once more gives me
an opportunity of speaking in the first person; and I seize it with
eagerness, to express the grateful and strong sense which I feel
for the many kindnesses I have received from the numerous Gen-
tlemen of whom I have had occasion to make enquiries during its
progress: and also to acknowledge my obligations to the many
Friends and Correspondents who have favored me with informa-
tion, either verbally or by letter. The extent of my own re-
searches, though by no means commensurate with my wishes, has
been fully equal to what can be accomplished in a Periodical Pub-
lication of this kind, and will be readily appreciated by those ac-
quainted with the Counties herein described. Taking the Histo-
ries of Chauncy and Salmon for a ground-work in the account of
HERTFORDSHIRE, I have been enabled to correct various mis-
takes of those Authors, to supply many of their omissions, and to
add much new matter; particularly as to what regards the present
state of places and parishes. In these efforts I have been greatly
assisted (and for that assistance I return my most sincere thanks)
by my friends, Mr. Thomas Fisher, and Thomas Blore,
Esq. The former Gentleman, with a liberality which can be duly
estimated only by those acquainted with the expence and trouble
of making Topographical Memoranda on the spot, has not scru-
pled to lay open his extensive Collections, both in this County and
in Kent, for my service; a privilege of which I have made great
use, as it saved me the labor of travelling over much ground;
the unquestionable accuracy of his remarks and drawings, render-
ins any corroboration from personal review utterly superfluous.
With a similar degree of liberality, Mr. Blore, also, who has made
many Collections relating to the descent of property in Herts, per-
mitted me to make whatever extracts from his papers I judged
sufficiently to accord with the nature of my own Work. For read-
ing the proof sheets of St. Alban’s, and for various useful remarks
and notices, I am highly indebted to James Brown, Esq. of that
town; who, to the information of the scholar, unites the urbanity
of the gentleman. Among the other individuals whose polite at-
tentions I am at liberty to acknowledge, I have the pleasure to in-
clude the Earls of Clarendon and Essex, (the latter for the
loan of a very scarce and valuable book,) Lord Viscount
Grimston, and Miss Grimston, the Countess Dowager
Spencer, the Right Honorable Charles Yorke, George
Anderson, Esq. Richard Gough, Esq. the Rev. Mr. New-
come, George Harris, Esq. Thomas Brooke, Esq. George
Foster, Esq. and Mr. J. Andrews.
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For the Description of HUNTINGDONSHIRE, independent of
my own researches, I have bees principally indebted to the Cotton
Manuscript, (of which some account will be found in the List
of Books,) and to the Latin Histories of Ramsey and Ely, pub-
lished by Gale; these, with the general accounts given in Cam-
den and Gough, and the scattered notices in Noble’s Cromwell,
constitute nearly the whole of my authorities. Many of the
Parishes described, I have mvself visited in three different excur-
sions; and I should again have traversed the County, but from
the miscarriage of some materials, which lost me much time;
from the necessity of completing the Volume during the present
month; and from a continued indisposition of several weeks. This



euplanation will, I hope, be sufficiently satisfactory to those Gen-
tlemen whom I had engaged to call on in Huntingdonshire, as
well as to some others who have favoured me with introductory
Letters, which I have not been enabled to use; and particularly
J. — Brydges, Esq. the Rev. F. Wrangham, and the Right
Hon. Lord Carysfort. I stand equally indebted to their friendly
intentions, though thus prevented from deriving that advantage
from their favours which I had fondly promised to myself. For
many personal civilities, and various information in respect to this
County, I have to return mv acknowledgments to the Rev. Mr.
Bayley, the Rev. Mr. Panchen, and —— Desborough,
Esq. of Huntingdon; the Rev. Mr. Sherard, Godmanches-
ter; the Rev. F. G. Panting, St. Ives; Captain Williams,
Norman Cross Barracks; Olinthus Gregory, Esq. Wool-
wich; the Rev. J. Allanson, Uppingham; the Rev. R. Til-
lard, Bluntisham; William Owen, Esq. Colonel White,
J. A. Thompson, Esq. and Mr. Walmsley. The Engravings
of Colney House, Herts. and the Interior of Rochester Cathedral,
are contributed to this Work; the former by George Anderson,
Esq. the latter by Mr. Thomas Fisher.

As I purpose immediately to proceed with the description of
MIDDLESEX for the Tenth Volume, I shall be much obliged by
the Communication of any materials, either in correction or addition,
to what has been published relating to that County. The permis-
sion to look over any Illustrated Copies of Pennant, Lysons, or
Malcolm, will be considered as a favor.

August 29, 1808.

E. W. BRAYLEY,
Newman Street, Oxford Street.
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low spire, at the west end. In the south wall of the chancel is a
graduated Stone Seat, of three compartments. On a slab in the
nave, are small whole-length Brasses of a man between three fe-
males, in memory of Thomas Glover, and his wives Agnes, Alicia,
and Joane: he died in 1444. Many other monuments are in this
Church; and the tombs in the Church-yard are also numerous.
Dr. John Harris, F.R.S. Prebendary of Rochester, and author of
a History of Kent, of which only the first volume was ever pub-
lished, was Curate of this Parish./1

Stroud was originally a chapelry to Frindsbury: the Manor was
given, by Henry the Second, to the Knights Templars: at the dis-
solution of that Order, it was granted, with most of their other
possessions, to the Knights Hospitallers of St. John of Jerusalem.
It was afterwards conveyed to Edward the Second, whose succes-
sor exchanged it for other lands, with Mary de St. Paul, Countess
of Pembroke; by whom it was given to the Abbey she had then
recently founded at Denny, in Cambridgeshire. After the Disso-
lution, the Manor of Stroud came into the possession of the Lords
Cobham, and has since passed through a variety of families. An
Hospital was founded in Stroud, near the Church, in the reign
of Richard the First, by Gilbert de Glanville, Bishop of Roches-
ter, for a Master, or Warden, and several Priests, who were to
“relieve and cherish therein, the poor, weak, infirm, and impo-
tent; as well neighbouring inhabitants, as travellers from distant
places.” This Hospital was afterwards called the Newark, pro-
bably from having been rebuilt; though Bishop Tanner supposes it
to have been so called to distinguish it from the House of the Knights
Templars;/2 its revenues, at the Dissolution, amounted, accord-
ing to Speed and Dugdale, to 52l 9s. 101/4d. annually; and were
granted to the Dean and Chapter of Rochester. It was dedicated
to the ‘Blessed Virgin Mary,’ as appears from the charters given
in Dugdale. Leland and Speed have called it the Hospital of St.
Andrew.

/1 Dr. Harris fell into difficulties in the latter part of his life, and
died insolvent, which occasioned his remaining collections to be secreted.

/2 Vide Notitia, under Strode, (Stroud,) Note.

612

The Temple Farm, in Stroud Parish, about half a mile from
the village on the south, was the site of the ancient Manor-House
of the Knights Templars; the Cellar with a groined roof, and a
vaulting of squared chalk, is still remaining beneath the present
dwelling, which appears to have been built about the time of James
the First. Grose, in the view given in his Antiquities, calls it ‘the
Preceptory;’ yet it does not appear that the Knights Templars had
ever any establishment here; and the probability is, that it was
nothing more than a grange, or farm-house: the foundation walls
of the more ancient mansion are of very great thickness.
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INDEX
TO THAT PART OF KENT CONTAINED IN THE
PRESENT VOLUME.

A

Abbey, at Lesnes, 542.
Ales, church, some particulars of,

584.
Alphage, Archbishop, murder of,

469.
ANECDOTES: of Archbishop Al-

phage, 468, 469; Capt. Douglas,
595; Q. Elizabeth, 474-477, 510-
512; Flamstead, the astronomer,
499; of Gavelkind, 429-433; the
Kentishmen, 570; King John, 522;
the nuns at Higham, 587; Peter
the Great, 458; Mon. de St. Pierre,
498 (note); Andrew Schalch, 530,
531; Walworth, Lord Mayor of
London, 560; Wat Tyler, 550, 560.

Arms, singular, belonging to Graves-
end, 579 (note).

Arsenal, Royal, at Woolwich, singu-
lar occurrences relating to its esta-
blishment, 529-532; described,
553.

Aulus Plautius lands in Britain, 413.

B

BARROWS: in Greenwich park,
498; on Blackheatb, 512; at
Green-street Green, 566.

Belvidere, a seat, 545; pictures at,
546.

Bexley, 553; seat of Camden the
antiquary, church, monuments,
population, 554, 555.

Blackheath, barrows, Roman re-
mains found here, 512; Wat Tyler
and Jack Cade, encamp here, ib.;
Henry the Sixth, the Bastard Fal-
conbridge, and the Cornish Insur-
gents, encamp here, 513; the
scene of various triumphal pro-

cessions, 513, 514; Henry the
Eighth and Anne of Cleves meet
here, ib.; much contracted of late
years; house of the late Sir Gre-
gory Page Turmer, 515; villas on,
516-518; famous for gravel, 519;
Wat Tyler encamped here, 659.

Blendon Hall, a seat, 566.
Boleyn, Anne, arrested at Green-

wich, 474.
Bourne Place, a seat, 555.
Boys, Capt. William, his remarkable

deliverance, 487.
Brasses, sepulchral; of John Aylmer



and his wives, 550; Richard Bayly,
594; John de Bladigdone, 541;
Richard Bower, 502; Sir Regi-
nalde Braybroke, 608; Sir John
Broke, 607; Sir Tho. Brooke,
Lord Cobham, 609; John Brown,
594; Ellenore de Clive, 590;
Tho. Cobham, Esq. 594; Sir John
de Cobbam, Maude de Cobham,
Margaret de Cobham, John de
Cobham, Tho. de Cobham, Joan
de Cobbam, 600-607; Joan de Cob-
ham, 608; Rauf de Cobham, 610;
Tho. Elys, 586; Tho. Glover, and
his three wives, 611; Sir Nicholas
Hawberk, 608; Ed. Hawke, 550;
Rob. Hylton, 588; John Lombard,
573; Peter de Lucy, 576; Richard
Martyn, 563; William Payn, 541;
Dorothy Plumly, 594; Sir Will.
Rykeld, knt. 577; John Sedley,
569; Rog. Sencler, 550; William
Tannere, 610; Tho. Sparrow, 554;
John Sprotte, 610; Tho. Tallys,
Henry Traifford, 503; John Tub-
ney, 568; John Urban, 568; Wal-
den Family, 541; Sir Rich. Wal-
den, knt. 549; John Whythe, 503;
Emma Wode, 550.

Britain, Great, supposed to have been
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originally united with the Conti-
nent, and why, 405.

Britons, ancient, bravely resist the
Romans under Caesar, 406-412.

Brooke, Lord Cobham, defends
Cowling Castle, 592.

Browne, Rev. Moses, author of Pis-
catory Eclogues, buried at Morden
College, 516.

C

Caesar invades Britain, lands at Ru-
tupiae, 407; his battles with the
Britons, 408; his sudden departure
and second descent, 409; forms a
strong camp, 410; defeats Cassi-
velaunus, 411, 413; re-embarks
for Gaul, 412.

Cantium, Cant-guar-lantd, Caint,
Cbenth, ancient names of Kent,
406.

Canute invades England, 433.
CASTLES. Cowling, 591; Stone

Castle, 571; Swanscombe, 569;
Upnor, 594.

Cavern, a singular one, 518.
Caves, ancient ones near Crayford,

558.
Chalk church, singular sculpture over

west porch, 584.
Chalk-works at Greenhithe, 574;



Northfleet, 576.
Charlton-House described, 523, 524.
Charlton, manor, &c. 521; Horn-

fair, church, 522; monuments,
522, 523.

Cherries introduced into England by
the Romans, 440; Kentish cherry
first planted at Teynham, in the
reign of Henry VIII. ib. (note.)

Chest at Chatham removed to Green-
wich, 510.

Chesterfield House, a seat, 517.
Child born without arms, baptized at

Greenwich, 505.
CHURCHES described; at Boxley,

554; Chalk, 584; Charlton, 522;
Cliff, 589; Cobham, 605; Cow-
ling, 592; Crayford, 551; Darent,
565; Dartford, 562; Deptford,
St. Nicholas, 461; Deptford, St.
Paul’s, 464; East Wickham, 541;
Erith, 549; Frindsbury, 596;
Gravesend, 581; Greenwich, 502;
Higham, 588; Hoo, St. Werburgh,

594; Northfleet, 576; Plumstead,
542; Shorne, 586; Southfleet,
568; St. James’s, 593; Stone, 572;
Stroud, 610; Swanscombe, 571;
Woolwich, 528.

Cliff, supposed to be the place where
several Synods were held, church,
589; painted glass, monuments,
curious patinae, 590.

Cobham Church, 605; brasses of the
Cobhams, 606-610.

Cobham College, account of, 604, 605.
Cobham Hall, a seat, interesting par-

ticulars of the Cobham family,
597-601; described, vestibule,
music-rooms, gallery, pictures,
park, mausoleum, 602-604.

Cooper, Ould, married at the age of
108, 505.

Cowley, the poet, resided at Dept-
ford, 467.

Cowling, 591; castle described, ib.;
Sir John Oldcastle, and Sir Geo.
Brooke, Lord Cobham, take refuge
here, 592; church, ib.

Crayford, battle here between Hen-
gist and Vortimer, 550; descent
of manor, May Place, church, mo-
numents, population, manufacto-
ries, 551, 552.

D

Danson Hill, a seat, 556; described,
557.

Darent, or Darenth, church, font,
565.

Dartford, 557; descent of the
manor, 558, 559; tournament held



here, insurrection under Wat Ty-
ler, 560; nunnery, ib.

Dartford Place, 561; church, monu-
ments, hermitage, 562, 563; ma-
nufactures, population, 564.

Dartford Brent, encampments here,
565.

Dartmouth House, a seat, 517; Ro-
man urns found here, 518.

Deptford, anciently a small fishing
village, 456; successive possessors,
456-459; burnt, royal dock, vic-
tualling-office, or red-house, 459,
460; private docks, St. Nicholas
church, 461; monuments, 462, 463;
St. Paul’s church, 464; monuments,
464, 465; rectory house, Trinity-
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house and hospital, charity school,
465, 466; eminent inhabitants,
bridge, 467; population, 468.

Dimchurch wall, an immense em-
bankment in Romney-marsh, 444.

Dock-yard at Deptford, 459; ships
built here, visited by Queen Eliza-
beth, 460; at Woolwich, 526, 527;
ships built here, 527; at Graves-
end, 583.

Dock-yards, private, 461.
Douglas, Capt. his brave conduct in

opposing the Dutch, 595.
Domesday Book, its brief statements

sometimes occasion erroneous as-
sertions, 593.

E

East-combe, a manor, 519.
East Kent, its soils, agriculture, wood-

lands, 435, 436.
East Wickham, 540; manor house,

church, brasses, 541.
Elbow-chair, made of the wood of the

vessel in which Sir Francis Drake
circumnavigated the globe, 460.

Elizabeth, Queen, description of her
person and court by Hentzner,
476; some particulars of, 510-512.

ENCAMPMENTS: on Blackheath,
512; Dartford Brent, 565; Green-
street Green, 566; Greenwich,
468; Southfleet, 566; Swanscombe,
569.

Epitaphs, on Thomas Tallys, a mu-
sician, 502; Richard de Lucy,
543; Robert Hylton, 588.

Erith, 546; descent of the manor,
547, 549; church, monuments,
brasses, 549, 550.

F

Ferry between Gravesend and Lon-
don, curious particulars concerning,



579, 580.
Flamsteed, the astronomer, some par-

ticulars of, 499.
Flood, great, at Deptford, 459; at

Woolwich, 526.
Fonts, curious, at Chalk, 584; Da-

rent, 565; Shorne, 586; South-
fleet, 569.

Fossils, at Hanging Wood, 524; at
Greenhithe, 574 (note); at Shepey,
705.

Foundery for cannon in Upper Moor
fields, 529: accident there, 530,
531.

Freeholds of Kent, 447.
Frindsbury-church, 596.

G

Gad’s Hill, scene of the exploits of
Sir John Falstaff, 596.

Gavel-kind, its etymology, 425;
its equitableness, 426; why ob-
served in Kent, 427; disgavelling
acts, 428; restrictions on, 429;
its benefits lost by females guilty
of incontinence, 430; benefits of,
431, 432; disgaveliing acts not ob-
served, 433.

George the Second, statue of, at
Greenwich, 485.

Glass, painted or stained; at South-
fleet, 568; Cliff, 590.

Golden Devil, ship so called, 527, 528
(note).

Gunning, Peter, Bishop of Ely, some
account of, 594.

Graine, Isle of, 592; Nore light, ib.;
St. James’s church, salt-pans, 593.

Gravesend, its etymology, 577;
descent of the manor, 578, rights
of its lords, ib. (note); incorpo-
rated, ferry to London, 579; singu-
lar arms, ib. (note); tilt-boats, pro-
jected tunnel, 580; town burnt,
church, 531; batteries, large whale
caucht here, town-hall, 582; po-
pulation, private dock, bathing-
house, 583; ancient family of, 584.

Greenhithe, chalk-pits, 574.
Green-street-Green, entrenchments

here, 566.
Greenwich, a principal station of

the Danes, 468; Archbishop Al-
phage killed here, on the spot
where the parish church now stands,
469; possessors of the manor, 470;
park inclosed, and palace built,
471; Henry the VIIIth born here,
makes it his principal residence,
471; tournaments and masque-
rades held here, and many festivals,
472, 473; Queen Anne Boleyn ar-



rested here, Edward the Sixth
born here, 474; Queen Elizabeth
keeps her court here, 474-477;
James the First resident here, 477;
new palace erected by Charles the
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Second, 478; origin and descrip-
tion of Greenwich Hospital, 478-
497; Greenwich Park, 497; bar-
rows, ranger’s lodge, royal obser-
vatory, 498-500; community of
Minorites founded at Greenwich,
501; church, 502; monuments in
the old church, 502, 503; inscrip-
tions in register, 504, 505; hospi-
tals, or alms-houses, 505; Norfolk,
college and chapel of, 506; schools,
507; inhabitants, iron wharf, 508;
Nelson’s remains landed here, his
character, 508, 509; natives of
Greenwich, Henry the Eighth,
Queen Mary, and Queen Elizabeth,
510-512.

GREENWICH HOSPITAL, ori-
gin of, 478; reasons for its esta-
blishment, 479; proceedings of the
commissioners, 480; revenues of,
481-483, Qu. Anne’s charter, 483;
officers, 484; description of, 484-
485; Q. Anne’s and King Charles’s
buildings, 486; King Williams’s
and Queen Mary’s buildings, 487-
493; vestibule, great hall, 488;
chapel, 489-493; school, 493, 494;
pensioners, their allowances, 494,
495; globes at entrance, 495; in-
firmary, mausoleum, 496; longe-
vity of pensioners, 496, 497.

Greenwich Park first inclosed,
471; Queen Elizabeth entertained
here by the city of London, 474,
475; ranger’s lodge built, 477;
One Tree Hill, 497; ranger’s lodge
described, 498; royal observatory
built on the site of an ancient tow-
er, 498; described, 499, 500;
Dr. Johnson composed great part
of his Irene here, 508.

H

Hall Place, a seat, 555.
Hanging-Wood, Fossils found here,

524.
Hengist and Horsa, Saxon chiefs,

land at Ebbs’-Fleet, in Thanet,
414; Hengist assumes the title of
King of Kent, 416; his treachery
abd death, 416, 417.

Henry the Eighth, born at Green-
wich, 471; Sketch of his charac-
ter, 510.

Hermitage, a seat, 588.



Higham nunnery, singular anecdote
of the nuns, 587; church, and mo-
numents, 588.

High-Street House, a seat, 555.
Holly-Hedge House, a seat, 518.
Hoo, St. Werburgh, its presumed

ancient importance, 593; church,
monuments, Peter Gunning, Bi-
shop of Ely, born here, 594.

Hops, much cultivated in Kent, Bri-
tish name of, and mode of cultiva-
tion, 437-439.

Horn Fair, at Charlton, 522.
Horseman’s Place, a seat, 563.
Hulks at Woolwich, 534.

I

Ingress, a pleasant seat, 574.

K

KENT, general description, his-
tory, topography, and local beau-
ties of, 405-556; its superior
importance, 405; presumed to
have been once joined to the Con-
tinent, 405, 406; ancient names
of, 406; invaded by the Romans
under Caesar, 406-409; again in-
vaded by Caesar, 409-412; con-
quered and included in Britannia
Prima, 412-414; subjugated by
the Saxons and erected into a
kingdom, 414-416; succession
and history of the kings of Kent,
416-420; infested by the Danes,
421-423, its boundaries, extent,
population, and parliamentary re-
presentatives, 423-425; custom of
Gavel-kind, and history of Gavel-
kind, 425-433; aspect, agricul-
tural divisions, agriculture, soils,
woodlands, 433-437; hop grounds,
and modes of cultivating hops, 437,
439; apples, cherries, filberts,
429-440; agriculture continued,
Weald of Kent, Romney Marsh,
sheep, cattle, 440-447; manufac-
tures, religious houses, 448; Ro-
man roads, and stations, 448-450;
castles, rivers, the Thames, 455;
the Medway, 451-453, the greet-
est Stour, 453; the lesser Stour,
454; the Rother, the Darent, the
Cray, the Ravensbourne, 455; the
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Lee Bourne, 456; cities, towns,
villages, seats, &c. 456 et seq.

Kings of Kent, 416-420.

L

Lambard, the Kentish antiquary,
some particulars of, 520.



Lamienby, a seat, 556.
Land Peerage, a singular custom in

the Weald of Kent, 443.
Lesnes Abbey, 542, 543; antient

monuments, 544; ruins, and farm-
house, 545.

Longevity, remarkable instances
of, 464, 465, 496, 497, 505, 533
(note).

Lucy, Sir Richard de, some account
of, 542, 543; his monument, 544.

Luxborough galley, burnt, great
distresses of the crew, 487.

M

Mary, Queen, born at Greenwich,
sketch of her character, 510, 511.
Masquerade, account of the first ever
celebrated in England, 472, 473.
May Place, a seat, 551.
Maze-Hill, or Maize-Hill, 519.
Montague-Walk, Blackheath, 517.
MONUMENTS and TOMBS. –

Grace, Viscountess of Armagh,
533; Sir Richard Austen, Bart.
554; Dr. Benjamin Barnett, 542;
Henry Roger Boyle, 462; Sir Ed-
ward Brett, Knight, 544; Sir R.
Brown, Knight, 463; Sir John
Champeneies, Knight, 554; Sir
Henry de Cobham, 586; James
Craggs, Esq. 523; Sir James
Creed, Knight, 502; William
Draper, Esq. 551; John Earl of
Egmont, 523; Captain Edward
Fenton, 462; Mathew Finch,
Gent. Mary Finch, 465; Sir Rich-
ard Ford, 554; Margaret Haw-
tree, 565; Sir Francis Head, Bart.
588; W. Lambard, 505; Sir W.
Langhorne, Bart. 523; Sir J. Le-
thieullier, Knt, 502; J. Lidgbird,
Esq. 542; Sir R. de Lucy, 544;
Hon. Robert Mansel, 552; Sir J.
Lambert Middleton, Bart. 523; Sir
Adam Newton, Bart. 522; Henry
Earl of Northampton, 506; Sir W.
Page, 586; Peter Pett, Esq. 463;

Hon. Brigadier General Michael
Richards, 522; Sir Robert Robin-
son, Knight, 502; Sir W. H.
Sanderson, Bart. 502; James
Sayer, Esq. 464; John Sedley,
Esq. 569; G. Shelvocke, Esq. 462;
Captain G. Shelvocke, ib.; Eliza-
beth Countess of Shrewsbury, 549;
Dame Elizabeth Shovel, 552;
Lieutenant General W. Skinner,
502; Dr. Frederick Slayre, 502;
Sir John Spilman, 562; John
Styleman, Esq. 554; Sir Ralph
Weldon, 571; Lieutenant Pierce



Welsh, 496; Sir John Willshyre,
Knight, 573.

Morden College, Blackheath, found-
ed for decayed Turkey merchants,
515, 516.

N

Nelson, Admiral Lord, his remains
landed at Greenwich, 508; his
character, 509.

Northfleet, chalk-works, church,
stone seats, 576; screen brasses,
577.

NUNNERIES: at Dartford, 560;
Higham, 587.

O

Observant Friars, House of, founded
at Greenwich, 591.

Oldcastle, Sir John, secures himself
in Cowling Castle, 592.

One Tree Hill, views from, 497.

P

Paper, manufacture of, first intro-
duced into England, 562.

Lime trees brought into England,
562.

Patine, a curious one at Cliff, 590.
Pictures: in the council-room,

Greenwich Hospital, 487; the
preservation of St. Paul, in Green-
wich Chapel, bv West, 492; at
Woodlands, 519; at Belvidere,
546; at Cobham Hall, 603.

Plumsted, 541; Court Lodge, church,
marshes, 542.
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Polly Peachum, resides at West-
combe, 521.

Port of London, its limits, 581.
PORTRAITS: – Sir John Coke,

517; Cap. Clements, 487; Lord
Viscount Dorrington, 487; Flam-
steed, 489; Sir John Gage, 546;
Garrick, 519; George the Se-
cond, 586; Sir John Jennings,
487, 664; Sir John and Lady
Morden, 516; Robert Osbold-
ston, 487; Philip, seventh Earl of
Pembroke, 517; Rembrant, 546:
Rubens, 520; John, late Earl of
Sandwich, 487; Edward, first Earl
of Sandwich, 486; Snyders, 546;
Sir James Thornhill, 489; Henry
Prince of Wales, 534; Mr. Tho-
mas Weston, 480; William and
Mary, 486, 664; Thomas Wilson,
L. L. D. 524; John Worley, the
first Greenwich pensioner, 487;
Van Tromp, 546.



R

Randall, or Roundall, a manor, 585.
Rivers of Kent. The Thames,

451; the Medway, 451-453; the
greatest Stour, 453; the lesser
Stour, 454; the Rother, the Da-
rent, the Cray, the Ravensbourne,
455; the Lee Bourne, 456.

ROMAN ANTIQUITIES: sta-
tions, camps, coins, glass urns,
&c. 449, 450; urns and coins at
Blackheatb, 512 and 518; a sar-
cophagus, glass urns, skeletons,
rings, shoes, pottery, at South-
fleet, 567, 568.

Roman Roads: 448-450; course of
Watling Street, 449; and of the
Stone way, 450.

Roman Station: 448-450; at
Southfleet (Vagniacae), 556, 557.

Romney Marsh, its extent, Dray-
ton’s description of, soils, chiefly
appropriated to the fattening of
Sheep and Cattle, 443-447.

S

Sayes Court, Deptford, seat of John
Evelyn, Esq. 457; residence of
Peter the Great, his singular
amusement, 458.

Schalch Andrew, his fortunate saga-
city, 530, 531.

Sculpture, singular, at Chalk, 584.
Sheep, mode of breeding in Rom-

ney Marsh, 445-447.
Shepey, Isle of, its soils, agricul-

ture, &c. 440, 441.
Shooter’s Hill, formerly greatly in-

fested by robbers, 538; Henry
the Eighth entertained here by
archers, 539; Tower built in com-
memoration of Sir W. James,
Bart. ib.

Shorne, 585; church, monuments,
font, 586; battery at, 587.

Southfleet, the Vagniacae of the Ro-
mans, 566; Roman antiquities
found here, 567; church, monu-
ments, stone seat, font, Parsonage
house, 568, 569.

Spilman, Sir John, Jeweller to
Queen Elizabeth, introduces the
manufacture of paper into Eng-
land, 562.

Stainer, Admiral Sir Richard, his
brave actions, 504.

St. Margaret, at Helles, chapel, 566.
Stone, 571; its curious church, Brass

of Lumbarde, chapel, 573; ma-
rine shells, 573, 574 (note).

Stone Castle, a seat, 571.
Stone Seats at Bexley, 554; Chalk,



584; Northfleet, 576; Southfleet,
369; Stroud, 611.

Stroud, church, Temple-farm, hos-
pital, 610-612.

Swanscombe, 569; said to be the
place where the Kentish Men op-
posed the Conqueror, 570; manor,
church, 571.

Swerdling Downs, supposed to be
the scene of Caesar’s first action
with the Britons in his second ex-
pedition, 410 (note).

Sweyn, the Danish King, ravages
Britain, 421, 422.

T

Temple Farm, a manor of the
Knights Templars, 612.

Tenure, singular one at Shorne, 585.
Thanet, Isle of, its extent, high state

of cultivation, produce, 434, 435.
Tilt Boats, Gravesend, 580.
Tindal, Rev. Nicholas, buried at

Greenwich Hospital, 495.
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Tournaments and Justs, at
Greenwich, 472, 473, 474; at
Dartford, 559.

Tunnel, projected one at Gravesend,
530.

Tower on Shooter’s Hill, built in
commemoration of Sir W. James,
Bart. 539.

Trial by battle, ancient and singular,
546, 547 (note).

U, V

Upnor Castle, now used as a pow-
der magazine, 594; Dutch fleet
sail up to this fortress, 595.

Vanbrugh’s Fields, 519.
Van Ghent sails up the Medway, 595.
Vortigern invites the Saxons into

Britain, 414; marries Rowena,
415.

Vortimer, his battles with the Saxons,
416.

W

Wantsume, an ancient channel so
called, which separated the Isle
of Thanet from the main land,
454.

Wat Tyler, his immunities, 559;
and death, 560.

Weald of Kent, a remarkable tract,
formerly an immense forest, its
aspect, soils, produce, 442, 443.

Welland Marsh, 447.
Westcombe, a manor, 520: residence

of William Lambard, the anti-



quary, and of Polly Peachum,
520, 521.

West Kent, its soils, produce, &c.
441, 442.

Whale, a large one caught near
Gravesend, 582; and three Whirl-
pools, ib.

Wilmington, the residence of the
Rev. S. Denne, a late antiquary,
565.

Wolfe General, buried at Green-
wich, 505.

Woodlands, a seat, 519.
Woolwich, part of the parish in

Essex, 525; manor of, marshes,
royal dock, 526; dock-yard de-
scribed, 527; church and monu-
ments, 528; almshouse, schools,
rope-walk, 529; Warren, or
Royal Arsenal, and singular cir-
cumstances that led to its estab-
lishment, 529-532; described,
foundery, laboratory, 533; Royal
Military Academy, 534; qualifi-
cations of cadets, New Military
Academy on Woolwich Com-
mon, 535; Artillery Barracks,
riding-school, military hospitals,
veterinary hospital, 536, 537; po-
pulation, 538.

Wricklesmarsh, an estate of the late
Sir Gregory Page Turner, at
Blackheath, 515.

<39>

Additions and Corrections to Vol. VII.

. . .

Page 425, line 7, after ‘Queenborough,’ insert, besides two for each of the
Cinque-Port boroughs of Dover, Folkstone, Hythe, and Romney.

Page 487, line 17, for ‘Luxemburgh,’ read Luxborough.

END OF THE SEVENTH VOLUME.

Printed by T. Maiden, Sherbourn Lane.
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THE
BEAUTIES
OF
England and Wales.

KENT.

THE CITY OF ROCHESTER

IS situated on the banks of the Medway, which, from the swift-
ness of its stream in this part of its course, was called by the
Britons, Dwr-brif;/1 an appellation that was afterwards given to
the city itself; though the Romans latinized it to DUROBRIVAE,
or DUROBRIVIS, as it is written in Antoninus. In the decline
of the Roman Empire, this name was contracted to Roibis, as
appears from the Peutingerian Tables. The Saxons again altered
it to Hrof-ceastre, from a chief named Hrof, said, by Bede, to

/1 Lambard’s Perambulation, p. 293. “The learned in astronomie,”
says the same author, “be of the opinion, that if Jupiter, Mercu-
rie, or any other planet, approach within certain degrees of the Sunne,
and be burned (as they term it) under his beames, that then it hath
in man̄er no influence at all, but yealdeth wholy to the Sunne that over-
shineth it: and some men beholding the nearnesse of these two Bishop-
ricks, Canterbury and Rochester, and comparing the bright glory,
pompe and primarie of the one, with the contrarie altogether in the
other, have fancied Rochester so overshadowed and obscured, that they
recken it no See or Bishoprick of itself, but only a place of a meere Suf-
fragan, and Chaplain to Canterbury. But he that shall either advisedly
weigh the first institution of them bothe, or but indifferently consider
the estate of eyther, shall easily finde, that Rochester hathe not only a
lawfull and canonical Cathedral See of itself, but that the same was
also more honestly won and obteined, than ever that of Canterbury was.”
Ibid. p. 266. Edit. 1576.

612

have been the principal citizen; and this latter appellation has, by
lapse of time, been converted into Rochester.

This was one of the Stipendiary Cities of the Romans; and many
Roman remains have, at different times, been dug up here. In
the Castle Gardens, and its vicinity, abundance of coins have been
found; principally of the Emperors Vespasian, Trajan, Adrian,
Antoninus Pius, Marcus Aurelius, Constantius, and Constantine
the Great./1 Even within the walls of the great tower, or keep,
of the Castle itself, Roman coins of Vespasian, Trajan, and of
the Lower Empire, have been met with./2 In the present ruined
walls of the Cathedral precinct, Roman bricks are worked up; and
it is probable that the whole city stands on the original Roman
site. Various Roman antiquities were also found, about seventy
years ago, in levelling a part of a large artificial mount, called
Bully Hill, which is situated at a small distance southward from
the Castle./3 These consisted of vessels of glazed earthenware, as
urns, jugs, Paterae, &c. The largest urn was of a lead color, in
height thirteen inches; and in circumference, two feet, seven in-
ches, in the widest part: it contained ashes, and human bones.
The Paterae were of fine red earth, and of different sizes and
shapes./4

The Roman History of Rochester is completely barren; nor did
it arrive at any celebrity till the conversion of Ethelbert, the
Saxon King of Kent, to the Christian faith, in 597, soon after
which, that Prince caused the Church of St. Andrew to be erected,
and raised the City into a Bishop’s See. It was still, however,



/1 Thorpe’s Custumale Roffense, p. 147. “There have likewise been
found at different times in the gardens near the Castle, and in St. Mar-
garet’s, a fibula vestiaria, in silver, and many other valuable relics.”
Ibid.

/2 Gough’s Camden, p. 233.
/3 Hasted’s Kent, Vol. I. Fo. p. 52, (note.)
/4 Many of these vessels were given to Dr. Thorpe, father of J.

Thorpe, Esq. and are particularly described by the latter in his Custu-
male Roff. p. 148.
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LIST
OF THE
Principal Books, Maps, and Views, that have been
published in Illustration of the Topography and
Antiquities of the County of Kent.

KENT.

The earliest printed Description of this County, was “A Perambu-
lation of Kent; containing the Description, Hystorie, and Customes
of that Shyre: collected and written, for the most Part, in the Yeare
1570, by William Lambard, of Lincolnes Inne, Gent. and nowe in-
creased by the Addition of some Things which the Author himself hath
observed since that Time.” Small 4to. 1576, London. A second
Edition, ‘increased and altered after the Author’s owne last Copy,’
with an Account of the Nobility of the County, was published by Henry
Middleton, in 1596. The Third Edition, ‘corrected and enlarged,’
was published in small 8vo. without Date. To another, printed in 1640,
are attached the Charters, &c. of the Cinque Ports. The last Edition
appeared in 1656, in Duodecimo.

In 1657, was published, by Richard Kilburne, of Hawkherst, Esq.
in an oblong Form, printed in various Columns, “A brief Survey of
the County of Kent; viz. the Names of the Parishes in the same,” how
situated, what Liberties they claim, the Market and Fair Days, Ancient
Names of Parish Churches, &c. The same Author, in 1639, published
“A Topographic or Survey of the County of Kent, with some Chrono-
logical, Historicall, and other Matters touching the same,” &c. with
his Portrait: small 4to. London.

“Villare Cantianum; or, Kent Surveyed and Illustrated: being an
exact Description of all the Parishes, Boroughs, Villages, and other re-
spective Manors in the County of Kent; and the original and interme-
dial Possessors of them, down to the Author’s Time; drawn out of
Charters, Escheat Rolls, Fines, and other Public Evidences, but espe-
cially out of Gentlemen’s Private Deeds and Muniments: by Thomas
Philipott, Esq. To which is added, An Historical Catalogue of the
High Sheriffs of Kent, collected by John Philipott, Esq. Father to the
Author.” The first Edition of this Work, of which the younger Philipott
assumed the Credit of being the Author, though it is generally supposed
that it was almost entirely written by his Father, was printed at London,
in 1659 and 1664, Folio: the Third Edition was printed in 1776, at
Lynn, and is also in Folio.

“A Treatise of the Roman Ports and Forts in Kent,” by William
Somner; with his Life, &c. by Bishop Kennet: 12mo. 1693, Oxford.

“The History of Kent, in Five Parts; containing an exact Topogra-
phy or Description of the County; the Civil History of Kent; the
Ecclesiastical History of Kent; the History of the Royal Navy of
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England; and the Natural History of Kent:” by John Harris, D. D.
and F. R. S. Folio, 1719, London. Only the First Volume of this
Work was published: it contains a Portrait of Dr. Harris, by Vertue;
and many Bird’s-Eye Views of Mansions and Parks, &c. chiefly from
Drawings by T. Badeslade; engraved by T. Kip, and others. The
Second Volume was to have contained the History of Rochester Cathe-
dral, and of the other Religious Foundations in Kent; together with
the Lives of eminent Natives; and a History of the Royal Navy. The
Materials were nearly ready for Publication, when Dr. Harris died,
which was in September, 1719: where his Papers are, is not publicly
known.



“A New Topographical, Historical and Commercial Survey of the
Cities, Towns and Villages of the County of Kent, arranged in Alpha-
betical Order,” &c. by Charles Seymour; 12mo. 1776, Canterbury.

Between the Years 1778 and 179*, was published, in Four Volumes,
Folio, “The History and Topographical Survey of the County of Kent;
containing the ancient and present State of it, both Civil and Eccle-
siastical: collected from public Records, and other the best Authorities,
both Manuscript and Printed, and illustrated with Maps, and Views of
Antiquities, Seats of Nobility and Gentry,” &c. by Edward Hasted,
of Canterbury, Esq. F. R. S. and A. S. Canterbury. This Work,
which is the most voluminous yet extant on this County, was re-pub-
lished in Twelve Volumes, 8vo. “Improved, corrected, and continued
to the present Time,” by the Author, 1797-1801. Improved, however,
and extensive, and recently published, as this Work is, there is yet
sufficient Room for a new History of Kent, and numerous are the Stores
that may still be opened in an industrious Research.

“Specimens and Parts; containing a History of the County of Kent,
and a Dissertation on the Laws, from the Reign of Edward the Con-
fessor to Edward the First; of a Topographical, Commercial, Civil and
Nautical History of South Britain; with its gradual and comparative
Progress in Trade, Arts, Polity, Population, and Shipping, from au-
thentic Documents;” by Samuel Henshall, M. A. London, 1798, 4to.

“The Kentish Traveller’s Companion, in a Descriptive View of the
Towns, Villages, remarkable Buildings, and Antiquities, situated in or
near the Road from London to Margate, and from Dover to Canter-
bury;” with a Map. Second Edition, considerably enlarged: 8vo.
1799, Rochester.

The celebrated Custom of Gavelkind is discussed at length, in
the “Treatise of Gavelkind, both Name and Thing; shewing the true
Etymology and Derivation of the one; the Nature, Antiquity and
Original of the other: with sundry emergent Observations, both pleasant
and profitable to be known to Kentishmen, and others; especially such
as are studious of the common Law of this Kingdom: by a Well-wisher
to both, William Somner.” 4to. 1660, London. A Second Edition
was published in 1726, “newly revised, and much enlarged:” to this
was annexed the Life of Somner, by Bishop Kennet.

In 1663 appeared the “History of Gavelkind, with the Etymology
thereof; containing also an Assertion, that our English Laws are, for
the most Part, those that were used by the antient Brytains, notwith-
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standing the several Conquests of the Romans, Saxons, Danes, and
Normans: with some Observations and Remarks upon many especial
Occurrences of British and English History. To which is added, a
Short History of William the Conqueror, written in Latin, by an ano-
nymous Author, in the Time of Henry the First;” by Silas Taylor.
4to. London. In the principal Parts of the Inquiry, this Author agrees
with Somner, but makes the Origin of the Custom of more remote
Antiquity. Somner, says Mr. Gough, “answered his Objections in
marginal Notes, on a Copy of his Book, which, with a correct Copy of
his own, is now in Canterbury Library.”

The most recent Work on this Head is “The Common Law of Kent,
or the Customs of Gavelkind; with an Appendix, concerning Borough
English:” by Thomas Robinson, Esq. of Lincoln’s Inn. Second Edition,
Svo. 1788, London.

Connected with the Agriculture of this County, has appeared
“The Enrichment of the Weald of Kent: or, a Direction to the Hus-
bandman, for the true ordering, manuring and enriching of all the
Grounds within the Wealds of Kent and Sussex,” &c. enlarged by



Gervase Markham. 4to. 1649, London.

“A General View of the Agriculture of Kent,” was drawn up for
the Board of Agriculture, in 1798, by W. Boys.

In Marshall’s “Rural Economy of the Southern Counties,” are some
Particulars of the Agriculture of this County, Hop-planting, &c.

The City of Canterbury has been illustrated by various indepen-
dent Publications, as well as those contained in the General Histories.
Gervase, a Monk of Canterbury in the Thirteenth Century, wrote an
“Account of the Burning and Re-building of the Cathedral in 1174;”
the Disputes between the Monks and Archbishop Baldwin;” and the
“Lives of the Archbishops from Austin to Hubert;” all which were
published in the Decem Scriptores, 1652. Thomas Sprott, another
Monk of this City, in 1270, wrote the “History of the Monastery of
St. Augustine,” an Abridgement from which was made by a third
Monk, named William Thorne, whose “Chronica de Rebus gestis ab-
batum Cantuariensium,” from the coming of Austin to the year 1375,
by Twisden, is among the Decem Scriptores.

In 1640 was published the learned Somner’s “Antiquities of Can-
terbury; or, a Survey of that ancient Citie, with the Suburbs and Ca-
thedrall; containing principally Matters of Antiquity in them all:
collected chiefly from old Manuscripts, Leiger Books, and other like
Records, for the most Part, never as yet printed; with an Appendix here
annexed, wherein, for better Satisfaction to the learned, the Manuscripts
and Records of chiefest Consequence, are faithfully exhibited.” 4to. Lond.
This was re-published, with very considerable Additions from Somner’s
own Papers, by Battely, who, according to Bishop Nicholson, entirely com-
piled the Second Part, in 1703, under the Title of “The Antiquities qf
Canterbury;” in Two Parts: the First Part, the Antiquities of Canter-
bury; or, a Survey of that ancient City, with the Suburbs, and Cathedral,
&c. sought out and published by the Industry and Good-will of William
Somner: the Second Edition, revised and enlarged by Nicolas Battely,
M. A. Also Mr. Somner’s Discourse, called, Chartham News, or a
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Relation of some strange Bones found at Chartham, in Kent:/* to which
are added, some Observations concerning the Roman Antiquities of
Canterbury: and a Preface, giving an Account of the Works and Re-
mains of the learned Antiquary, Mr. William Somner, by N. B. The
Second Part, Cantuaria Sacra, or the Antiquities: I. of the Cathe-
dral, and Metropolitical Church: II. of the Archbishoprick: III. of the
late Priory of Christ Church, and of the present Collegiate Church,
founded by King Henry VIII. with a Catalogue of all the Deans and
Canons thereof: IV. of the Archdeaconry of Canterbury: V. of the
Monastery of St. Augustine; of the Parish Churches, Hospitals, and
other Religious Places, that are, or have been, in or near the City:
enquired into by Nicolas Battelv, Vicar of Beaksborn. Illustrated and
adorned with several useful and fair Sculptures.” Folio, London.
The Views and Plans, and some of the Monuments, are by Hollar and
Kip.

“The History and Antiquities of the Cathedral Church of Canter-
bury, and the once adjoining Monastery; containing an Account of
its first Establishment, Building, Re-edifications, Repairs, Endow-
ments, Benefactions, Chapelry, Altars, Shrines, Reliques, Chauntries,
Obits, Ornaments, Books, Jewels, Plate, Vestments, before the Dis-
solution of the Monastery, and the Manner of its Dissolution: a Survey
of the present Church and Cloisters, Monuments and Inscriptions, and
other Things remarkable; which, with the several Prospects of the
Church, are engraven by the best Hands: the Lives of the Archbishops,
Priors, &c. of Christ Church; with an Account of learned Men there
flourishing in their several Times: and an Appendix of ancient Char-



ters and Writings relating to the Church and Monastery; a Catalogue
of the Church-wealth in Prior Estrey’s Time; an ancient Saxon Obi-
tuary, and a large one continued thence downward:” by the Rev.
John Dart, of Greenwich. Folio, 1726. The Plates to this Work are
numerous, and, in general, interesting, and well engraved: they were
afterwards purchased by Mr. Hildyard, of York, who had also most of
those which belonged to Drake’s History of York Cathedral, and who
published them, to the Number of 117, in an abridged History of both
Cathedrals, in the year 1735.

“An Historical Description of the Cathedral and Metropolitical
Church of Christ, Canterbury; containing an Account of its Antiquities,
and of its Accidents and Improvements, since the first Establishment.”
8vo. 1772, Canterbury.

Another Account of Canterbury Church and City, was published in
1774, intituled, “A Walk in and about the City of Canterbury, with
many Observations not to be found in any Description hitherto pub-
lished:” with Plates: by William Gosling, M. A. a Native of this
Place, and Minor Canon of the Cathedral. This Work has gone through
several Editions, the last of which was published, with Amendments,
in 1804. It is a very curious Fact, that the Author, who died in
March, 1777, was not able to leave his Room, through Age and Infir-
mities, during the whole Time that he was employed on this Work;

/* This had been published as a separate Pamphlet in 4to. 1669, Lond. and
also in the Philosophical Transactions, No. 272: together with the “Dissertation
on the Isthmus between England and France:” by the same Author.
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nor, indeed, for full Fifteen Years preceding, and subsequent to, that
Period: his Manuscripts, however, were corrected by his Friends.

“An Historical Description of the Metropolitical Church of Christ,
Canterbury; containing an Account of its Antiquities, and of its Acci-
dents and Improvements, since the first Establishment: with an English
Translation of the Epitaphs, and a South Prospect of the Cathedral.
The Second Edition, greatly enlarged, with a Preface, containing Ob-
tervations on the Gothic Architecture; and an Historical Account of
the Archbishops of Canterbury, from Augustine to the present Time.”
8vo. 1783, Canterbury. This was compiled by the late Mr. John Burnby,
an Attorney of Canterbury; yet, by a Trick of the Booksellers, in con-
necting with it “An Elegy, written by the Rev. John Duncombe, M. A.”
it is commonly reputed to be the Work of that Gentleman.

“A Translation of the several Charters, &c. granted by Edward IV.
Henry VII. James I. and Charles II. to the Citizens of Canterbury;
also a List of the Bailiffs and Mayors from the Year 780 to the present
Period: with a Description of the Boundaries of the City, and many
curious Particulars never before published:” by a Citizen; (the late
Alderman Bunce.) 8vo. 1791, Canterbury.

The most recent Account of this City, is “The Canterbury Guide;
or, Traveller’s Pocket Companion:” by a late Inhabitant. Twelves;
Canterbury, Second Edition, 1805. This is principally a Compilation
by Hasted, from his larger History.

In 1644 was published, by Richard Culmer, Minister of God’s Word
in Canterbury, commonly called Blue Dick, “Cathedrall News from
Canterbury:” 4to. London. This contains Particulars of the Havoc
made in the Cathedral by the Iconoclasts, &c. of whom the Author
was one of the most active.

“The Pope’s Warehouse, or the Merchandise of the Whore of Rome,”
8vo. published by Titus Oates, in 1676, contains a Catalogue of the
“Reliques formerly in the Cathedral of Canterbury,” from a MS. Book
called, “Memorale multorum Henrici Prioris.”



In “Cat. MSS. Angliae, Tom. II. p. 223 and 389,” is a Catalogue
of the Manuscripts belonging to Canterbury Cathedral, including all
Mr. Somner’s Collections.

In 1743 was published, in 8vo. “Catalogus Librorum Bibliothecae
Ecclesiae Christi Cantuariensis.” Canterbury.

“A True Relation, or Accompt of the whole Proceedure between the
Corporation at Canterbury and Mr. John Somner, concerning the
New Market-House there.” 4to. 1666, London.

“Canterbury Wells;” a Discourse, by Way of Dialogue, upon the
Mineral Waters lately discovered in that City.” 8vo. 1702, London.

“A Repertory of the Endowments of Vicarages in the Diocese of
Canterbury;” by And. Coltee Ducarell, LL. D. F. R. S. and F. S. A.
4to. 1763, London.
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“The Survey and Demand for Dilapidations in the Archiepiscopal
See of Canterbury justified, against the Cavils and Misrepresentations
contained in some Letters lately published by Mr. Archdeacon Tennison.”
4to. 1717, London. This Publication was preceded by “True Copies
of some Letters, occasioned by the Demand for Dilapidations in the
Archiepiscopal See of Canterbury; Part I.” 4to. 1716.

“The most venerable Monument of Antiquity,” observes Mr. Gough,
“that belongs to the Cathedral Church of Rochester, is the ‘Textus
Roffensis,” written by Ernulf, who was Bishop Ten Years, and died
A. D. 1124. It was published by Hearne, at Oxford, in 1720, 8vo.
and to it were added, ‘Professionum Antiquorum Angliae Episcopo-
rum formulae de Canonica obedientia Archiepiscopis Cantuariensibus
praestanda;” and Leonard’s Hutten’s ‘Dissertation of the Antiquities
of Oxford.” Besides the Affairs of this Cathedral, it furnishes us with
the Laws of several Saxon Kings, together with the Saxon Forms of
Oaths, &c. An Extract of it was published by Wharton, Angl. Sac.
Vol. I. p. 329. entitled ‘Ernulphi Episcopi Roffensis collectanea de
Rebus Ecclesiae Roffensis, a prima sedis Fundatione ad sua Tempora,
ex Textu Roffensi quem composuit Ernulphus.’ – Bishop Nicholson and
Mr. Pegge say, this is the ‘Chronicon claustri Roffensis,’ of the Mo-
nasticon. During the Civil Wars, this Book was lodged in the Hands
of Sir Roger Twisden, where Dugdale, in his ‘Origines Juridiciales,’
frequently refers to it. – Dr. Leonard stole it, and kept it Two Years,
till Dean Balcanqual, and the Chapter, filed a Bill in Chancery against
him in 1633: at its Return to Rochester, it fell into the Water, but
was recovered without much Hurt, except being a little tarnished by
the Salt Water. Dr. Gale printed from it, in his ‘XV. Scriptores,’ p.
792, Genealogies of our Kings: re-printed by Bertram, in his ‘Hist.
Brit. Scriptores tres;’ and in Part by Hearne, who commends Ernulf
for making himself Master of the Saxon Language through a Norman. –
The ‘Textus Roffensis’ itself is a small Quarto, written on Vellum, in
a very elegant Hand: the Thirteen later Archbishops of Canterbury,
and the Fifteen later Bishops of Rochester, are added by later Hands.”/*

“The History and Antiquities of the Cathedral Church of Rochester;
containing the Local Statutes of that Church, the Inscriptions upon the
Monuments, Tombs, and Grave-Stones; an Account of the Bishops,
Priors, Deans, and Archdeacons: an Appendix of Monumental Inscrip-
tions in the Cathedral Church of Canterbury, supplementary to Mr.
Somner’s and Mr. Battely’s Accounts of that Church; and some origi-
nal Papers, relating to the Church and Diocese.” 8vo. 1717. This
was edited by Dr. Rawlinson: it was re-published in 1723, London.

“Registrum Roffense; or, a Collection of Ancient Records, Char-
ters, and Instruments of divers Kinds, necessary for illustrating the
Ecclesiastical History and Antiquities of the Diocese and Cathedral



Church of Rochester; transcribed from the Originals, by John Thorpe,
late of Rochester, M. D. F. R. S. and published by his Son, John
Thorpe, Esq. A. M. F. S. A. Together with the Monumental In-
scriptions in the several Churches and Chapels within the Diocese.”
Prefixed is a Portrait of the Author. Folio, 1769, London. The first
145 Pages contain Muniments and Records relating to the See in

/* British Topography, Vol. I. p. 459, 462.

<7>

general; the next 555 Pages include those of the several Churches, Re-
ligious Houses, and other Foundations in the Diocese and City; and the
remaining 356 contain the Sepulchral Inscriptions in the different
Churches within the Diocese.

“The History and Antiquities of Rochester, and its Environs; to
which is added, a Description of the Towns, Villages, Gentlemen’s
Seats, and Ancient Buildings, situated on or near the Road from Lon-
don to Margate, Deal, and Dover;” with Plates, 8vo. 1772, Rochester.

“Custumale Roffense, from the original Manuscript in the Archives
of the Dean and Chapter of Rochester; to which are added, Memo-
rials of that Cathedral Church, and some Account of the Remains of
Churches, Chapels, Chantries, etc. whose Instruments of Foundation
and Endowment, are, for the most Part, contained in the Registrum
Roffense; with divers curious Pieces of Ecclesiastical Antiquity, hitherto
unnoticed in the said Diocese: the Whole intended as a Supplement
to that Work. Illustrated with Copper-Plates, from accurate Draw-
ings, taken principally under the Editor’s Inspection:” by John Thorpe,
Esq. M. A. F. S. A. whose Portrait is prefixed: Folio, 1788, London.

Faversham has been illustrated by several Publications, among the
earliest of which was, “Monasticon Favershamiense in Agro Cantiano;
or, a Surveigh of the Monastery of Faversham, wherein its Barony and
Right to sit in Parliament is discovered: together with its Ancient and
Modern State described; as also its Founders and Benefactors remem-
bered:” by Thomas Southouse, of Greys-Inne, Esq. To which is
added, “An Appendix of the Descent of King Stephen,” by Thomas
Philipott, Esq. Small 8vo. 1671; printed at the Sign of the Three
Bibles upon London Bridge. A Second Edition of this Work has been
published.

“The History of the Tozvn and Port of Faversham, in the County
of Kent;” by Edward Jacob, Esq. F. S. A. with Plates. 8vo. 1774,
London. In the Appendix was inserted an Account of the Murder of
an Inhabitant, named Ardern, on which was founded a Dramatic Piece,
published in Quarto, in 1592, and intituled, “The lamentable and
true Tragedie of Mr. Ardern, of Feversham, in Kent, who was most
wickedlye murdered by the Means of his most disloyall and wanton
Wyfe, who, for the Love she bore to one Mosbie, hired two desperate
Ruffins, Black-Will, and Shag-bag, to kill him. Wherein is shewed
the great Malice and Discimulation of a wicked Woman, the unsatiable
Desire of filthee Lust, and the shamefull End of all Murderers.” Lond.
This was re-printed in 1771, with a Preface.

“The History and Antiquities of the Abbey and Church of Favresham,
in Kent; of the adjoining Priory of Davington, and Maison Dieu of
Ospringe; and Parish of Boctun subtus le Bleyne: to which is added,
a Collection of Papers relating to the Abbey, &c. and of the Funeral
Monuments, and other ancient Inscriptions, in the several Churches of
Favresham, Shelwick, Bocton under le Bleyne, Ospringe, Graveney,
and Throwley; with the charitable Benefactions thereto given:” by the
Rev. John Lewis, Vicar of Mynstre. 4to. 1727.

The same Author also published “The History and Antiquity,
Ecclesiastical and Civil, of the Isle of Tenet, in Kent;” in 1723, 4to.
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A Second Edition, greatly enlarged, appeared in 1736, 4to. and from
this was compiled “A Description of the Isle of Thanet, and particu-
larly of the Town of Margate; with an Account of the Accommoda-
tions, Manner of Bathing in the Sea,” &c. London, 12mo. 1763.
A “Margate Guide” was first published in 1770; in a Letter to a
Friend. The most recent and best is intituled the “New Margate,
Ramsgate, and Broadstairs Guide; or, an Historical Epitome of the
ancient and present State of the Isle of Thanet,” &c. Margate, 12mo.
Third Edition, 1805. A similar, though more brief, Publication, is
intituled, “A short Description of the Isle of Thanet; being chiefly in-
tended as a Directory for the Company resorting to Ramsgate, Mar-
gate, and Broadstairs:” by Robert Edward Hunter, Surgeon, Rams-
gate. 12mo. 1800.

“A Tour through the Isle of Thanet, and some other Parts of East
Kent, including a particular Description of the Churches in that exten-
sive District; and Copies of the Monumental Inscriptions,” &c. with
Plates. This was written and collected by J. Cozens, now Master of
the School at Chilham, in this County. 4to. 1793, London.

“Several Petitions to the Committee for the Admiralty and Cinque
Ports, concerning the Sea Works of Margate, in the Isle of Thanet,
and the Committee’s Order:” 4to. 647.

“The Bloody Husband, and Cruell Neighbour: or, a true Historie
of Two Murtliers lately committed in Laurence Parish, in the Isle of
Thanet, in Kent, near Sandwich: one Murther by the Hands of Adam
Sprackling, Esqire, who, upon the 12th. Day of December last, being
Sabbath-Day, in the Morning, cut, mangled, and murthered his own
Wife; for which he was hanged at Sandwich, upon Wednesday, the
27th. Day of April last, 1653. The other, the Murther of Richard
Langley, of the same Parish, whose Blood also (as is here shewed) cryed
out against the said Mr. Sprackling. Written by one that lives near
the Place where the said Murthers were committed, and was present
at Mr. Sprackling’s Tryall; and published for the Warning and Good of
all, May 13, 1653. Imprimatur Edm. Calamy. 4to. London, printed
by Tho. Warren, 1653, pp. 14.” See Lewis’s Tenet, p. 184.

“Memoirs of the Family of Tufton, Earls of Thanet, deduced from
various Sources of authentic Information;” with several Plates: com-
piled and printed by R. Pocock. 8vo. 1800, Gravesend.

“Antiquitates Rutupinae; Auctore Joanne Battely, S. T. P. Archi-
diacono Cantuariensi:” with Maps, and Plates of Antiquities. 4to.
Second Edition, 1745, Oxford. An abridged Translation of the for-
mer Part appeared in !774, under the Title of “The Antiquities of
Richborough und Reculver,” &c. Small 8vo. London.

Various Pamphlets have at different Times been published concerning
the Harbour at Ramsgate: the most interesting of these is, “An His-
torical Report on Ramsgate Harbour; written by Order of, and ad-
dressed to, the Trustees; by (the late) John Smeaton, Civil Engineer,
F. R. S. and Engineer to Ramsgate Harbour.” 8vo. 1791, London.

“Collections for an History of Sandwich, in Kent, with Notices of
the other Cinque Ports and Members, and of Richborough;” by
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William Boys, Esq. F. A. S. with numerous Plates. Large 4to. 1792,
(printed MDCCCXCII.) Canterbury.

“Report, and Estimate subjoined, relating to the Harbour proposed
to be made from Sandwich into the Downs, near Sandown Castle.”
Anno 1744; Folio, 12 Pages.

“The History of Dover Castle, illustrated with Ten Views, and a



Plan of the Castle;” by the Rev. William Darell, Chaplain to Queen
Elizabeth. 4to. 1786, London. This was translated by Mr. Alexander
Campbell, from a Transcript of the Original Latin, now preserved in
the College of Arms. The Views were drawn by the late Francis
Grose, Esq.

“Prince Charles, his Message sent from his Court at St. Germain’s,
March 27, 1648, to Mr. William Swan, Lieutenant to the Governor
of Dover Castle, concerning the Seizing and Maintaining of Dover
Castle, and all the Forts and Bulwarks thereunto belonging, for the
King’s Majesty,” &c. 4to. 1648.

“The Lord General’s Letter in Answer to the Message of the
Kentishmen, May 31, 1648. The Lord General’s Proclamation against
plundering, or taking any Houses or Goods from any of the Inhabitants
of Kent, and for restoring what hath been taken. Also a perfect Rela-
tion of relieving Dover Castle, driving the Kentishmen to Rochester,
the taking of the Bridge near Northfleet, in Kent, the Number killed,
and taken Prisoners; with the Names of the chief Actors in the Kentish
Engagement.” 4to. 1648.

“Articles of Agreement between the Lord General and the Kentish-
men, at the Delivering up of the City of Canterbury, June 9, 1648.” 4to.

“A Discourse of Sea-Ports, principally of the Port and Haven of
Dover; written by Sir W. Rawleigh, and addressed to Queen Eliza-
beth, with useful Remarks, &c. on that Subject; by Command of his
late Majesty King Charles the Second: by Sir Henry Shears.” 4to.
1700, London.

“The Grauntes, Ordinaunces and Lawes of Romney Marsh; 12mo.
1543.

“The Charter of Romney Marsh, Latin and English;” 12mo. 1579.

“The Charter of Romney Marsh, or the Laws and Customs of
Romney Marsh; framed and contrived by the venerable Justice Henry
de Bathe.” 8vo. 1636.

“The Improvement of the Marsh, and the Country about it; being
an Account of some Proposals for furnishing the Marsh with fresh
Water, &c. to which is subjoined, a further Proposal for Mending the
Sea-Walls about Dimchurch:” by John Young. 4to.

“Charters of the Cinque Ports, two ancient Towns, and their Mem-
bers; translated into English; with Annotations Historical and Critical
thereupon; wherein divers old Words are explained, and some of their
ancient Customs and Privileges observed:” by Samuel Jeake, Sen. of
Rye. Folio, 1728, London.

<10>

“Magna et Antiqua Charta quinque Portuum Domini Regis et
Membrorum eorundem.” 8vo. 1675, Cant.

“The Great and Ancient Charter of the Cinque Ports:” 12mo.
1682, London.

“A Collection of the Statutes relating to the Cinque Ports:” small
8vo. 1726, London.

“Sundrye Strange and Inhumaine Murthers lately committed. The
first, of a Father that hired a Man to kill Three of his Children, neere
to Ashford, in Kent: the second, of Master Page, of Plymouth, Mur-
thered by the Consent of his owne Wife; with the Strange Discoverie
of Sundrie other Murthers.” 4to. 1591, London.

“Strange and Wonderful News; being a true Account of the great
Harms done by the Violence of the Thunder at Ashurst, in Kent,
Bleachinley, in Surrey, and at Kennington, in the same County,” &c.



4to. 1674.

“The Monuments and Painted Glass in upwards of One Hundred
Churches, chiefly in the Eastern Part of Kent; with an Appendix,
containing Three Churches in other Counties;” and various detached
Epitaphs: by Philip Parsons, A. M. Minister of Wye, near Farersham.
4to. 1704, Canterbury.

“The History and Antiquities of Maidstone, from the MS. Collec-
tions of William Newton, Minister of Wingham. 8vo. 1741, London.
An Appendix to this was promised, but never appeared.

“A Prodigious and Tragicall History of the Arraignment, Tryall,
Confession, and Condemnation, of Six Witches at Maidstone, in Kent,
at the Assizes there held in July, Fryday 30, this present Year, 1652,
before the Right Hon. Peter Warburton, one of the Justices of the
Common Pleas. Collected from the Observations of E. G. Gent. (a
learned Person, present at their Conviction and Condemnation,) and
digested by H. F. Gent. To which is added, a true Relation of one
Mrs. Atkins, a Mercer’s Wife in Warwick, who was strangely carried
away from her House in July last, and hath not been heard of since.”
4to. 1652, London.

“The Queen’s Wells; that is, a Treatise of the Nature and Virtues
of Tunbridge Water; together with an Enumeration of the chiefest
Diseases which it is good for, and against which it may be used, and
the Manner and Order of taking it.” 12mo. London.

“Philosophical and Medicinal Essay of the Waters of Tunbridge,
written to a Person of Honour;” by Dr. Patrick Madan, 4to. 1687,
London.

“Tunbridge Wells; or, a Directory for the Drinking of those Waters;
shewing, I. Their Nature and Virtue: II. The Diseases in which they
are most beneficial: III. The Time, Manner and Order of Drinking
them: IV. The Preparation of the Body required: V. The Diet pro-
per to be used by all Mineral Water Drinkers:” by Lewis Rouse,
M. D. 8vo. 1725, London. To this is annexed a Tract on Tunbridge
and other Mineral Waters, by the learned Mr. Boyle; and “A Physico-
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Mechanical Dissertation upon Water in general, proving it to be the
best Specifick for the Cure of all Diseases:” translated from the Latin.

“A Treatise of the Use and Abuse of Mineral Waters; also Rules
necessary to be observed by Invalids who visit the Chalybeate Springs
of the Old and New Tunbridge Wells,” &c. by Hugh Smith, M. D.

“The History of Tunbridge Wells,” by Thomas Benge Burr. 8vo.
1766, London.

“A General History of Tunbridge Wells, and its Environs, Histo-
rical and Descriptive;” by the Rev. Mr. Oneley, 8vo. 1770.

Several Tracts or ‘Guides’ to Tunbridge, and its Neighbourhood,
have also appeared at different times.

“A true and exact Relation of the whole Proceedings of the Parlia-
ment’s Forces that went out under the Command of Col. Brown, with
Col. Manwaring’s Forces into Kent, to appease the Tumults raised
there by the Malignants, and ill-affected to the Parliament; wherein is
a true Relation of the Taking of the Town of Tunbridge, which here-
tofore was never conquered; and by what Means it was taken, and the
Losse that was on both Sides: with many other observable Passages re-
lated by one that was not only an Eye-Witness, but in the whole Ser-
vice.” 4to. 1643, London.

Among the Poems that have been written on Tunbridge, are these:
“Tunbridgialia; or, the Pleasures of Tunbridge:” by Peter Causton.



1709. Tunbridgiale; being a Description of Tunbridge, in a Letter
to a Friend in London.” 1726. And “Description of Tunbridge.”
1727.

“This Winter’s Wonder; or, a true Relation of a calamitous Acci-
dent at Bennenden, in Kent; how the Church and several Houses
were destroyed by Thunder and Lightning, on the 29th. of December
last, being Sabbath Day,” &c. 4to. 1672-3.

“An Abstract of the Substance of the Rules and Ordinances of the
New Colledge of Cobham, in the Co. of Kent, of the Foundation of the
Right Hon. the late Lord William, Baron Cobham; re-printed 1687,
by the Order, and at the Expence, of Sir Joseph Williamson, of Cob-
ham Hall, in the said County, Kent,” &c. 4to. This was again re-
printed in 1733, and afterwards in Thorpe’s Registrum Roffense, p. 245.

“The History of the Incorporated Town and Parishes of Gravesend
and Milton, in the County of Kent; selected with Accuracy from To-
pographical Writers, and enriched from Manuscripts hitherto unnoticed:”
by R. Pocock, a Bookseller of Gravesend. Small 4to. Gravesend, 1797.

“Newes from Gravesend and Greenwich; being an exact and most
faithful! Relation of Two Miraculous and Monstrous Fishes, first disco-
vered in Rainham Creek, and afterwards pursued by Fishermen in the
Thames, and the biggest killed and boiled for Oil at Gravesend; the
other at Greenwich, which was One-and-Twenty Feet in Length, and
Six Feet over; and likewise a less than either, which made its Escape
to the Sea again.” 4to.

“A Mirrour of Mercy and Judgement; or, an exact true Narrative
of the Life and Death of Freeman Sonds, Esq. a Youth of Nineteen,
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Sonne to Sir George Sonds, of Lees Court,” &c. by R. Boreman, B. D.
Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge.

“Strange News from Arpington, near Bexly, in Kent; being a
true Narrative of a young Maid who was possest with several Devils,
or Evil Spirits, one of which, by the Prayers of a pious and religious
Doctor, who came to visit her, was fetcht out of her Body, and ap-
peared in the Room, in the Likeness of a large Snake, and twisted it-
self about the Doctor’s Neck, whilst he was at his Devotion. With an
Account also of other Devils, which yet remain in her, and reveal
strange Things; the like never heard of before, of which the Contents
within will give you a particular Account. This Narrative is attested
by several Persons of Credit; but amongst many others, by one Mrs.
Hopper, a Person of Worth, and good Reputation, whom you may
speak with at the Sign of the Bell and Draggon, in White’s-Ally, in
Chancery-Lane, who was there present whilst this Accident happened.”
4to. 1079, London, 6 Pages.

“An Historical Account of the Royal Hospital for Seamen at
Greenwich;” by the Rev. John Cooke, A. M. and John Moule, A.M.
Chaplains to the Hospital. 4to. with Plates, 1789, London.

“Remarks on the Founding and Carrying on the Buildings of the
Royal Hospital at Greenwich, by N. Hawksmoor, Deputy Surveyor;
for the Perusal of Parliament.” 4to. 1728.

“The Strange Witch at Greenwich, Ghost, Spirit, or Hobgoblin,
haunting a Wench, late Servant to a Miser, suspected of a Murtherer
of his late Wife,” &c. 4to. 1650.

“A true Relation of the horrid Ghost of a Woman, which hath fre-
quently been seen in various Habits, in the House of Nich. Broaday,
at the Three Mariners in Depthford, upon the 3d. 4th. and 6th. of this
Instant, April, 1673; by Peter Griffiths, Robert Predam, John Stol-
liard, belonging to his Majesty’s Ship called the Monck, and several



others of the Family.” 4to. 1673, London.

The Act of the Eighth of Eliz. 1566, Cap. 13, under which the
Master, Wardens and Assistants of the Trinity-House “of Deptford
Strond,” (now removed to Tower Hill,) were first empowered to erect
Sea-Marks, Beacons, &c. was published in 1685, and intituled, “The
Charter of the Trinity-House of Deptford Strond;” with the Bye-Laws.
12mo. London.

“The Grants, Charters, and Letters Patent, of the Corporation of
the Trinity-House, relative to shewing their Authority to erect and
maintain Light-Houses and Sea-Marks; together with their ancient
Duty of Buoyage and Beaconage, for and towards the Relief of old
decayed Seamen, their Widows and Orphans: to which is added, an
Account of the several Light-Houses, Buoys, and Beacons, &c. on the
Coast; with a curious Set of Tables for computing the respective Duties
on Ships inward and outward,” &c. 1768.

“Some Conjectures relative to a very antient Piece of Money lately
found at Eltham, in Kent,” &c. by Charles Clarke, late of Baliol Col-
lege. 4to. 1751. This was replied to by the Rev. G. North, in
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“Remarks on some Conjectures, shewing the Improbability of the
Notion therein advanced,” &c. 4to. 1752.

“A Treatise of Lewisham Wells, in Kent,” shewing the Time and
Manner of their Discovery, the Mineral with which they are impreg-
nated,” &c. by John Peters, Physician. 12mo. 1681, London.

“Some Experiments on the Chalybeat Water, lately discovered, near
the Palace of the Lord Bishop of Rochester, at Bromley, in Kent,” &c.
by Thomas Reynolds, Surgeon, 8vo. 1756, London.

“State of Bromley College;” by Archdeacon Denne. Folio, 1735.

In the Bibliotheca Topographica are the following Tracts
relating to this County.

“The History and Antiquities of the Two Parishes of Reculver and
Herne;” by John Duncombe, M. A. Vicar of Herne: with many
Plates.

“The History and Antiquities of Tunstall, in Kent;” by the late
Edward Rowe Mores, F. A. S. with Memoirs of the Author, who was
born at Tunstall, and several Plates.

“Antiquities in Kent, hitherto undescribed;” illustrated by John
Thorpe, of Bexley, Esq. M. A. F. S. A. Parts I. and II. The First
Part contains Accounts of Aylesford, Cobham College, Denton, Lid-
sing, Penshurst, Chalke, Speldherst, Woldham, Gillingham, the
Grange, Twidall, and Halling; with Six Plates: the Second Part, of
Cookstone, Canterbury, Chatham, Cranbrooke, Cliffe, Frindsbury,
and Wrotham: together with a Letter from Dr. Plott, on Miscella-
neous Antiquities, and Seven Plates.

“The History and Antiquities of St. Radigund’s, or Bradsole Ab-
bey, near Dover; a Collection of Tradesmens’ Tokens, issued in the
Isle of Thanet, and such of the Cinque Ports as are within Kent; a
Description of the Moat, near Canterbury; Sketch of Hawkhurst
Church; Original Letter from Mr. Essex, on Canterbury Cathedral;
Dissertation on the Urbs Rutupiae of Ptolemy; and Memoirs of William
Lambard, Esq. the eminent Lawyer and Antiquary;” with various
Plates, and an Appendix, containing a List of Lambard’s Works, and
Copies of some of his shorter Pieces.

“Two Dissertations on the Brass Instruments called Celts, and other
Arms of the Antients, found in this Island;” by the Rev. James
Douglas, F. A. S.



Some Account of the State of Botany in Kent, in the Time of
Charles the First, may be found in the “Descriptio Itineris Plantarum
Investigationis ergo suscepti in Agrum Cantianum, Anno Dom. 1632.”
12mo. London, 1632. The Author of this Work, Thomas Johnson,
Editor of Gerard’s Herbal, and some other Botanical Works, was an
Apothecary in London, and Demonstrator of Botany to the Company
of Apothecaries. During the Civil Wars, he sided with the King, be-
came a Lieutenant-Colonel, and died in 1644, of a Wound he received
in a Sally from Basing-House. In this Work he gives a concise Account
of an Herborising Excursion made with Five other Members of the
Apothecaries’ Company, from London, by Water, to Margate, and
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from thence, by Land, to Sandwich, Canterbury, Faversham, and
Rochester, to Gravesend, where they took Boat to London; bringing
back with them upwards of 400 Specimens of Plants, the Names of
which, and their Places of Growth, he enumerates. This little Work
is now extremely scarce; only Four Copies of it being known to be ex-
tant. One of these is in the British Museum; a Second in the Library
of the Physic Garden, at Oxford; a Third in the Library of the Right
Honorable Sir Joseph Banks, Bart. K. B. and a Fourth (formerly the
Earl of Bute’s Copy) in the Possession of Dr. Simmons, Physician to
the King.

“Hortus Elthamensis, sive Plantarum rariorum quas in Horto suo
Elthami in Cantio Collegit Vir Ornatissimus et praestantissimus Jac.
Sherard, M. D. Soc. Reg. et Coll. Med. Lond. Soc. Gulielmi P. M.
Frater, delineationes Descriptiones quarum Historia vel Plane non,
vel imperfecte a Rei Herbariae scriptoribus tradita fuit, Auctore Jacobo
Dillenio, M. D. Lond. 1732.” 2 Vols. Folio. This was re-printed
in 1775, with the Linnean Names.

In the Philosophical Transactions, No. 155, P. 462, is a
Letter from Dr. Griffith Hartley, concerning a Bed of Shells at Hunton,
Six Feet under Ground. In No. 243, P. 289, a Letter from Dr.
R. Coning to Dr. Plot, about a Shower of Fish, at Cranstead, near
Wrotham, in 1666. In No. 270, P. 805, an Account of a Water Spout
in the Downs. In No. 275, P. 964, a Letter from Dr. Wallis, con-
cerning the Isthmus supposed to have formerly existed between Dover
and Calais. In No. 312, P. 2462, an Account of Two Mineral Springs
at Canterbury, by Dr. Scipio De Moulins. In No. 349, P. 469, a
Letter from the Rev. J. Sackette, M. A. about an uncommon Subsi-
dence of the Earth at Folkstone, on the Sea-Coast. In No. 399, P.
305, Dr. Barrell’s Account of an Earthquake near Dartford, in 1727;
and in P. 307, some Particulars of a Subterraneous Fire in Flinxhill
Parish, near Canterbury. In No. 405, P. 551, a Relation of a Sinking
of the Earth at Lymne. In No. 411, P. 191, Particulars of the Disco-
veries made in re-opening the Ancient Well at Queenborough Castle,
in 1729. In No. 462, P. 46, Mr. H. Miles’s Account of Parhelia seen
in Kent in December, 1741. In No. 474, P. 79, are Remarks by
Mr. Ward, on an Ancient Date in Ashford Church. In Vol. XLVIII.
P. 626, Jacob’s Account of Elephant’s Bones found at Leysdown, in
the Isle of Shepey; and in Vol. L. a Description of Fossil Fruits found
in the same Island. In Vol. XLIX. Art. 86, an Account of an Earth-
quake felt in February, 1756, all along the Coast between Margate
and Dover: in the same Volume, p. 523, are Particulars of the Irre-
gularities of the Tides at Chatham, Sheerness, Woolwich, and Dept-
lord, communicated by Lord Anson. In Vol. L. p. 614, are some Par-
ticulars of an Earthquake felt at Edenbridge, on the 24th of January,
1758. Vol. LXV. Art. 32, contains an Account of the Effects of
Lightning on a House that was provided with a pointed Conductor at
Tenterden, by R. Haffenden, Esq. and Mr. Henley.

In the Archaeologia, Vol. I. P. 44, is an Account of Lesnes



Abbey, by Dr. Stukeley: in P. 79, an Inquiry into the Antiquities of
Richborough and Sandwich, by the Rev. J. Lewis: and in P. 337,
Observations on a Deed, in Latin and Saxon, granted by Bishop Odo,
by which Lands in this County were given to Archbishop Lanfranc.
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In Vol. II. is an Account of the Monument called Kits Coty House,
commonly ascribed to Catigern, by Mr. Colebrooke: and in Vol. IV.
P. 110, are Observations on the same Remain, by the Rev. Mr. Pegge:
in the latter Volume, also, are Observations on Ancient Castles, by
Edward King, Esq. including those of Rochester, Canterbury, and
Dover. In Vol. V. P. 282, is a Memoir on the Roman Earthenware
fished up within the Mouth of the River Thames, near Whitstable Bay,
by Governor Pownall. In Vol. VI. P. 121, are further Observations
on the same Subject, by Edward Jacob, Esq. and in P. 125, additional
Observations by George Keate, Esq. In the same Volume, P. 380, are
Observations on Rochester Castle, by the Rev. S. Denne. In Vol. VII.
P. 393, is a Description and Plan of the ancient Timber Bridge at Ro-
chester, by Mr. Essex. In Vol. X. P. 37, are Observations on Canter-
bury Cathedral, by the Rev. S. Pegge: and in the same Volume, P. 261,
are Remarks on the Stalls near the Communion Table in Maidstone
Church, with an Inquiry into the Place of Burial of Archbishop Court-
ney, by the Rev. S. Denne. In Vol. XI. P. 38, are Observations on
Kits Coty House, by William Boys, Esq. in P. 108, Evidence of a
Lavatory appertaining to the Benedictine Priory of Christ Church,
Canterbury, by the Rev. S. Denne; with Observations on Fonts: in
P. 317, are Observations on Episcopal Chairs, and Stone Seats, &c.
mostly in this County; with a Description of Chalk Church, by Mr.
Charles Clarke: and in P. 375, a brief Survey of a Part of Canterbury
Cathedral, as described by Eadmer and Gervase; and a Review of
Mr. Clarke’s Opinion of the original Use of Stone Seats in Churches,
by the Rev. S. Denne. In Vol. XII. P. 10, is an Attempt to illustrate
the Figures carved in Stone on the Porch of Chalk Church, by the Rev.
S. Denne: and in P. 101, are Observations by the same Author, on a
triple Stone Seat at Up-Church. In Vol. XIV. P. 37, is an Account
of Antiquities discovered at Southfleet, by the Rev. Peter Rashleigh:
and in P. 221, is an Account of a further Discovery of Antiquities at
the same Place, by the same Gentleman. In Vol. XV. P. 291, are
Observations on the Tomb of Theobald, in Canterbury Cathedral, by
Henry Boys, Esq. and in P. 392, an Account of Roman Urns, disco-
vered in the Garden of the Earl of Dartmouth, on Blackheath, in 1802.
Most of the above Papers are illustrated by Plates.

In the Topographical Miscellanies, 4to. 1792, is an Ac-
count of St. Alban’s Court, in Nonnington, and its Possessors, the Ham-
monds; together with some Particulars of the Black Fryars, Canterbury.
In the Topographer, 4 Vols. 8vo. 1789, 1791, are also various
Memoranda of Parishes in this County. Malcolm’s First Impres-
sions, or Sketches from Art and Nature, 8vo. 1807, contain some
brief Observations on Rochester, Canterbury, and Dover, illustrated by
Plates by himself, from his own Drawings. Pennant’s Journey to
the Isle of Wight, 2 Vols. 4to. 1801, Lond. contains Particulars
of Deptford, Greenwich, Woolwich, Lesnes, Dartford, Northfleet,
Gravesend, Rochester, Chatham, the Isle of Shepey, Faversham, Re-
culver, the Isle of Thanet, Sandwich, Richborough, Wingham, Canter-
bury, Deal, Dover, Folkstone, Hythe, Romney, &c. illustrated with
many Plates, which, though neatly engraved, are, in general, from
inaccurate Drawings. In this Work, also, which was not published till
after the Author’s Death, are many Mis-spellings of proper Names,
and some Errors in Description.
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Weever’s Funeral Monuments contains Inscriptions from 114



Churches, Chapels, &c. in this County, within the Dioceses of Ro-
chester and Canterbury; but many of them are inaccurate, and the
Omissions are numerous.

In Lysons’ Environs of London, Vol. IV. are Accounts of
Deptford St. Nicholas, Deptford St. Paul’s, Eltham, Foot’s Cray,
Greenwich, Hayes, Lee, Lewisham, Plumstead, East Wickham, West
Wickham, and Woolwich; with many interesting Historical and Bio-
graphical Notices.

The Fourth Part of London and its Environs, published by
Stockdale, and edited by the Rev. Mark Noble, contains brief Accounts
of many Parishes in this County.

In the Kentish Register, 3 Vols. 8vo. 1793-4, are some Par-
ticulars of Penshurst, Dene, Acrise Place, Bourne Place, Bifrons,
Hales Place, Barham Court, Ileden, Denton Court, Wingham College,
Charlton Place, Howlets, Denne Hill, Nackington House, Hall Place,
Higham Place, Heppington, Lees Court, Walmer Castle, Street-End
Place, Canterbury, &c. with Plates of all the above Places, except
Penshurst.

PRINTS and MAPS.

Besides the many illustrative Cuts in Harris’s Kent, Hasted’s Kent,
Battely’s Edition of Somner, Dart’s Canterbury, Grose’s Antiquities,
Stukeley’s Itinerarium, and other Works, numerous single Prints have
been published of Scenes and Objects in this County.

Canterbury. A curious View or Plan of the Cathedral, and
Monastery of Christ Church, as they appeared between the Years
1136 and 1174, has been engraved by the Direction of the Society of
Antiquaries, from a Drawing by the Monk Eadwyn. Becket’s Shrine,
by Vaughan, from a Manuscript in the Cottonian Library. S. View
of the Cathedral, by Hollar; Ditto, by Ogilby. S. W. View, by
James Collins, 1715; the W. Front by B. Green. E. and N. Views
of St. Augustine’s Abbey, Riding and Wincheap Gates, the Castle, St.
Gregory’s Priory, and St. Thomas’s Chapel, have been engraved by F.
Perry. St. Augustine’s Abbey, and a N. E. View of the Castle, by
Buck. S. W. View of Canterbury, Buck.

N. W. Prospect of the City of Rochester; and N. W. and S. E. Views
of the Castle of Rochester; N. View of Faversham Abbey; S. View of
Reculver Church; N. W. View of Maidstone; S. W. and W. Views of
Ditto; N. W. View of Richborough Castle; N. W. View of Deptford;
N. Viewo of Woolwich; W. and N. Views of Dover Castle; N. W. View
of the Chapel and Pharos in Dover Castle; S. E. View of the Maison
Dieu at Dover; S. Prospect of the Town and Port of Dover; S. View of
Tunbridge Castle and Priory; N. W. View of Greenwich; S. View of
Arlington Castle; N. Leedes Castle; W. Hever Castle; S. Cowling
Castle; S. and N. Chilham Castle; S. E. Saltwood Castle; S. Sandown
Castle; N. W. Deal Castle; N. W. Walmer Castle; N. Sandgate Cas-
tle; N. E. View of Eltham Palace; N. E. View of Malling Abbey;
and N. W. Lullingstone Castle; were all engraved by the Messrs. Bucks,
between the Years 1735 and 1739.

Trinity Alms-Houses, Deptford; S. Gribelin. St. Paul’s Church,
Deptford; W. H. Toms. Deptford Dock-Yard and Town, T. Milton,
Del. Canot, Sc. Royal Dock, Deptford, Engraved by Woollet, from
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a Picture by Paton: Deptford Dock, and Greenwich Hospital, by the
same Artists.

A Geometrical Plan, and North Elevation, of the Dock-Yard, and
Part of the Town of Woolwich, was engraved by Canot, from a Draw-
ing by T. Milton, 1753. By the same Artist, also, was executed a



Geometrical Plan, and N. W. Elevation, of the Dock-Yard of Chat-
ham, with the Village of Brampton, 1755; and a similar Plan, and
W. View of the Dock-Yard, and Garrison, Sheerness, 1755; the
Shipping in the two latter by J. Cheveley.

Hollar made Drawings of Dover Cliff and Castle, Deal Castle, &c.
some of which were engraved by himself, in 1651; and some by Tem-
pesta. Dover Town and Castle, by Hearne; 1778. A Prospect of
Dover, by Toms; 1724. Town and Castle of Dover, R. Wilson; en-
graved by J. S. Miller; 1747. Ditto, by J. Mason, from a Painting by
G. Lambert; 1762. Dover Castle and Chapel, Two Views, by F. Perry.

In the Vitruvius Britannicus, Vol. I. P. 82, 89, and Vol. III. P. 3,
are Plans and Elevations of Greenwich Hospital: many others have
been made by different Artists. Hollar engraved a Prospect of Green-
wich and London, on Two Sheets; 1637. Gribelin engraved a Gene-
ral View of the Hospital from the River, Views of the Hall and Chapel,
&c. A Perspective View of the Colonnades was engraved by Toms;
1740: a Prospect of the Hospital, by T. Lauranson, in 1734; and the
Front of Ditto, by R. Parr, in 1739. The Old Palace of Greenwich
was engraved by Basire, in 1767, by Order of the Society of Antiqua-
ries, from a Drawing in the Possession of Dr. Ducarel. The Inside of
the Chapel at Greenwich Hospital, was executed by Malton and Bick-
ham. A View of Greenwich, from the Observatory, by Rigaud, was
engraved by S. Torres; and another, from One Tree Hill, by J. Wood,
from a Painting by Pond. The New Church of St. Alphage, at Green-
wich, has been engraved by J. Kip, 1714; and again by J. Lodge, in
1771. The Hall of Greenwich Hospital, by J. Storer, from a Drawing
by F. Nash, has been published in the Select Views of London and its
Environs. A Plan and Elevation of the King’s House, at Greenwich,
is in the Vitr. Brit. Vol. I.

The Mansion of the Sydneys, at Penshurst, has been engraved by
Vertue, from a Drawing by Benjamin Drew, Esq. another, but dis-
tant, View, is under Vertue’s Portrait of Sir Philip Sydney, prefixed
to the Sydney Papers. Saltwood Castle was engraved by J. Mason,
from a Painting by G. Lambert, 1762. Plans and Elevations of Mere-
worth Castle, and of Cobham Hall, are in the Vitr. Brit. Vol. III. In
the IVth Vol. of the same Work are Plans, &c. of the late Sir Gregory
Page’s House on Blackheath, Foot’s Cray Place, and Coomb-Bank,
near Seven-Oaks: the two latter have also been drawn and engraved
by Woollett. Several Books of Prints, of Scenery and Buildings in Kent,
have been published by different Artists: and in Angus’s Select Views
are Engravings of Coomb Bank, Broome, Lee, Bradbourn, Kingsgate,
and Sundridge Park.

The Maps and Surveys of this County, and of detached Parts of it,
have been numerous. A Two Sheet “New Description of Kent” was
published in the Reign of Elizabeth, and received an excellent Charac-
ter from Lambard, in his Perambulation; the whole Title is as follows:
“A New Description of Kent, divided into the Five Lathes thereof,
and subdivided into Baylywickes and Hundredes; with the Parishe
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Churches conteyned within every of the same Hundredes; all which
for better understandinge, are distinguished with Varyetye of Coloures;
comprehendinge as well the Cities, the usuall Market-Townes, and the
Portes, with their Members lying in Kent; as also such of the Houses
of the Nobylytie and Gentrye as the Plott coulde conveniently receave:
wherin moreover the Nature of the Soyle (whether playne, hyllye, or
wooddye) is more diligentlye observed; and the Tractes of Ryvers,
Rylles, and Creekes, with the trendinge of the Sea Shore, be more
naturally described than heretofore; it hath been done by the Travayle
of Philip Symonson, of Rochester, Gent, with a View, drawn by Sir
Anth. Van Dyck, of Rye and Dover; by Hollar.”



“Kent, actually Surveyed and Delineated,” by John Seller, Hydro-
grapher to the King; newly corrected and amended, with many
Additions.

In 1737, was published, by Dr. Packe, a Physician of Canterbury,
“A Dissertation upon the Surface of the Earth, as delineated in a
Philosophico-Chorographical Chart of East Kent;” in Four Sheets,
Atlas Paper. A curious Essay to accompany this was afterwards printed,
under the Title of “<Ankographia>, sive Convallium descriptio; in which
are briefly, but fully, expounded, the Origine, Course and Insertion,
Extent, Elevation, and Congruity, of all the Valleys and Hills, Brooks
and Rivers, (as an Explanation of a New Philosophico-Chorographical
Chart,) of East Kent. Occasionally are interspersed some transient
Remarks that relate to the Natural History of the Country, and to the
Military Marks and Signs of Caesar’s Rout through it, to his decisive
Battle, in Kent.” 4to.

A “Topographical Map of Kent,” on Twenty-Five Sheets of Im-
perial Paper, was executed, about 1770, by J. Andrews, and A. Drury,
on a Scale of Two Inches to a Mile; but though thus extensive, it has
many Errors, and abounds in Orthographical Inaccuracies. Hasted’s Kent
contains large Maps of the several Hundreds, corrected from a New
Survey. A more recent and accurate Survey has been made under the
Direction of Government; and published in Four Sheets, in 1801.
The Best small Map of Kent, in a single Sheet, has been given in the
Tenth Number of the British Atlas, (published to illustrate and ac-
company the Beauties of England and Wales,) together with a Plan of
Canterbury, corrected to the present Time.

A “Topographical Survey of the Environs of Canterbury,” in Six
Sheets, Two Inches to a Mile, was published by J. Andrews, A. Drury,
and W. Herbert.

“An Exact Survey of the River Medway, from Maidstone up to
Penshurst,” &c. John Bowra, Del. W. H. Toms, Sc. 1739.

“A correct Draught of the Downes,” shewing the Sands, Shoales,
Depths of Water, Anchorage, &c. by J. Middleton, late Teacher of
the Mathematics in the Royal Navy: in one Corner is a Plan of the
River and Harbour of Ramsgate. Other Plans of this Harbour have
also been given in different Publications.

“An Account of the River Stour, in Kent; with Observations on
Messrs. Dunthorne and Yeoman’s Proposal for Draining the Lands along
that River; by Murdock Mc’Kenzie, Sen.” 4to. Canterbury, 1775.
16 Pages.

“Mr. Yeoman’s Strictures and Observations on Mr. Mc’Kenzie’s
Report, Remarks, &c.” Folio, (Single Sheet,) 1775.
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“Some Account of the Deans of Canterbury, from the Foundation of
that Church by Henry the Eighth to the present Time: to which is
added, a “Catalogue of the Manuscripts in the Church Library:” by
Henry John Todd, M. A. 8vo. 1793; Canterbury.

“Antidotium Culmerianum; or Animadversions on Culmer’s Pam-
phlet called “News from Canterbury.” 4to. 1644; Oxford.

“History of the Convocation of the Province of Canterbury,” by
Kennett; 4to. 1702.

A Series of Papers, containing Extracts from the Muniments of
Christ Church, Canterbury, and from the Corporation Records, was
published in the Kentish Gazette a few Years ago, by the late Ciprian
Rondeau Bunce, an Alderman of Canterbury.

“A Marveilous Worke of late done at Court of Strete,” by Edward



Thwaytes.

“Memorial touching the Port of Dover,” by Sir Walter Ralegh,
published in an “Essay on Ways and Means to maintain the Honour
and Safety of England,” &c. by Sir Henry Sheers, Knt. 4to. 1701.
See Oldys’s Life of Sir Walter Ralegh, p. 143; and Gough’s Brit.
Top. Vol. I. p. 473. In the Eleventh Volume of the Archaeologia is
another Tract on the Haven of Dover, written by Thomas Digges, Esq.
Son of Leonard Digges, Esq. of Wootton, who was considered as the
most skilful Engineer and Mathematician of his Time. It was address-
ed to Queen Elizabeth, probably about the Year 1582, and intituled,
“A Briefe Discourse, declaringe howe honorable and profitable to youre
moste excelle’t Majestie, and howe necessary and co’modiouse for youre
Realme, the making of Dover Haven shal be; and in what sorte, w/h
leaste charge in greateste perfection, the same maye be accomplyshed.”
Mr. Digges also wrote “England’s Defence; a Treatise concerning
Invasion; or a brief Discourse of what Orders were best for Repulsing
of Foreign Forces, if at any Time they should invade us by Sea in Kent,
or elsewhere,” &c. Folio, 1680, London.

A short History of Dover Castle, (with an Account of the Lord War-
dens,) was drawn up by the Rev. Mr. Lyon of Dover, for Leger, a
Bookseller of that Town, and was published by him about 1787.

Gilpin’s “Observations on the Coasts of Hampshire, Sussex, and
Kent,” made in the Summer of 1774, (but not published till after his
Death in 1804,) contains some Particulars of various Parts of this County.

“A most true and exact Relation of that as honourable as unfortunate
Expedition of Kent, Essex, and Colchester,” by M. C. (Matthew Car-
ter,) ‘a Loyall Actor in that Engagement, A. D. 1648.’ This was
first printed in 1650, small 8vo. and has been reprinted at Colchester
in 1800; but the prefatory Addresses, and short panygerical Verses at
the End, are omitted.

“The Kentish Conspiracy; or, an Order and Narration declaring the
late Plot for the surprising of Dover Castle, and the setting on Foot of
a Commission of Array in the County of Kent, taken and extracted out
of the Examination of the several Conspirators. Published by Order of
the Committee at Aylesford, January 9, 1645. Small 4to. London.
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“A Spark of Friendship and warm Good-will; with a Poem concern-
ing “the Commodity of sundry Sciences, especially Paper, and a Pa-
per Mill lately set up near Dartford,” &c. by Thomas Churchyard;
4to. 1358, London. This has been reprinted in Nichols’s Progresses of
Queen Elizabeth, with some Variations in the Title.

In the Censura Literaria, Vol. II. p. 114, is the first Canto of a
Poem intituled the Wizard, by S. E. Brydges, Esq. in which are many
local Descriptions, illustrative of the Histories of ancient Kentish Fa-
milies. The second Canto is incorporated in the Preface to the fifth
Volume of the same Work.

“Penshurst;” a Poem; by Thomas Coventry, Author of Pompey the
Little: this was reprinted in Dodsley’s Miscellanies, Vol. IV. p. 50.

“An Histoiical Sketch of the County of Kent,” collected from Cam-
den, Harris, Seymour, Philipott, Hasted, &c. “with a Directory;”
by W. Finch: 12mo. 1803, London.

“Account of the Moving and Sinking of Nine Acres of Ground at
Westram, in 1596:” 4to.

“The Examination, Confession, Trial, and Execution, of Joan Wil-
liford, Joan Camden, and Jane Holt, executed at Faversham for
Witchcraft:” 4to. 1695.



“Fossiliae Cantiana Catalogus; or a Catalogue of Fossils found in
divers Parts of Kent:” 4to. 1709.

“The Historie of Wyatts Rebellion, with the Order and Maner of
resisting the same,” &c. made and compyled by John Proctor, Master
of the Free School at Tunbridge: January, 1555; 12mo. This was
printed at Christ’s Hospital. See Censura Literaria, Vol. IV. p. 389.

“Relation of the Troubles of three Foreign Churches in Kent, caused
by the Injunction of William Laud, Archbishop of Canterbury: 4to.
1645.

“The Reception of the Princess Maria Henrietta of France at Dover,
by King Charles Ist, in 1629; who was conducted by him to Canter-
bury, when the Marriage was consummated in the King’s Palace of St.
Augustine’s Monastery there;” taken from the Observations of Sir John
Finett, Master of the Ceremonies; published by Howell, 12mo. 1656.

“A proper Memorial for the 29th of May, etc. being an Account of
King Charles the Second’s Reception at Canterbury, at his Restoration;
on Saturday, 26th of May, 1660.” This is a curious and scarce
Pamphlet.

During the last Autumn was published, in Atlas Quarto, “A Series
of Twelve Perspective Views, in Aquatinta, of the Interior and Exte-
rior of the Cathedral Church of Canterbury,” by Charles Wild, an
ingenious young Artist, who drew the Sketches, as well as executed the
Plates. These Views comprise the South-west Aspect of the Cathedral,
the Nave, the West Transept, the Martyrdom, the Cloisters, the
Choir, the East Transept, the Exterior of the Baptistry, the Western
and Eastern Parts of the South Aisle, the Trinity Chapel, and the Ex-
terior of the East End; together with a Plan of the Undercroft; and
another of the Superstructure. The accompanying Description was
drawn up by the Rev. James Dallaway, M. B. F. S. A.
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INDEX
TO THE
EIGHTH VOLUME
OF THE
BEAUTIES OF ENGLAND AND WALES.

The Names of Market Towns are printed in small
Capitals; and those of Villages in Italicks.

The principal Abbeys, Castles, Churches, Encampments, Mo-
numents, Pictures, Portraits, Priories, Roman Stations, and
Antiquities, described in this Volume, will be found referred
to in the Index under one of these Heads.

A

ABBEYS; at Boxley, 1236; Can-
terbury, 765; 882–889; Faver-
sham, 724; Leeds, 1224,-5; St.
Radigund’s, 1069–71; West Lang-
don, 1028.

Abbot’s Mill, Canterbury, its curious
machinery, 909,-10.

Acrise, a seat, 1103.
Acrostic, a double one on Sir Philip

Sydney, 1307 (note.)
Addington, Druidical temples here,

1330.
St. Alban’s Court, a seat, 1085; fine

pictures here, 1086.
Allington Castle, its history, account



of Sir Thomas Wyatt the elder,
1262; castle described, 1263;
church, monuments, 1264.

Amhurst, Nicholas, the Poet, born at
Jennings Court, 1280.

Anderida, or Andredswaldt, an an-
cient castle, 1199.

Andredswald, an ancient forest, 1201.
ANECDOTES: of Augustine and

Ethelbert, 762; Archbishop Beck-
et and Henry II. 784–95; Arch.
Becket, 1333; Andrew Broughton,
1256; a Countryman, 1026; Our
Lady of Chatham, 673,-4, (note;)

the Lady Domneva, 955; Dudley,
Lord North, 1296; Archbishop
Dunstan, 773,-4; Lord Chancellor
Hardwicke, 1068; King John, 798
–802; Monks of Faversham, 725;
Archbishop Odo, 772; Rich. Plan-
tagenet, 1180–4; Police at Canter-
terbury, 925; Sir Thomas Poynings,
1133; Richard III. 1182, (note;)
Lord Rokeby, 1129,-30; Thomas
Sackville, Lord Buckhurst, 1328;
Charles Sackville, Earl of Dorset,
1329; Henry de Sandford, Bish-
op of Rochester, 698; Sir Tho-
mas Scott, 1148; Sir Robert de
Shurland, 713; Sir Charles Sed-
ley, 1266; Sir Oliver Style, 1282;
Captain Nicholas Toke, 1190;
Rich. de Tonebridge, 1286, (note;)
Rich. Watts, Esq. 657; Sir Henry
Wotton, 1211–14; Sir Thomas
Wyatt the Elder, 1263,-4.

Anne of Cleves, her portrait by Hol-
bein, 1093; resides and dies at He-
ver Castle,

Anselm, Archbishop, his disputes
with Henry I. 781–3.

Apperfield, or Appuldrefield, an an-
cient manor, 1345.

Appledore, anciently a Maritime town,
and defended by a castle, 1146.
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Arabic Numerals, a supposed early
specimen, 1264.

Ardern Thomas, Mayor of Faversham,
cruelly murdered by the contrivance
of his wife, 727–29, (note.)

Ash, a Roman burial-place here, 1016;
numerous antiquities found, 1017.

Ashford, descent of the manor, 1151;
church, and college, 1152; tomb
of Sir J. Fogge, ib. curious brass of
the Countess of Athol, 1153; mo-
numents of the Smyths, 1154; col-
lege described, ib. population, mar-
ket-house, fair, 1155; eminent na-
tives, Glover, Milles, Dr. Wallis,



ib. 1156.
Athol, Countess de, monument, and

particulars of, 1153, (and note.)
Aucher’s Hall, its departed splendours,

1078–80.
Augustine, St. the apostle of England,

his mission, 761; success and death,
767; his tomb opened, 884.

Aylesford, descent of the manor, and
friary, 1264,-5; Sir Charles Sedley
born here, 1266; church, monu-
ments, ib. hospital of the Holy Tri-
nity, battles fought here, 1267,-8.

B

Bacon, Sir Nicholas, born at Scadbu-
ry, 1356.

Badlesmere, seat of the Lords Badles-
mere, 750; church, curious wooden
seats, 751.

Bakers of Sissinghurst, some account
of, 1207. Baker, Sir Richard, born
at Sissinghurst, 1207.

Balsham, Frances de, extraordinary
execution of, and recovery, 925.

Bapchild Church; several councils sup-
posed to have been held here, 719,-
20.

Baptistery, curious, at Canterbury,
862.

Barfreston, or Barston, its very curious
church described, 1082,-3; monu-
ments, instances of longevity, 1084.

Barham Court, a seat, 1081; in Tes-
ton, 1281

Barham Downs, encampments, tumu-
li, camps, and race-course here,
1081,-2; beautiful poetical descrip-
tion of its ancient surrounding fami-
lies, 1078–80.

Bark-Hart, a seat, Queen Elizabeth
entertained here, 1357.

Barming East, its numerous plantations,
1276; Roman remains and coins
found here, ib. court-lodge, church,
parsonage-house, 1277.

Barrows; on Barham Downs, 1080;
at Chatham, 670; on Chartham
Downs, 1174; near Chilham Park,
1172,-3; near Elham, 1125; New-
enden, 1202; at Shebbertswold,
1073; in the Isle of Shepey, 706;
Isle of Thanet, 968; at Woodnes-
borough, 1017.

Barton, Elizabeth, the Holy Maid of
Kent, particulars of her history,
903; her pretended miracles, and
execution, 1188,-9.

Bayford, ancient entrenchment here,
supposed to have been made by King
Alfred, 698; castle, 699.

Beacon, one formerly at Tenterden,



1198.
Beachborough, a seat, 1105.
Beckenham Church, monuments, 1351;

Margaret Finch, Queen of the Gip-
sies, buried here, 1352, (note.)

Beckenham Place, a seat, 1351.
Becket, Archbishop, his duplicity

and inflexible disposition, 784,-5;
his contumacy and arrogance to his
sovereign, Henry II. 786–790;
particulars of his death, 791–793;
suspension of divine worship in
Canterbury cathedral, and humilia-
tion of the King, 793,-4; his re-
puted sanctity and miracles, 795; de-
clared to be a stubborn rebel and a trai-
tor by Henry VIII. and his bones
burnt, 824; more particulars of the
humiliation of Henry II. 845.-6;
pilgrimages to Becket’s tomb, 846,-
7; his remains translated from the
crypt to the chapel of the Holy
Trinity, and consequent jubilees,
802; 847,-8; his shrine described,
848,-9; Becker’s crown, ibid.; ex-
pences attending his pageant, 912;
his miracles at Otford, 1338, (note;)
his well, adventure with a nightin-
gale, and malediction to smiths, ib.

Bedgebury, a seat of the Colepepers,
1204.

Behn, Mrs. Aphra, a native of Canter-
bury, 927.

Bekesbourne, a palace here, 1096.
Bells, a large one at Canterbury, 865.
Belmont, a handsome seat, 1218.
Belmont, a villa, 985.
Bethersden Manor, account of, church,

brasses, marble quarries, 1197.
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Betshanger, a seat here, 1088.
Bickley, a seat, 1356.
Bidenden, or Biddenden, manor of,

1207; Place House, church, 1208
Bidenden Maids, their reputed history,

1208, (note.)
Bifrons, a seat, 1097.
Bilsington, its priory and court-lodge,

1147.
Birchington, church, Quex-chapel, and

manor, monuments of the Crispes,
954; poor-house, ib.

Birling, a manor, church and monu-
ments, 1271.

Birling Place described, 1271.
Bishopsbourne, its church, the learned

Hooker buried here, 1101.
Blackwose, a Premonstratensian Cell,

1105.
Bloor’s Place, a seat, 686, (note.)
Bobbing, descent of the manor, 691;

church, curious brasses of the Sava-



ges, stone seat, busts of Charles and
Humphrey Tufton, Titus Oates, a
vicar of this parish, 692.

Bohemia, Queen of, elegant verses in
her praise, 1213,-14, (note.)

Bonnington, ancient seat of the Boys
family, 1087.

Borden Church, Sutton Baron, Dr.
Plot born here, 692,-3.

Bore Place, a seat, 1314.
Borough, Sir John, Garter King at

Arms, born at Sandwich, 1156,
(note.)

Boughton Aluph Church, its ancient
beauty, painted glass, and monu-
ments, 1177,-8.

Boughton Blean and Street, church, cu-
rious brass of Thomas Hawkins,
747; monuments, 748.

Boughton Malherb, the seat of the Wot-
tons, 1210; particulars of the fami-
ly, ib. Sir Henry Wotton born at
Boughton Hall, 1211; his accom-
plishments, and beautiful lines on
the Queen of Bohemia, 1212,-13;
descent. of the manor, 1214; church,
monuments, ib. 1215.

Bounds Park, 1295.
Bourchier, Archnishop, crowns three

kings, 812; his elegant monument,
864

Bourne, Abbot, plants a vineyard at
Canterbury, 885.

Bourne Place, a seat, 1101.
Boxley Abbey, 1236; its Abbot called

to Parliament, Edward II. grants a
charter to the citizens of London

while resident here, ib. a famous
roode here, 1237; rood described,
1237–9, (note;) and burnt, ib.
church, instances of longevity, 1240.

Boys, William, Esq. a native of Deal,
1024.

Boy Saint, a curious statue, 1240.
Braborne Church, 1149; ancient yew

tree, 1150.
Braborne Lees, barracks here, 1149.
Bradbourne, a seat of the Twysdens,

1215; Hall Place, a seat, 1277.
Bradsole, or Abbey of St. Radigund,

described, 1069–71.
BRASSES; of Thomas Alese, 701;

Nicholas Ansley, Esq. 1362; Ro-
bert Arthur, 1176; Countess of
Athol, 1153; Joane Bamme, 682;
Valentine Baret, Esq. 743; John
Beaufitz, 682; John Bederenden,
1345; William Bloor, Gent. 686;
Sir Thomas Boleyn, 1316; Thomas
Borgeys, Esq. 745; Archbishop
Bourchier, 864; Thomas Boys, Esq.
1027; Thomas Brockhill, Esq. 1123;



William de Bryene, 1334; Thomas
Cardiff, 962; Thomas Cole, 694;
Richard Colwell, 740; Crispe Fa-
mily, 954; Richard and Mary Cul-
mer, 967; Dame Mar. Dasell, 1351;
John Daundelyon, 962; John Der-
ing, Esq. 1188; Richard Dering,
Esq. ib. Robert Dodde, 746; Vo-
lontyne Edvarod, 953; Edward, the
Black Prince, 865; Nicholas and
Alice Elstone, 967; Jane Eveas,
1176; Thomas de Feversham, 746;
Sir Edward Filmer, 1227; Bennet
Finch, 743; Sir J. Fogge, 1152;
Michael Frances, 909; John Frog-
enhall, Esq. 719; William de Gold-
welle, 1191; Goldwells, 1208;
Joan Harvey, 1110; Henry Hatche,
740; Thomas Hawkins, Esq. 747;
John Hoare, 1348; Mrs. Lambard,
1271; Thomas Lamberd, 1144;
Lovelaces, 1197; William Mareys,
Esq. 743; John Martyn, 745; Wal-
ter Mylys, 1271; Sir John North-
wood, Knt. 701; Sir Roger de
Northwood, 714; William Palmer,
718; Thomas Palmere, 1160; Tho-
mas Parramore, 953; Sir William
Peche, 1344; Reynold Peckham,
Esq. 1338; Ciriack Petit, Esq. 748;
Thomas Petlee, 1345; Lady Phelip,
931; a Priest, 952; Quex Family,
954; Rev. John Redborne, 740;
John Sandway, Esq. 942; Sir Ar-
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nold Savage, Knt. 692; and Sir A.
Savage, Knt. Jun. ib. Prior Sel-
ling, 828, (note;) Septvans, —- Knt.
1176; William Sharpe, and his five
Wives, 1192; a Ship, 962; a Skele-
leton, 962; Thomas Smith, 1144;
Thomas Smyth, 962; Richard Son-
des, Gent. 750; Thomas Stoughton,
Esq. 909; Robert Thompson, Esq.
1216; Dr. William Thornby, 740;
Tokes of Godington, 1191; Sema-
nus Tong, 740; Johannis Twini,
908; Thomas Twysden, 1192; Jo-
hannis Verien, 1123.

Brasted Church, monument of Judge
Heath, 1319.

Brasted Place, a seat, 1319.
Bredgar College, 693; church, 694.
Brents, their losses in the war of the

rival Roses, 1262.
Brett, Sir Piercy, buried at Becken-

ham, 1351.
Bridge, its court-lodge and church,

1100; portrait of Robert Bargrave,
1101.

Broadstairs, a fashionable bathing-place,
its pier, 971; ancient chapel, Ro-



man coins found, 972; a monstrous
fish taken here, and a spermaceti
whale, 972.

Bromfield Church, 1223.
Bromley, etymology of, descent of

manor, Bishops Palace, St. B1ase’s
well, 1353; church, monuments,
four Bishops and Dr. Hawkesworth
buried here, 1354.

Bromley College, founded by Bishop
Warner for clergymen’s widows,
1354; Bromley charity school, po-
pulation of Bromley, hamlets, mar-
ket, and market-house, 1354.

Brompton, a hamlet to Chatham, 670.
Brompton’s Pot, a spring, 1102.
Brook, Ralph, Esq. York Herald, his

monument, 945.
Broome, a seat, 1080.
Broughton, Andrew, Secretary of the

High Court of Justice, particulars
of, and epitaph, 1236.

Brydges, an ancient family, 1074.
Buckwell, a manor, 1177.
Bully-Hill, Rochester, Roman anti-

quities found here, 612.
Burchett, Josiah, Esq. born at Sand-

wich, 1009.
Burying-grounds, first admitted into

cities, 770.
Byrhtrices, a Saxon, his curious will,

1340–41, (note.)

C

Cade, Jack, made prisoner at Ripley
Court, 1185.

Caer Andred, an ancient city, 1201;
destroyed by Ella the Saxon, ib.

Caesar, Julius, lands near Deal, 1027.
Cale Hill, a seat, 1185.
Camden Place, a seat, 1356.
Canal, New Military, an important

work, described, 1114.
Cannon-balls made of Kentish rag-

stone, 1278, (note.)
CANTERBURY, CITY, the Duro-

vernum of the Romans, etymology
of the name, 753; Roman coins and
other antiquities found here, Worth-
gate described, 754; other Roman
antiquities, Ethelbert’s palace grant-
ed to Augustine, 755; made an
archiepiscopal see, ravaged and burnt
by the Danes, 756,-7; described in
the Domesday Book, 758; cathe-
dral burnt, 759,-60; its ecclesiastical
history, Christian churches, mission
of Augustine, 761; interview of
Augustine with King Ethelbert,
762; baptism of Queen Bertha an
Ethelbert, cathedral built, 763;
made the seat of the metropolitical
chair, 764; primacy of the archbi-



shops, how established, 764–767,
note; priory of Christ church found-
ed, and St. Augustine’s abbey, 765;
death of Augustine, 767; its arch-
bishops, with particulars of their his-
tory, 767–821; their privileges,
and revenues of the see, 821–823;
dissolution of Christ Church Priory,
summary of its revenues and esta-
blishments, 823–825; priors and
learned monks of Christ Church, and
seals of the priory, 825–830; ca-
thedral described, 830–856; mo-
numents, 856–871; cathedral build-
ings and precincts, including the
library, baptistery, chapter-house,
cloisters, green-court, Domus Hos-
pitum, north-hall, mint-yard, gram-
mar school, Porta Curiae, and arch-
bishop’s palace, 871–879; Borough
of Staplegate, 881; Christ Church
gate described, 881,-2; St. Augus-
tine’s abbey, history of, and abbots,
882–886; its buildings described,
St. Augustine’s gate, abbey church,
interments here, 886–889; Kent
and Canterbury hospital, St. Pancras
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chapel, county gaol, 890; Castle de-
scribed, 890–892; Dane-John hill,
and manor, 892,-3; city walls and
gates, 894–896; Franciscan fri-
ary, 896; Dominican friary, Au-
gustine friary, and East Bridge hos-
pital, 897–899; Maynard’s hos-
pital, city workhouse, and priory
of St. Gregory, 899–900; St.
John’s hospital, Jesus hospital,
Smith’s hospital, Dode’s chantry,
St. Laurence house, 902; nunnery
of St. Sepulchre, aims-houses, 903;
churches, Holy Cross, St. Alphage,
St. Mary Bredman, St. Margaret,
904; St. Andrew, St. Mary Bred-
ing, St. Mary Magdalen, St. Mil-
dred, 905,-6; St. Dunstan, 907;
St. Paul, St. Martin, 908,-9; ab-
bot’s mill, 910; river Stour, 911;
city, how governed, 911,-12; ex-
pences of the pageant of St. Thomas,
&c. 912–914, note; members of
parliament, 913; storms and earth-
quakes, 914-15; Kentish association
and petition, 915–920; settlement
of the Walloons here, 920–922;
hop plantations, 922; pavement
and town-hall, ibid.; butter-mar-
ket, bull-stake, cattle-market, fairs,
assembly-rooms, bank, and theatre,
923; barracks, population, agricul-
tural society, 924; anecdotes of the
police and cucking-stool, 925; emi-



nent natives, Dr. Linacre, Somner,
Mrs. Behn, 925–928.

CANTERBURY, Archbishops of,
with particulars of their history,
761–821; St. Augustine, 761–766;
Lawrence, 767; Mellitus, Justus,
Honorius, Deusdedit, Theodore,
758; Brithwald, Tatwyn, Nothelm,
Cuthbert, Bregwyn, 770; Lambert,
Athelard, Wulfred, Fleotogild, Ceol-
noth, Athelred, Plegmund, Athelm,
Wlfhelm, Odo, 771; Elaine, Bri-
thelm,772; Dunstan, 773; AEthel-
gar, 774; Siricius, AElfric, Al-
phage, Livingus, Agelnoth, 775;
Eadsin, Robert, Stigand, 776; Lan-
franc, 777–780; Anselm, 780–
783; Ralph, surnamed Nugax,
Corboil, 783; Theobald, 784; Tho-
mas Becket, 784–796; Richard,
Baldwin, 797; Fitz Joceline, Hu-
bert Walter, 798; Stephen Langton,
802; Richard Wethershed, Edmund
of Aingdon, 802; Boniface, Ro-
bert Kilwarby, John Peckham, Ro-
bert Winchelsea, 804; Walter Rey-

nolds, John Stratford, 805; John de
Offord, Thomas Bradwardine, Si-
mon Islip, Simon Langham, William
Whittlesea, 806; Simon de Sud-
bury, 807; William Courteney,
Thomas Fitz Alan, 808; Roger
Walden, 809; Henry Chicheley,
John Stafford, 810; John Kemp,
Thomas Bourchier, 811; John
Morton, Henry Deane, William
Warham, Thomas Cranmer, 812;
Reginald Pole, 813; Matthew Par-
ker, 814; Edmund Grindall, John
Whitgift, Richard Bancroft, 815;
George Abbot, William Laud, 816;
William Juxon, Gilbert Sheldon,
817; William Sancroft, John Til-
lotson, 818; Thomas Tenneson,
William Wake, John Potter, Tho-
mas Herring, Matthew Hutton, 819;
Thomas Secker, Frederick Corn-
wallis, John Moore, 820; Charles
Manners Sutton, 821.

CANTERBURY Cathedral,
founded by Augustine, 756–763;
consumed by fire, 759; its dedica-
cation, 766; rebuilt by Lanfranc,
777; ancient cathedral described,
ibid. note; enlarged by Anselm,
78!; damaged by fire, and re-dedi-
cated with great pomp, 783; Arch-
bishop Becket murdered in the
west transept, 792; new choir and
chapel of the Holy Trinity built,
796; west transept improved by
Archbishop Sudbury, 807; nave



rebuilt, 808,-9; congè d’elire, form
of the, 822; chapel of the Virgin
Mary, and the west transept, built,
828; great tower and Christ Church-
gate built, 829; cathedral described,
west front, 830; south porch, 831;
chapels of St. Michael and St. An-
selm, 832; Becket’s crown, and
great tower, 833; interior, west
window, nave, 834; great tower,
and braces, 835; beautiful screen,
836; west transept, martyrdom,
fine transept window, 837–840;
elegant screen, chapel of the Virgin,
840; St. Michael’s chapel, choir,
841; altar-screen, aisles, west tran-
sept, 842; vestry, treasury, audit
room, 843; chapel of the Trinity,
844; Becker’s shrine, and tomb,
844–849; Becket’s crown, 849;
archiepiscopal chair, admeasurements
of the cathedral, curious crypt,
850; French church, chapel of Ed-
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ward the Black Prince, 851; cha-
pels of the Virgin and St. Anselm,
852; prebendal vaults, and en-
trance to the crypt, 853; altars and
relics, 854; cathedral despoiled,
and repaired, 854,-5; Nevil’s cha-
pel, 855,-6; remains of archbishops
Theobald, Islip, and Whittlesea,
and Bokingham, Bishop of Lin-
coln, dug up here, 857; names of
persons interred, ibid.; monuments
of Sir John Boys, Dr. De Saravia,
Orlando Gibbons, and the Arch-
bishops Peckham and Warham,
358; of Dr. Chapman, Dean Fo-
therby, Dean Boys, Prior Gold-
stone, Drs. Meric, and Isaac, Casau-
bon, 859; Admiral Edwards;
Margaret Holland, and her hus-
bands; John, Duke of Somerset;
and Thomas, Duke of Clarence;
Lieut. Col. Pride, General Thorn-
hurst, Miss Milles, 860; Archbishop
Langton, Sir George Rooke, Sir
James Hales, Archbishop Reynolds,
Hubert Walter, Kemp, Stratford,
861; Sudbury, Meopham, Bradwar-
dine, Chicheley, 862,-3; Bour-
chier, Henry IV. Joan of Navarre,
864; Edward the Black Prince,
865; Archbishop Courteney, Odo
Colignie, Dean Wotton, 866;
Archbishop Theobald, 867; Cardi-
nal Pole, Archbishop Morton, 868;
Joan de Burgherst, Isabel, Coun-
tess of Athol, 869; Archbishops
buried here, 870; library, and other
buildings, 871–875.



Canute places his crown on the high
altar at Canterbury, 775; his cu-
rious grant of the Port of Sandwich,
775—77, (note.)

Carter, Mrs. Elizabeth, a native of
Deal, her extraordinary acquire-
ments, 1023.

CASTLES; at Allington, 1162–
4; Bayford, 699; Canterbury, 759;
890–92; Chilham, 1166–9; Deal,
1022; Dover, 1030–1033–47;
Folkstone, 1106; Gillingham, 681;
Hever, 1314–16; Leeds, 1220–23;
Limne, 1135–7; Mereworth, 1283;
Queenborough, 709; Reculver, 932
–935–40; Richborough, 932–
943–49; Rochester, 617–628;
Sandgate, 1113; Sandown, 1017;
Saltwood, 1120–3; Stutfall, 1135–
7; Thurnham, 1234; Tong, 720;
Tunbridge, 1286–91; Walmer,
1028; Westenhanger, 1131.

Castle Rough, an ancient entrench-
ment near Minster, 699.

Catigern, a British chief, killed at
Aylesford, his presumed burial-
place, 1268.

Caxton, William, born in the Weald
of Kent, 1195; introduces into
England the art of printing, 1196.

Chandos, Barony of, 1074.
Charing, its archiepiscopal palace;

1216; descent of the manor, church
described, 1217; monuments, free-
school, 1218.

Charlton Place, a seat, 1102; Capt.
E. J. Foote born here, ib.

Chartham, a vineyard here, deanery,
church, 1175; brasses and monu-
ments, 1176; monstrous bones
found here, ib.

Chatham, descent of the manor,
666; dock-yard, store and mast-
houses, 667; rope-house, sail-loft,
smith’s shop, wet docks, principal
officers, ships built here, 668;
ordnance wharf, fortified, the lines,
669; upper and lower barracks, Ro-
man remains found here, 670,-71;
church, ib. curious triple stone seat
described, 672; monuments, 673,-
4; our Lady of Chatham, singular
history of, ib. note; hospital for
lepers, 673–676; hospital for de-
cayed mariners, 676–678; chest of
Chatham, particulars of, 677–679,
note; victualling-office, mansion of
the Petts, 679; St. Margaret’s Banks,
Chatham visited by James I. im-
provementa in, and population,
680.

Chepsted Place, a seat, 1322.



Chequer’s Inn at Canterbury, frequent-
ed by pilgrims, and mentioned by
Chaucer, 912.

Chesnut woods in Milton parish, 702.
Chevening, an ancient manor, 1320;

church, tombs of the Lennards,
133l,-2.

Chevening Place, descent of the manor,
seat of the Stanhopes, 1320; inven-
tions of Earl Stanhope, 1321.

Chicheley, Archbishop, some account
of, 810; his beautiful monument
and epitaph, 862–4.

Chidingstone, descent of the manor,
church, monuments, 1314.

Children, natural, called Children of
God, 1209, (note.)

Chilham Castle and Manor, history of,
1166–9; description of the castle,
1169.
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Chilham Park, a seat, 1166.
Chilham Village and Church, 1170;

mausoleum and monuments, 1170–
3.

Chillenden, Prior, his buildings, 827.
Chilston, or Chilson, a seat, 1215.
Chislehurst, descent of the manor,

church, monuments, 1356.
Christ Church gate, Canterbury, de-

scribed, 881,-2.
CHURCHES described; at Ashford,

1152; Badlesmere, 751; Bapchild,
719; Barfreston, 1082; Barming,
1277; Bidenden, 1208; Birching-
ton, 953; Bobbing, 692; Borden,
692; Boughton, 747; Boughton
Aluph, 1177; Bredgar, 694; Bridge,
1100; Canterbury, 761-763-904
–9; Charing, 1217; Chartham,
1175; Chatham, 671; Chilham,
1170; Cranbrook, 1206; Daving-
ton, 744; Denton, 1078; Dover,
1060,-1; in Dover Castle, 1047;
Downe, 1345; East-Church, 716;
Eastry, 1088; East Sutton, 1227;
Eastwell, 1180; Elham, 1126;
Farningham, 1342; Faversham, 739;
Folkstone, 1108; Gillingham, 681;
Godmersham, 1165; Goudhurst,
1204; Great Chart, 1191; Gra-
veney, 744; Harbledown, 753;
Herne, 930; Hollingborne, 1219;
Hythe, 1117; Lenham, 1216; Leys-
down, 716; Lewisham, 1361; Li-
minge, 1125; Limne, 1137; Linton,
1228; Lower Halstow, 691; Lul-
lingstane, 1343; Lullingstone, 1343;
Lydd, 1146; Maidstone, 1249; Mar-
gate, 961; Mereworth, 1284; Mil-
ton, 700; Minster, 989; Minster,
(in Shepey,) 713; Murston, 719;



Newington, 690; orpington, 1357;
Ospringe, 722; Patricksbourne,
1097; Penshurst, 1313; Postling,
1124; Preston, 742; Queenborough,
712; Rainham, 686; Reculver, 941;
Rochester, 639-652-554–5; Rod-
mersham, 720; Romney, 1143;
Saltwood, 1123; Sandwich, 1004,-
5; Seven-oaks, 1324; Sittingborne,
697; St Lawrence, 984; St. Mar-
garet’s, 1029; St. Nicholas’s, 953;
St. Peter’s, 967; St. Stephen’s, 929;
Sturry, 928; Tenterden, 1198,-9;
Teynham, 718; Thruwley, 750;
Tong, 719; Tunbridge, 1292;
Tunstall, 695; Waldershare, 1072;
Westerham, 1316; West Malling,
1275; Westwell, 1184; Wrotham,
1338; Wye, 1158.

Churchill, the satirist, buried at Dover,
1058.

Cinque Ports, or Five Havens,
their ancient names, 1010; history
of, 1011,-12; freemen stiled Barons,
1012; their privileges, 1013,-14;
naval services, and brotherhoods,
1015,-16.

Clares, Earls of Glocester, and Hert-
ford, some particulars of, 1287–
90.

Clay Hill, a seat, 1351.
St. Cleres, a seat, 1338.
Clergy, benefit of, granted in a case of

murder, 925.
Clergymens’ widows, excellent cha-

rity for at Bromley, 1354.
Clothing trade, families sprung from,

1205, (note.)
Club of artists, a curious picture, in-

cluding the portraits of Baron, Bridg-
man, Dahl, Gibbs, Goupy, Hamil-
ton, Huyssing, Kent, Mr. Robin-
son, Rysbrach, Vertue, and Woot-
ton.

Coffin, a remarkable stone so called,
1269.

Coin, an Athenian one found at Chat-
ham, 671.

Coldred, an ancient encampment here,
1073.

Colbridge Castle described, 1215.
Colepepers, an eminent family, some

particulars of, 1204.
Combwell Priory, 1204.
Comfort, a seat, 1271.
Concubine, King Edmund’s, a wit-

ness to an ancient grant, 1273,-4,
(note.)

Congè d’Elire, form of, 822,-3.
Conrad, Prior, an eminent architect,

825
Coomb Bank, a seat, 1319; Roman



urns found here, 1320.
Copperas stones, 704; copperas first

made in the time of Elizabeth, 705,
(note.)

Courteney, Archbishop, his munifi-
cence, 808; monument, 866; bu-
ried at Maidstone, 1249; his epi-
taph, 1250; his college, 1252.

Court-up-Street, scene of the impos-
tures of Elizabeth Barton, 1038,-9.

Cowdham. a parish, 1345.
Coxheath, camps here, 1229.
Cranbrook, the former centre of

the clothing trade, 1205; church,
monuments, schools, fairs, popula-
tion, 1206,
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Cray, St. Mary, formerly a market
town, church, 1357.

Cromlechs, two ancient ones describ-
ed, 1268,-9.

Crock-Field, Roman urns found here,
688,-9.

Cucking Stool, at Canterbury, 925;
and Sandwich, 1008.

Culmer, Richard, alias Blue Dick, de-
stroys the beautiful painted windows
at Canterbury, 838,-9.

D

Dandelion, an ancient seat, 955; its
gate-house, 956; now a place of en-
tertainment, ib.

Danes, their horrid cruelty, 757.
Danes Banks, barrows so called, 1174.
Dane-field, near Rainham, site of a

Roman building, 687.
Dane-John Hill, Canterbury, describ-

ed, 892; Manor of, 893; held by a
singular tenure, 894.

Dane Pitts, an entrenchment in Ripple
Parish, 1028.

Darell, Rev. William, of Cale Hill,
1186.

Davington, a nunnery here, 743; church,
sisters’ house, 744.

Davington Hill, site of a Roman bury-
ing-place, 744.

Deal, a considerable maritime town,
1018; its late origin, 1019; incor-
porated, ib. chapel, town described,
employment of its inhabitants, 1020;
pilots and hovellers, 1021; views
from the beach, earthquake felt here,
castle, barracks, and hospital, 1022;
eminent natives, 1023,-4; Julius
Caesar lands on this coast, 1027.

Deal, Upper, its church, brass of Tho.
Boys, Esq. 1027.

Deane, a seat, 1091.
Den, or Denne, its signification, 1201,

(note.)



Dene Chapel, in St. John’s, Thanet,
966.

Dengeness Bay, a useful harbour, 1146;
light-house, fort, barracks, ib.

Denne Hill, a seat, 1082.
Denton, a seat, and village, 1075; de-

scent of the manor, 1076; describ-
ed by the Poet Gray, 1076,-77,
(note;) church, 1078.

Dering, Sir Edward, some account of,
1187.

Detling, remarkable for twins, 1236.

Digges, Sir Dudley, his house, 1166;
and curious epitaph, 1171,-2, (note.)

Dock-Yards, at Chatham, 667; ships
built here, 668; fortified, 669;
Sheerness, 708.

Domneva, the Lady, founds Minster
Nunnery, 985; her deer, 986.

Domus Hospitum, or Strangers Hall,
at Canterbury, a curious Norman
building, 876–8.

Dover, the site of a British fortress,
1029; Roman pharos described,
1030–2; ancient Christian church,
1032, and 1047; etymology of, the
Ad Portum Dubris of the Romans,
1032,-3; college founded here, ib.
quarrel between Earl Eustace and
Goodwin, 1034; state of the town
in the time of Edward the Confessor,
1035; history of the castle, and de-
scription of, 1035–49; heights and
batteries, ib. history of the harbour,
1049–56; incorporated, burnt by the
French, divided into wards, 1056;
plague here, town described, 1057;
account of town-wall, ib. parishes,
Benedictine priory, 1058; Maison
Dieu, and victualling-office, 1059;
Leper’s hospital, churches, 1060,-1;
suffragan Bishops, and their privi-
leges, 1062; corporation, and free-
men, 1062,-3; landing-place of va-
rious sovereigns, 1063; packets, inns,
custom-house, hospital, Trinity pi-
lots, 1064; improvements, popula-
tion, prospects, 1065; villa of Sir
W. Sidney Smith, camp, Shake-
speare’s Cliff, 1066; thunder-storm,
1066,-7; eminent natives, 1068,-9.

Dover Castle, probably a British
fortress, 1029; its importance in the
Saxon times, 1033,-4; attempted to
be surprised by Earl Eustace, 1035;
how governed in the Norman times,
1036,-7; keep built by Henry II.
besieged, 1037; ordinances for its
government made by Hubert de
Burgh, 1038; surprised in the Civil
Wars, 1039; newly fortified, 1039,-
40; general description of, ib. its



various towers, &c. 1041–45; de-
scription and height of the keep,
1045,-6; ancient wells and towers;
1046,-7; new works, 1048; Queen
Elizabeth’s pocket pistol, ib. extent
of the site, 1049.

Dover Harbour, ancient state of,
1049,-50; pier described, 1051;
description of the port by Sir Walter
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Raleigh, 1051,-2; its successive re-
pairs, and revenue, 1052–6.

Downs the, an anchorage-ground so
called, 1024.

Downe Church, monuments, and brasses
of the Petles, 1345.

Downe Hall, a seat, ib.
Drowning, felons formerly punished

by, at Sandwich, 1008,-9.
Druidical Temples at Addington, 1330.
Dudley, Lord North, the presumed

discoverer of Tunbridge Wells, 1096.
Dunstan, Archbishop, his extreme ar-

rogance, 773; disposesses the Secular
Canons, 774; his remains found,
870,-1, (note.)

Dymchurch Wall, an immense embank-
ment, described, 1140,-1.

E

Earl’s Place, a curious mansion, 1255
EARTHQUAKES: at Canterbury,

914; Deal, 1022; Eaton Bridge,
1318; Great Chart, 1191; Sand-
wich 1002, and note.

East Church, its three manors, and
church, 715,-16.

East Cliff Lodge, a seat, subterraneous
passage here, 973.

Eastry, an ancient palace of the Saxon
Kings, court-lodge,church, 1088.

Eastry, Prior, his prudent management,
826; and beautiful screen, 836,-7.

East Sutton Church, monuments, cu-
rious brass, 1227.

East Sutton Place, a seat of the Fil-
mers, ib.

Eaton Bridge, earthquakes felt here,
1318.

Eastwell, descent of the manor, 1178–
80; church, monuments, tomb of
Richard Plantagenet, 1180,-1.

Ebbs’ Fleet, the landing-place of Hen-
gist and Horsa, St. Augustine and
St. Mildred, 991.

Eching Street, various springs here,
1102.

Eden Farm, a seat, 1351.
Edric Streona, his treachery, 1268.
Edward the Black Prince, his tomb,

and beautiful brass effigies, 865; his
epitaph, 865,-6, (note.)



Elfords, a seat, 1203.
Elham, a decayed market-town, 1125;

its park, and church, 1126.
Elizabeth, Queen, her great attention

to the navy, 683–5.

Ellington, a seat of the Spracklyns,
983; Mrs. Sprackling cruelly mur-
dered, ib.

Eltham, descent of the manor, and
palace, 1358,-9; church, monuments,
burials, population, 1360.

Eltham Lodge, a seat, 1360.
ENCAMPMENTS, at Barham Downs,

1081; Bayford, 698; Coldred, 1073;
Dover, 1066; Folkstone, 1113;
Judde Hill, 721; Kemsley Downs,
699; Kenardington, 1147; Keaton,
1346; Newenden, 1201,-2; New-
ington, 688; Oldbury Hill, 1335;
Rochester, 612; Swadling Downs,
1174; Tong, 720.

Engraving, superiority of the stroke
method, 1259, (note.)

Ent, Sir George, born at Sandwich,
1009.

EPITAPHS; on Arch. Bourchier,
864; Andrew Bronghton, 1256;
Ameye Clarke, 1178; Mrs. Anne
Clarke, 1352; Arch. Chicheley,
1863; Arch. Courteney, 1250; Sir
Dud. Digges, 1171,-2; Edward the
Black Prince, 865; Michael Francis,
909; Thomas Hawkins, Esq. 747;
John Hoare, 1348; Arch. Kemp,
861; Tho. Kempe, 1159, (note;)
Lady B. Knatclibull, 1149; Rev.
W. Langhorne, 1109;, Will. Som-
ner, 905; Mrs. M. Taylor, 1099;
Rich. Thornhill, Esq. 1354; Jo-
hannes Twinii, 908; Prior Selling,
828; Gen. Wolfe, 1317.

Ernulph, Bishop of Rochester, com-
piles the Textus Roffensis, 63!.

Evesham, a sculptor, monument exe-
cuted by him, 748.

Evington, a seat, 1102.
Ewell, a possession of the Knight

Templars, 1071.
Expences, of Becket’a pageant, 912; of

two messengers sent from Canterbury
to London in 1500, 913; of a
Mayor’s feast in the same year, 914.

Eynesford Castle, and Church, describ-
ed, 1342,-3.

Eythorne, Upper, a seat here, 1087.

F

Fairfax family, some account of, 1253,
Fairfax, General, his bust, and por-

trait, 1221.
Fairlawn, a seat, 1335.
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Farleigh East, celebrated for fruit and
hops, church, monument, court-
lodge, 1278,-9.

Farleigh West, its church, 1279; sin-
gular particulars from the register,
ib. (note.)

Farnaby, Thomas, an eminent school-
master, his hiaory, 1323. (note.)

Farningham, its church, monuments,
and curious font, 1342.

Faversham, a wittanegemot ass-
sembled here by King Athelstan,
site of a Saxon palace, 723; manor,
abbey, 724; privileges of the ab-
bots, distress of the monks, 725;
abbey, privileged as a sanctuary,
726; descent of the manor, 727,-8;
abbey buildings, 729; King Ste-
phen and Queen Maud buried here,
730; particulars of the murder of
Thomas Ardern, mayor of Faver-
sham, 727–729, note; Faversham,
a member of the port of Dover,
charters and privileges, 730; prin-
cipal officers, quay, trade, 731;
oyster fishery, 732; manufacture of
gunpowder, and description of the
powder-mill, 733; dreadful ex-
plosion, 734; visited by different
sovereigns, and prices of the pro-
visions given them, 735; curious
entries from the chamberlain’s books,
736, note; James II. seized by the
Faversham sailors, 736–739; church,
739; monuments, 740; benefac-
tions, grammar-school, charity-
schools, market-house, improve-
ment, population, and eminent na-
tives, viz. Hamo de Faversham, Si-
mon de Faversham, and Dr. John
Wilson, 741,-2.

Feasts, sumptuous ones at the archiepis-
copal palace, Canterbury, 879,-80.

Filmers, some particulars concerning,
1227.

Finches, Earls of Winchelsea, some
particulars of, 1179.

Finch, Margaret, some account of 1352,
(note.)

Fire, subterraneous, at Hinxhill, 1150.
Fish, a monstrous one at Broad Stairs,

972.
Fitz Alan, Archbishop, particulars of,

808,-9.
Fitz Stephens, a learned monk of Can-

terbury, 856.
Flesh in Lent, lincenses to eat, 1209,

(note.)
St. Florentius, buried at Minster, 990.

Fogge family, how greatly reduced,
1153, (note.)

Folkstone, the Lapis Populi of the



Romans, 1106; described by Le-
land, Roman coins and bricks found
here, 1107; descent of the manor,
ib. nunnery founded at the request
of the Virgin St. Eanswide, her mi-
racles, ib. Benedictine cell, church,
1108; monuments, 1109; corpora-
tion, market-hnuse, ancient state,
1110; harbour, free-school, eminent
natives, Dr. Harvey, and John Phi-
lipott, Somerset Herald, 1111,-12;
contiguous camps, 1113.

FONTS, curious; at Bromley, 1354;
Farningham, 1342; Foot’s Cray,
1357; Gillingham, 682; Newen-
den, 1202; Sittingborne, 698;
Stanford, 1135; Staple, 1089.

Foote, Capt. E. J. born at Charlton
Place, 1102.

Foot’s Cray Church, monuments of Sir
Simon de Vaughan, 1357.

Foot’s Cray Place, a beautiful seat,
1357.

Ford Palace, 932.
Ford Place, a seat, 1313.
Fowlers, a seat, 1203.
Foying, what, 951.
Fredville, a seat, its remarkable oaks,

1085.
Freelands, a seat, 1356.
Frognal, a seat, 1356.
Fryth, John, a martyr, born at Wes-

terham, 1318.
Furnese, Sir Henry, born at Sandwich,

1009.

G

Gallant’s, a manor, 1278.
Garling, or Garling-Street, celts found

here, 956.
Gervase, his description of the burning

of Canterbury Cathedral, 766.
Gethin, Grace Lady, buried at Hol-

lingborne, 1219.
Gibbon John, Blue Mantle, born in

Kent, 1156, (note.)
Gibbons family, their ancient seat, 1200.
Gillingham, a battle fought here between

Edmund Ironside and Canute, cas-
tle, archiepiscopal palace, church,
681; our Lady of Gillingham, cu-
rious font, brasses, 682; William of
Gillingham, and William Adams,
natives of, 683; curious description
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of the navie royall stationed in Gil-
lingham harbour, 683–5.

Gipsies, Queen of, buried at Becken-
ham, 1352; some particulars of, ib.
(note.)

Glanville, Gilbert de, Bishop of Ro-
chester, his disputes with the monks,



634; his tomb described, 648.
Glassenbury, a manor, 1206.
GLASS, Painted, or Stained; at Bough-

ton Aluph, 1177; Canterhury, 834–
38–40–43–50; Cranbrook, 1206;
Earl’s Place, 1255; Gillingham, 682;
Godington Hall, 1190; Graveney,
746; Great Chart, 1192; Knole,
1331; Liminge, 1125; Lullingstone,
1344; Mereworth, 1284; Nettle-
sted, 1283; Patricksbourne, 1099;
Rodmersham, 721; Teynham, 718;
West Wickham, 1347.

Glover Richard, Somerset Herald,
born at Ashford, 1155.

Godington, a seat, 1189; described,
1190; portraits, painted glass, carv-
ing, ib. vineyard here, ib. (note.)

Godmersham Court-lodge or Priory,
church, &c. 1165.

Godmersham Park, a seat, 1166.
Goldstone, Prior, completes the town

of Christ-Church and Christ-Church
gate, 829; his rebus, 838, (note.)

Goodneston, a seat, 1087.
Goodwin Sands, their situation, 1024;

described, 1015; traditionary ae-
counts of, ib. piece of old ordnance
found here, 1026.

Gore Court, a manor, 1233.
Goudhurst Church, 1204.
Graham, Mrs. Macauley, born at Ol-

lantigh, 1163.
Grammont, Count, his curious de-

scription of Tunbridge Wells, 1298,
(note.)

Grange, formerly a member of the
Port of Hastings, 685; chapel built
here by Philipott, Lord Mayor of
London, 686.

Graveney Manor, church, 744; brasses
singularly inscribed, 745; painted
glass, portrait of Henry the Sixth,
746.

Great Chart, 1190; earthquake here,
church, painted glass, brasses, 1191,-2

Greatness, a mansion, 1332.
Grocyn William, Master of Maidstone

College, 1252
Groombridge, a chapelry, 1301; de-

scent of the estate, 1301.

Grove, a seat, 1089.
Grove, vein of fullers’ earthhere, 1241;

Roman urn found here, 1242.
Gundulph, Bishop of Rochester, a

celebrated architect, 619; some par-
ticulars of, 630–2; his statue, 641;
and tomb, 648.

Gunpowder, manufacture of, at Faver-
sham, great explosion, powder-
mills, and quantity of powder annu-
ally manufactured, 733–5.



Gunpowder Plot, curiously illustrated,
1137, (note.)

H

Hackendon Banks, two large tumuli
so called, 968; opened, and human
bones found in them, 969.

Hadlow, borough of, 1286.
Halden Place, a seat, 1200.
Hales Place, a seat of the Hales fa-

mily, 928.
Halling, an archiepiscopal palace and

vineyard here, 1270; curious brass
of Mrs. Lambard, 1271.

Hall Place, a seat, 753–1313.
Hampton Hill, beautiful view from,

1130.
Harbledown, St. Nicholas Hospital, 751;

chapel, maple bowl, 752; church,
753.

Harrietsham Place, a seat, 1220.
Harrietsham Street, ib.
Hart Percyvall, Esq. his curious mo-

nument, 1344.
Harty, Isle of, church, 716; manor of

the Mote, trial by battle, 717.
Harvey, Dr. W. the discoverer of the

circulation of the blood, born at
Folkstone, 1111.

Harvey, Capt. John, born at Elming-
ton, 1087.

Harvey, Adm. Sir Henry, born at
Barfreston, 1084.

Hatch, a seat, 1148.
Hawkhurst, a decayed market-town,

church, free-school, alms-house, 1203.
Hawkins, Sir John, establishes the

chest at Chatham, 677–9, (note.)
Hawksworth, Dr. buried at Bromley,

1354.
Hayes Church, banners of the Earl of

Chatham hung up here, brasses,
1348.

Hayes Place, the seat and retirement of
the great Earl of Chatham, 1348;
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William Pitt, the distinguished
Chancellor of the Exchequer, born
here, 1349.

Henry II. his humiliation at the tomb
of Becket, 794–845.

Henry de Essex, defeated in a legal
duel, 1120.

Heppington, a seat, 1099; collection
of Roman antiquities here, 1100

Heralds, Kentish, various, 1155,-6.
Herne Church, monuments, female

monsters, Herne-Bay, Pan-Rock,
930,-1.

Hever Castle, an ancient seat, 1314;
inhabited by the Boleyns, 1315;
castle described, 1315,-16; church,



curious brass of Sir Thomas Boleyn,
ib.

Higham, a seat, 1099.
High Street House, a seat, 1314.
Hill Park, a seat, 1318.
Hinxhill, scene of a subterraneous fire,

1150.
Hamo de Hithe, Bishop of Rochester,

some particulars of, 637; his tomb,
650; his statue formerly at Halling,
1270.

Hoadley, Bishop, e native of Wester-
ham, 1317.

Hole, a seat, the ‘seed-plot of the
Gibbons,’ 1200.

Hollingborne Church, monuments of
the Colepepers, 1219; beautiful al-
tar-cloth, 1220.

Hollingborne Hill, a seat, ib.
Holwood Hill, an immense encamp-

ment here described, 1346; Roman
antiquities found within the area,
ib.

Holwood House, a seat, 1346.
Holy Cross, a piece of it preserved at

Faversham, 730.
Holy Maid of Kent, see Barton.
Home Stall, a seat, 1277.
Honywood, Mary, her great progeny,

1216.
Hops, vast growth of at Leybourne,

1272.
Horne, Bishop, born at Otham, 1233.
Horsa, a Saxon chief, killed at Ayles-

ford, 1267.
Horsted, the supposed burial-place of

Horsa, 1270; antiquities found here,
ib.

Horton Kirkby, a Castle here, its owners,
1341; church, 1342.

Horton Priory, its foundation, and
description of, 1131.

Hothfield, a seat, 1138; church, 1189.

Hour-glasses, ancient ones found at
Folkstone, 1108, (note.)

Howletts, a seat, 1096.
Human bones, a singular pile of, at

Hythe, 1119.
Hunton, its pleasant situation, court-

lodge, church, 1229.
Hunton, Rectors of, 1230,-2.
Hunton Parsonage, Dr. Beattie’s de-

scription of, 1232, (note.)
Hutton, Archbishop, died through ab-

stinence, 820.
Hythe, or Hithe, described by Le-

land, 1115; its ancient importance,
and incorporation, 1116; burnt, ib.
state of in Elizabeth’s reign, popu-
lation, court-hall, theatre, curious
church, 1117; stone seats, font, mo-
numents, crypt, 1118; human bones,



hospitals, 1119; Bishop Hamo de
Hythe, or Noble, a native. ib. neigh-
bouring forts, and barracks, 1120.

I & J

Jack Straw, born at Pepingstraw, 1273.
James the Second seized at Shellness by

the Faversham sailors, 736; his de-
tention, and subsequent flight from
Rochester, 737–39.

Jenkyns, John, born at Maidstone,
1257.

Jennings, a seat, 1232.
Jennings Court, a seat, birth-place of

the poet Amhurst, 1280.
Ightham, descent of manor, church,

curious monuments of the Selbies,
1336,-7.

Ightham Court Lodge, a seat, 1336.
Ileden, a seat, 1102.
Inscription in a summer-house, by

Gil. West, Esq. 1348,-9.
Interments in linen, affidavits concern-

ing, 1340.
John, King, his opposition to the

Pope, and degradation, 799–802;
resigns his crown at Swingfield Pre-
ceptory, 1061–1104; besleges Ro-
chester Castle, 620; his cruelty to
the garrison, 621.

Joy, Richard, the English Sampson,
984.

Ithamar, Bishop of Rochester, a re-
puted Saint, 629.

Jubilees at Canterbury, 847.
Judde, Sir Andrew, a native of Tun-

bridge, his munificent foundation of
the grammar-school, 1292.
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Judde Hill, the Durolevum of Antoni-
nus, Roman coins, and other anti-
quities, found here, 721.

Julliberries Grave, a tumulus, 1172,-3.
Juxon, Archbishop, attends Charles I.

on the scaffold, 817.

K

Kelseys, a seat, 1350.
Kemp, Archbishop John, born at Ol-

lantigh, particulars of, 811; his mo-
nument, 861; his college at Wye, 1158.

Kenardington, entrenchments here,
1147.

Kennet, the Rev. Dr. Basil, born at
Postling, 1124.

Kennet, Bishop White, a native of
Dover, 1067.

Kent House, a seat, 1350.
Kentish Association, particulars of,

915–20.
Kentish petition, 916,-17, (note.)
Kentish petitioners, their names, 1215,



(note.)
Kentish-rag, a lime-stone, its uses,

made into cannon-halls, 1278, (note.)
Kentish volunteers, entertained by Lord

Romney, 1261, (note.)
Keston Down, encampment here, 1346.
Kevington, a seat, 1357.
Kilburne, Richard, some account of,

1203.
King, Edward, Esq. some account of,

1351.
King’s-gate, a seat in Thanet, 969;

Grey’s severe censure on Lord Hol-
land’s ruins, 970; buildings describ-
ed, 970.

Kingsgate House, in Rolvenden, 1200.
Kingston, a villa here, eminent rector,

1102.
Kippington, a seat, 1322.
Kirkby Court, a seat, 1341.
Kit’s Coty House, an ancient crom-

lech, described, 1268; conjectures
on, 1269.

Knights Hospitallers, preceptory of,
1285.

Knole, or Knowle, a seat of the Sack-
villes, descent of the estate, 1326–
30; Thomas, Lord Buckhurst, 1328;
Charles, Earl of Dorset, 1329; de-
scription of the mansion, pictures,
and park, 1330–2.

Knowlton, a seat here, church, 1089.

L

Labarius, his grave, 1172, (note.)
Lambard’s family, a seat of, at Seven-

oaks, 1325.
Lanfranc, Archbishop, rebuilds Can-

terbury cathedral, and restores the
priory of Christ Church, 777–80.

Langley Park, a seat, 1350.
Langton, Archbishop, his contest with

King John, 798–802.
Lee, a fine seat built by Wyatt, 1092;

described by Lord Orford, its li-
brary, ib. paintings by Carter, 1093;
beautiful pictures, and owners,
1093–5.

Lee, villas here, church, monuments,
burials, 1360.

Lee Place, a seat, 1360.
Lees Court, a seat, sufferings of Sir

George Sondes, 748,-9.
Leeds Abbey, its history, 1224; de-

stroyed, 1225.
Leeds Church, stone seats, monuments,

ib.
Leeds Street described, ib.
Leeds Castle described, 1220,-1; his-

tory and descent of, 1221–3.
Lenham, descent of the manor, 1215;

church, stone seat, monuments, 1216.
Levet, William, attends King Charles



on the scaffold, 1217.
Lewisham, a populous village, priory,

1361; church, monuments, free
grammar-school, English school,
Sydenham chapelry, 1362.

Leysdown church, 716.
Leybourne family and castle, 1272.
Leybourne grange, a seat, 1272.
Liminge nunnery and church, 1125.
Limne, the Portus Lemanis of the Ro-

mans, site of the Roman fort now
called Stutfall Castle, 1135; ruins
described, 1136; castle and church,
1137.

Linacre, Dr. Thomas, a native of Can-
terbury, 925.

Lines, fortifications at Chatham, so
called, 671,-2.

Linsted Lodge, a seat, 1219.
Lint Well, a spring, 1102.
Linton, celebrated for hops, church,

monuments, 1228.
Linton Place, a seat, 1228.
Little Charlton, a seat, 1227.
Longevity, remarkable instances of,

747–1084–1240–82–84–135 .
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Loose, delightfully situated, paper-mills,
church, 1233.

Losenham Priory, William Strawfield,
an eminent historian, born here,
1202.

Lower Halstow Church, 691.
Luddesdon Church, tomb of James

Montacute, natural son of the Earl of
Salisbury, 1271.

Lullingstane church, built with Ro-
man bricks, 1343.

Lullingstone Park, a seat, church, 1343;
its curious monuments, and painted
glass, 1344.

Lydd, described by Leland, 1145;
corporation, and church, 1146.

Lynch, St. Mildred’s, a balk in Tha-
net, 952; its origin, 987.

M

Maidestan, Ralph de, Bishop of Here-
ford, born at Maidstone, 1256.

Maidestan, Walter de, born at Maid-
stone, ib.

Maidstone, county-town, its fine
situation, Roman coins found here,
its ancient names, 1243; descent of
the manor, Wyatt’s insurrection be-
gun here, 1244; battle between Fair-
fax and the Loyalists, 1245, (note;)
corporation, charters, and state of in
Elizabeth’s time, 1245,-6; trade and
commerce, ravaged by the plague,
1247; effects of a sudden thaw,
1248; site of, and archiepiscopal



palace, ib. and 1249; church de-
scribed, Archbishop Courteney
buried here, ib. his epitaph, 1250;
elegant stone seats, ib. curious stalls,
tomb of the Widvilles, monuments
of the Astleys, organ, chantries,
1251; history of the college and
priory, 1252; St. Faith’s chapel,
free grammar-school, 1253; charity
schools, alms-houses, poor-house,
bridge, fairs, shire-hall, gaol, 1254;
conduits, butter-market, corn-mar-
ket, Earl’s Place, theatre, population,
barracks, 1255; eminent natives,
Ralph de Maidestan, Walter de
Maydenstan, Andrew Broughton,
Thomas Trapham, Thomas Read,
Dr. Edward Lee, John Jenkyns,
Rev. William Newton, and William
Woollett, 1256–59.

Malling, West, granted to the see
of Rochester, 1273; singular wit-

ness to the grant, ib. (note;) nun-
nery, 1274; abbey-house described,
chapel of St. Leonard’s, church, free-
school, salubrious situation, 1275.

Mal-tolt, a toll formerly paid at Ro-
chester by crusaders, 614.

Manston Court, an ancient seat, 985.
Manwood, Sir Roger, born at Sand-

wich, 1009.
Maple bowl, a curious one, 752, (note.)
Marble quarries at Bethersden, 1197.
Margate, a fashionable bathing-

place, 956; state of in Elizabeth’s
time, its ancient pier, 957; improve-
ment of the pier and harbour, 958;
present state of, trade, situation, as-
sembly-rooms, 959; bathing-rooms,
and machines, 960; much exposed
to tempests, York Indiaman lost
here, 961; church described, brasses,
962; chapels, charity-schools, infir-
mary, 963; Roman coins and urns
found here, ib. (note;) Draper’s
hospital, battery, Hooper’s hill, 964;
markets, theatre, libraries, packet-
boats, 965; visited by different So-
vereigns, population, 966.

Marriage contract, a singular one, 1139.
Martello towers described, 1114; their

probable utility, 1115.
Mausoleum, a splended one described,

1170.
Medway, river, the only harbour for

the royal navy in the reign of Eliza-
beth, 685.

Meopham, birth-place of Archbishop
Meopham, 1340; singular Saxon
will of an inhabitant of Meopham,
ib. (note.)

Meopham, Archbishop, born at Meop-



ham, 805; his monument, 862.
Mereworth, descent of the manor, 1283;

church, painted glass, instances of
longevity, 1284.

Mereworth Castle described, 1283,-4.
Mersham Church, the burial-place of

the Knatchbulls, 1149.
Milkey Down, antiquities found here,

1105.
Milles Thomas, born at Ashford, 1155.
Milton, its situation, plundered by

the Danes, encampment called Cas-
tle Rough, 699; its importance in
the time of the Conqueror, market-
house, gaol, church, 700; tombs,
stone-seats, brasses, population, par-
ticulars of the oyster fishery, 701;
wharfs, chesnut woods, decoy for
wild-fowl, 702.
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Minster, in Shepey, nunnery founded
here, 712; church, tomb, and sin-
gular anecdote of Robert de Shur-
land, 713,-14; brasses, tombs, 714,-15.

Minster, in Thanet, nunnery founded
here by the Lady Domneva, 985;
anecdote of Domneva’s deer, 986;
sanctity of St. Mildred, 987; history
of the nunnery, 988; and of the
manor, 989; church described, ib.
monuments, 990; rectors, court-
house, fine views, ib.

Mints at Canterbury, 822.
Miracles attributed to Archbishop

Becket, 795.
Monks of Boxley, their subtle con-

trivances, 1237–40, (notes.)
Monkton Church, 952.
Montagu, Mrs. some particulars of,

1128; her portrait, 1130.
Montfort, Earl of Leicester, beseiges

Rochester, 621,-2.
Montreal, a seat, 1322; triumphal obe-

lisk, ib.
MONUMENTS and TOMBS: of

Bryan Annesley, Esq. 1361; Sir
John Astley, 1251; Jacob, Lord
Astley, ib. Isabel, Countess of Athol,
869; Sir Ed. and Lady Austen,
1264; Bakers, 1206; Sir John Banks,
1266; Sir Ed. Barrett, 904; Rich.
Beale, 1233; Sir J. Beale, 1342;
Archbishop Becket, 794,-5–802–
46–49; Hon. Per. Bertie, 1072;
Steven Borough, 673; Arch. Bour-
chier, 864; Roger Boyle, Esq. 742;
Dean Boys, 859; Tho. Boys, Esq.
1027; Sir John Boys, 858; Arch.
Bradwardine, 862; Sir William
Brenchley, 857; Ralph Brook, Esq.
943; Joan de Burghersh, 869; Dr.
Augustus Caesar, 651; Dr. Meric



Casaubon, 859; Sir Thomas Cawne,
1336; Senior Cerinemo, 715; Dr.
Alex. Chapman, 859; Catherine C.
of Chesterfield, 1214; Dr. Robert
Cheke, 695; Sir Thomas Cheney,
714; Archbishop Chicheley, 862;
Sir George Choute, 1197; Sir
George Choute, 1264; Mar. Duchess
of Clarence, 860; Thomas, Duke
of Clarence, 860; Sir Fran. Clarke,
1226; George, Lord Cobham, 640;
James Colebrooke, Esq. 1170;
Colepepera, 1205–1219–1266;
Dame Alicia Colepeper, 1216;
Odo Coligny, 866; Arch. Courte-
ney, 866–1249–50; Sir John Cox,
674; Thomas Cranmer, and Sir

William Cranmer, 906; Crisp fa-
mily, 954; Sir James Cromer, Knt.
695; Dekewer family, 967; Rev.
John Denne, D. D. 651; Sir Dud-
ley Digges, Knt. 1171; Dame Ann
Dyke, 1344; Philip Eaton, Esq.
1061; Edward, the Black Prince,
865; Admiral Richard Edwards,
860; Charles Erskine, Earl of Kerry,
1110; King Ethelbert, 942; Ed-
ward Fagg, Esq. 740; Sir William
Fagg, 1176; Fanes, 1229; Female
unknown, 697; Richard de Fever-
sham, 746; Robert Filmer, Esq.
1227; Sir Moyle Finch, 1180; Sir
Heneage Finch, ib. John, Lord
Finch, 909; Fineux family, 931;
Sir Thomas Fogge, 857; Sir John
Fogge, 1152; Dean Fotherby, 859;
Sir Henry and Sir Robert Furnese,
1072; Orlando Gibbons, 858; G.
Gipps, Esq. 753; Gilbert de Glan-
ville, 648; Sir Edward Gregory,
Knt. 694; Sir John Grove, 1005;
Sir John Guildford, 857; Bishop
Gundulph, 648; Lady Mar. Hales,
907; Sir Edward Hales, Bart. 695;
Sir James Hales, 861; Sir Percyval
Hart, 1344; Sir George Hart, ib.
Percyval Hart, Esq. ib. R. Harvey,
Esq. 1084; Sir Thomas Hawkins,
Knt. 747; Sir Francis Head, 906;
Sir Richard Head, Bart. 651; Henry
IV. and his Queen, 864; John,
Lord Henniker, and Dame Ann
Henniker, 651; Reverend Edward
Holme, 1271; Sir Robert Hony-
wood, 1218; Rev. Richard Hooker,
1101; Hamo de Hythe, 650; Thos.
de Inglethorpe, 648; William Jack-
son, 906; Archbishop Kemp, 861;
Thomas Kempe, 1159, (note;) Sir
Norton Knatchbull, and his Lady,
1149; Rev. W. Langhorne, 1109;
Rev. J. Lewis, 990; William Ley,



905; Gabriel Livesey, 716; Sir
William Lovelace, 857; Bishop
Lowe, 649; Galfridus Mann, 1228;
Sir Robert Manwood, 929; Law-
rence de St. Martin, 648; Sir Cav.
Maycote, 943; Arch. Meopham,
862; Sir Roger Meredith, 1225;
Jane Meredith, ib. Walter de Mer-
ton, 649; Miss Milles, 860; Milles
family, 931; Lady Mohun, 869;
Sir Edward Monings, 1072; James
Montacute, 1271; Arch. Morton,
868; Sir R. Moyle, 1177; Nevilles,
1271; Sir G. Newman, 905; Sir J.
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Norton, 701; Sir A. Palmer, K. B.
1170; Sir Henry Palmer, 909; Sir
Thomas and Lady Palmer, 1090;
Thomas Paramore, Esq. 990; Sir
John Peche, 1344; Arch. Peckham,
858; Sir Stephen de Penchester,
1313; Captain Percy, 654; Anne
Petrie, 1361; Margaret Petrie, 1362;
John Pettit, Esq. 748; Sir Fulke
Peyforer, 1215; Richard Plantage-
net, 1180; Dr. Robert Plot, 693;
Car. Pole, 858; Lieutenant Colonel
Prude, 860; at Reculver, 942;
Archbishop Reynolds, 861; Sir
Edward Ringeley, 1005; Roberts
family, 1206; Sir John Roberts,
904; Sir George Rooke, 861; Sir
John Routt, Knt. 748; Sir Henry
de Sandwich, 1006; Dr. Ad. Sara-
via, 858; George Sayer, Esq, 1218;
Dame Dorothy Selby, 1336; Sir
William Selby, ib. Sir William
Septvans, 857; Sir Robert de Shur-
land, 713; James Six, Esq. 904;
W. Smith, 1004; Thomas Smyth,
Esq. Sir Richard Smyth, Knt. Sir
John Smyth, Knt. 1154; John Earl
of Somerset, 860; William Somner,
904; Sir George Sondes, first Earl
of Faversham, 750; Sir Thomas
Sondes, Knt. 750; Henry Lord
Stanhope, 1214; William Stretton,
Esq. 651; Archbishop Sudbury,
862; Reverends Thomas and Wil-
liam Swift, 905; Mrs. Mary Taylor,
1099; Archbishop Theobald, 856;
867; Edile de Thorne, 989; Lady
Joanna Thornhill, 1159; General
Thornhurst, 860; Sir Gifford Thorn-
hurst, 1264; Sir William Thorn-
hurst, 931; Nicholas Tufton, third
Earl of Thanet, 687; Henry George
Tufton, ib. Charles and Humphry
Tufton, 692; Sir John Tufton, 1189;
Sir Simon de Vaughan, 1357; Arch.
Hubert Walter, 861; Arch. War-
ham, 858; Bishop Warner, 650;



Lady A. Watson, 1072; Richard
Watts, Esq. 650; Wendover, Bishop
of Rochester, 1354; John Whitfield,
906; —- Widville, 1251; William
Woollett, 1259; Dean Wotton, 866;
Sir William Young, 1176.

More, Sir Thomas, his scull preserved,
907.

Morton, Archbishop, created a Car-
dinal, 812; his curious monument,
868.

Mortality, remarkable at Wye, 1155,
(note.)

Mote, a seat, history of the manor,
1259,-60; house described, park,
1261; their Majesties, and the Kent-
ish Volunteers entertained here, 1261,
(note.)

Mottenden Priory, 1209.
Mount Morris, a seat, 1126; account

of the Robinsons, 1127,-8; anec-
dotes and character of Lord Rokeby,
1129,-30; mansion described, por-
trait of Mrs. Montagu, ib. some
particulars of, 1128, (note.)

Mount Pleasant, in Thanet, Roman
coins found here, 990.

Murder, cruel, of Mrs. Sprackling,
983.

Murray, the Rev. Lord George, im-
proves the telegraph, 1231.

Murston Church, 719.
Mystole, a seat, 1173.

N

Nackington House, a villa, 1099.
Nash, a seat, 746.
Nash Court, a seat, 967.
Navie Royall, curious particulars con-

cerning in Elizabeth’s reign, 683–5.
Nettlested, an ancient seat here, church,

1282.
Nevil’s Chapel, Canterbury, pulled

down, 855.
Newenden, the supposed Caer Andred,

and Anderida, 1201; Castle toll,
and other entrenchments, ib. Roman
coins, and tumuli, 1202; manor,
church, font, ib.

New House, a seat, 1345.
Newington, Watling Street crosses this

parish, Crockfield, Roman vessels,
entrenchments, &c. 688,-9; nunnery,
church, 690; ancient tomb, font,
691.

Ninne House, a seat, 1192.
Noble, Hamo de Hythe, or, born at

Hythe, 1119.
Noble, Rev. Mark, his various pub-

lications, 1277.
Nonnington Church, 1087.
North-Cray Place, a seat, 1358.



North Foreland, the Cantium of the
Romans, curious light-house here,
968.

Northwood, 702; particulars of the
family of, and of Norton, 703.

NUNNERIES; at Canterbury, 903;
Davington, 743; Folkstone, 1107;
Minster, in Shepey, 712; Minster,
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in Thanet, 985; Newington, 690;
West Malling, 1274.

Nuptials of Edward I. and Mar-
garet of France, 879.

O

Oak, Sir Philip Sydney’s, 1311.
Oakeey, a seat, 1351.
Oaks, remarkable ones, 1085; Syd-

ney’s Oak, 1311.
Odo, Archbishop, account of, 771.
Offham, a quintin here, 1273.
Oldhury Hill, a vast camp here, 1335.
Old Turkey mills, celebrated for pa-

per, 1242.
Old Wives Lees, an annual race held

here, 1173.
Ollantigh, birth-place of Archbishop

Kemp, 1162; descent of the manor,
Alderman Sawbridge, and Mrs.
Macaulay, born here, 1163; man-
sion, and skeletons, 1164.

Orpington Church, 1357.
Ospringe, Maison Dieu founded here,

church, 722; gunpowder-works,
barracks, 723.

Otford, a palace of the Archhishops
here, 1332; miracles of Archbishop
Becket, ib. (note;) battles fought at
Otford, 1333.

Otham, a manor, its history, Bishop
Horne born here, 1233.

Otterden Church, 1218.
Otterden Place, ib.
Oyster fishery, particulars of, at Ro-

chester, 666; Milton, 701; Faver-
sham, 732,-3.

Oxenhoath, a manor and seat, 1285.

P

Pageant of St. Thomas Becket, ex-
penses of, 912,-13, (note.)

PALACES, Archiepiscopal, at Bekes-
bourne, 1096; Canterbury, 879;
Charing, 1216; Ford, 932; Gilling-
ham, 681; Halling, 1270; Knole,
1327; Maidstone, 1248; Otford,
1333; Saltwood, 1121; Tenham,
717; Trottescliffe, 1339; Wing-
ham, 1090; Wrotham, 1338.

Pan Rock, fragments of Roman ves-
sels found here, 931.

Parker, Matthew, entertains Queen



Elizabeth, 814,-15.
Parliamentary representation, singular

instance of its inequality, 711.

Park House, a seat, 1261.
Patricksbourne, a cell of Augustine

Friars, church, 1096,-7; fine door-
way, 1098; painted glass, tomb of
Mary Taylor, 1099.

Paulinus, Bishop of Rochester, reputed
a Saint, 628.

Peckham, West, held by a singular
tenure, 1285.

Pegwell Bay, a villa here of Counsel-
lor Garrow’s, 985.

Penshurst, the celebrated seat of the
Sydneys, 1301; descent of the ma-
nor, 1301–10; described, park,
Sydney’s oak, mansion, 1310–12.

Penshurst Church, brasses, and mo-
numents, 1313.

Penchester, Sir Stephen de, some ac-
count of, 1301–2; buried at Pen-
chester, 1313.

Pett, a seat, 1218.
Pevington, a decayed parish, 1188.
Pharos, a Roman one at Dover de-

scribed, 1030,-1.
Philipott, John, Somerset Herald, a

native of Folkstone, 1112.
Pimpe’s Court, a seat, 1278.
Pinnenden Heath, celebrated for its

public meetings, 1241; famous as-
sembly here in the time of the Con-
queror, ib. (note.)

Pitt, William, Chancellor of the Ex-
chequer, some particulars of, 1349.

Place House at Bidenden, 1208.
Place House, or St. Dunstan’s Place,

907.
Plague at Canterbury, 915; Sand-

wich, 1002; Dover, 1057; at Maid-
stone, 1247; Yalding, 1280.

Plantagenet, Richard, natural son of
Richard III. his tomb, 1180; in-
teresting particulars concerning, 1181
–4, (note.)

Plot, Dr. the antiquary, born at Sut-
ton Baron, in Borden, 693.

Pluckley Church, various brasses here,
1188.

Pocket pistol, Queen Elizabeth’s, a
fine piece of ordnance so called,
1048.

Pole, Cardinal, some account of, 813–
14.

Polley Street, 1236.
PORTRAITS; of Hen. Fitz Alan,

Earl of Arundel, 1331; Anne of
Cleves, 1093; Alph. D’Avalos,
1331; Friar Bacon, 1331; Arch.
Bancroft, 1331; Rob. Bargrave,
gent. 1101; Sir Paul Barrett, 1095;
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Thomas Barrett, Esq. ib. Admiral
Blake, 1331; Anne Boleyn, 1331;
Cha. D. of Bourbon, 1331; John,
D. of Bourbon, ib. Lady Bowyer,
1086; Sir John Boys, 1086; John,
second E. of Bridgewater, 1086; Ce-
cil, Lord Burleigh, 1331; Dr. Bus-
by, 1095; Lady Carlisle, 1094;
Robert Cecil, E. of Salisbury, 1331;
Charles the Second and his Queen,
1094; Duchess of Cleveland, 1094;
Geo. Clifford, E. of Cumberland,
1331; Sir Thomas Coley, 664;
Archbishop Cranmer, 1331; Tho-
mas Lord Cromwell, 1331; Sir
Dudley Digges, 1086; Sir John
Dormer, 1086; Sir Francis Drake,
1331; John Dudley, Duke of Nor-
thumberland, 1331; Robert Dud-
ley, Earl of Leicester, 1331; Lord
Chancellor Egerton, 1075–86–1331;
Hon. Thomas Egerton, 1086; Dr.
William Egerton, 1086; Sir Stafford
Fairborne, 664; Lord Fairfax,
1221; Sir Charles Farnaby, 1325;
Alexander Farnese, 1331; Bishop
Fisher, 1331; Bishop Gardiner,
1331; George I. 1221; Nell
Gwynn, 1094; Hammond Family,
1086; Sir Christoper Hatton, 1331;
Sir Francis Head, sen. and jun. 1087;
Sir Robert Heath, 1319; Henry the
Eighth, 1093; Henry the Sixth,
746; Sir William Herbert, Earl of
Pembroke, 1331; Charles Howard,
Lord High Admiral, 1331; Henry
Howard, Earl of Northampton,
1331; Thomas Howard, Duke of
Norfolk, 1331; Thomas Howard,
Earl of Suffolk, 1331; James, Duke
of York, and Anne Hyde, 1095;
Don John, 1331; Lady Juxon,
1086; Sir George Juxon, 1086;
Sir John Leake, 664; Countess of
Leicester, 1086; John Lennard, Esq.
1321; Sampson Lennard, Esq. ib.
Henry de Lorrain, 1331; Charles
de Lorrain, 1331; Margaret of
Scotland, 1093; Sir Anthony Mars-
den, 1331; Sir Walter Mildmay,
1331; Mrs. Montagu, 1130; Sir
Thomas More, 1331; William of
Nassau, 1331; Sir John Norris,
1331; Lord Orford, 1095; Sir
Thomas Palmer, 664; Sir Walter
Raleigh, 1331; Thomas Ratcliff,
Earl of Sussex, 1331; Duchess of
Richmond, 1094; Sir George and
Lady Rooke, 1095; Thomas Sack-
ville, Earl of Dorset, 1331; Sir

Cloudesly Shovel, 664; Charles



Stewart, Duke of Richmond, 1095;
Sir William Style, 1282; Captain
Nicholas Toke, and Diana his wife,
1190; Judge Twysden, 1276; Ma-
dam la Valliere, 1094; Villiers,
Duke of Buckingham, 1281; Sir
Francis Walsingham, 1331; Lady
Warwick, 1087; Richard Watts,
Esq. 664; Arch. Whitgift, 1331;
John Wickliff, 1331; Sir James
Wilford, 1331; Sir Joseph Wil-
liamson, 664; Cardinal Wolsey,
1331.

Portus Rutupensis, a Roman
haven between the Isle of Thanet
and the mainland, 932; described,
932–35.

Postling Church, for what remarkable,
1124; Dr. White Kennet born here,
1124.

Potter, Archbishop, distinguished as a
Linguist, 819.

Poultney, Sir John de, his mansion-
house, 1302.

Poynings, Sir Thomas, some particu-
lars of, 1133.

Preston, next Faversham, church, mo-
numents, brasses, 742,-3.

Preston Hall, a seat, ancient date here,
bridge, 1264.

Primacy of the Archiepiscopal See of
Canterbury, how established, 764–
7, (note.)

Printing-press, new one invented by
Earl Stanhope, 1311.

PRIORIES; at Aylesford, 1645; Bil-
sington, 1147; Canterbury, 765–
896,-7; Combwell, 1204; Dover,
1058; Folkstone, 1107,-8; Lewis-
ham, 1361; Losenham, 1202; Maid-
stone, 1252; Monks Horton, 1131;
Mottenden, 1209; Rochester, 628;
Throwley, 750; Tunbridge, 1291.

Q

Quarry Hill, a handsome mansion,
1295.

Queenborough Castle, 709; named
Queenborough in honor of gueen
Philippa, 710; description of, ib.
ancient well re-opened, 711; church,
712.

Quex, a manor in Birchington, 953,-
4; occasionally the residence of
King William, 955; singular oc-
currence here, ib. (note.)
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Quintin, an ancient one at Offham,
1273.

R

Rainham Church, burial-place of the



Tuftons, Earls of Thanet, curious
screen, stone seats, brass of William
Bloore, gent. 686; monuments of the
Tuftons, 687.

Rainier, Admiral Peter, born at Sand-
wich, 1009.

Ramsgate, its former state and har-
bour, 974; new harbour founded, his-
tory of, 975–79; light-house built,
979; harbour described, 980,-1;
vill, chapel of ease, assembly-room,
hoys, 982; population, 983.

Ratling Court, an ancient seat, 1079;
1089.

Reading Street, a hamlet, 1199.
Reculver Castle, or Regulbium, a Ro-

man station, 935; etymology, and
situation, 936; fort described, 937;
various antiquities and coins found
here, 937–40; a seat of the Saxon
Kings, abbey founded here, 941.

Reculver Church described, 941; King
Ethelbert buried here, 942; monu-
ments, 942,-43.

Reding Hill, the supposed site of An-
derida, 1199; barracks here, 1200.

Red Leaf, a seat, 1313.
Regal of France, a jewel, 846.
Register of West Farleigh, singular ex-

tracts from, 1279, and note.
Registers of Staplehurst, curious ex-

tracts from, 1209, (note.)
Repton, a manor near Ashford, 1152,-

53, (note.)
Reynolds Place, a seat, 1342.
Reynolds, Walter, Archbishop, dies

of a broken heart, 805.
Richard the Third, his interview with

a natural son, 1182, (note.)
Richborough, or Rutupium, a Roman

station, 943; anciently a small
island, 944; curiously described by
Leland, 945; particular description
from Boys’s Sandwich, 946–49; Ro-
man amphitheatre, ib. Rutupian
shores particularly celebrated by an-
cient writers, 949.

Ripley Court, a manor, Jack Cade
taken here, 1185.

Rivers, Lambard’s curious description
of their increase, 1151, (note.)

Robinson family, particulars of, 1127
–9, and notes, ib.

ROCHESTER City, the Durobrivae
of the Romans, 611; Roman coins
found here, made a bishop’s see,
612; ravaged by the Danes, 613;
burnt, granted to the citizens, 614;
privileges of, 615,-16; corporation,
617; history of castle, 617–628;
see of, the smallest in England;
priory, founded by Ethelbert, bi-



shops, 628,-9; church, despoiled of
its estates, 629; estates restored
through the exertions of Gundulph
and Lanfranc, 633; Xenium, what,
631, note; bishops of since the
Conquest, 630–639; cathedral
built by Gundulph, 631,-2; dor-
mitory, refectory, and chapter-
house, built by Ernulph, 633;
city and cathedral burnt, 633; dis-
pute between Bishop Glanville and
the monks, 534; Bishop’s palace and
and cloister built, murder and ca-
nonization of William, a Scotch
baker, 365,-6; priory dissolved,
638; cathedral described, 639–
647; monuments in cathedral,
648–652; ruins of chapter-house,
652; Gundulph’s tower, 653; pri-
or’s chambers, 654; churches in
Rochester; St. Margaret’s, St. Ni-
cholas, ib. St. Catherine’s hospital,
655; grammar school, 656; travel-
lers alms-house, 657–659; free
school, 659; bridge built in the
reign of King Edgar, history of,
660–662; bridge-chamber, or re-
cord-room, formerly a chapel, de-
scribed, 662,-3; town-hall, por-
traits in, clock-house, city-walls,
members, improvements, popula-
tion, 665; oyster fishery, 666.

ROCHESTER Castle, Roman
coins found in castle-gardens, 612;
erroneously supposed to have been
built by Caesar, 617,-18; rebuilt,
618; Bishop Odo besieged here by
William Rufus, 619; rebuilt by
Gundulph, besieged by King John,
620; reduced by Lewis the Dau-
phin, 621; besieged by Simon de
Montfort, 622; its constables, ib.
its situation, 623; particular de-
scription of the keep, 624, 628.

ROCHESTER Cathedral, found-
ed by King Ethelbert, 612; da-
maged by fire, 614; rebuilt by
Gundulph, 631; dedicated, 632;
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partly destroyed by fire, 633, note;
its eastern part rebuilt with the ob-
lations made at St. William’s shrine,
635; plundered by King John,
636; made a stable by the soldiers
of Simon de Montfort, 637; gene-
ral description of, 639; west front
particularly described, 639,-40;
statue of Gundulph, nave, triforium,
641; roof, great tower, west transept,
642; vaulting, curious corbel heads,
chapel of St. Mary, organ, 643;
choir, east transept, chapel of St.



William, 644; altar-piece, stone
seat, crypt, 645; chapter-house, its
curious door-way, 646; library,
curious manuscripts, dimensions of
the cathedral, 647; tombs of the
bishops Gundulph, Inglethorp,
Laurence de St. Martin, Gilbert de
Glanville, Walter de Merton, Lowe,
Warner, Bradfield, and Hamo de
Hythe, 648–650; monument and
bust of Richard Watts, Esq. 650;
monuments of John Lord Hanni-
ker, Dame Ann Henniker, and others,
651; ruins of chapter-house de-
scribed, 652; Gundulph’s tower,
cathedral precincts, 653; deanery,
and vineyard, 654.

Rodmersham Church, 720.
Rokeby, Lord, anecdotes and charac-

ter of, 1129,-30.
Rolvenden, a parish, 1200.
ROMAN ANTIQUITIES; at Ash,

amulets, coins, fibulae, glass beads,
sword, weights, &c. 1017; Bar-
ham Downs, coins, urns, &c. 1081;
Broadstairs, coins, 972; Canterbury,
arches, coins, pavements, &c. 755;
Chatham, coins, foundations, lachry-
matories, paterae, spear-heads, swords,
urns, &c. 670; Chartham Downs,
beads, fibulae, urns, &c. 1174;
Come Bank, coins, 1320; Davington
Hill, coins, urns, &c. 722; Dover,
pharos, 1030,-1; East Barming, coins,
urns, &c. 1276; Folkstone, coins and
tiles, 1106; Grove, an urn, 1242;
Judde Hill, coins, culinary ware,
medal, 721; Keston Camp, coins, tiles,
&c. 1346; Limne, coins, tiles, walls,
&c. 1136; Lullingstone, bricks, and
tessellated pavement, 1343; Maid-
stone, and its neighbourhood, coins,
1243; Margate, coins, &c. 963;
Mount Pleasant, coins, 990; near
Newenden, coins, 1202; Newington,
coins and beads, 1105; Newington,

urns, pottery, &c. 688,-9; Reculver,
bullae, coins, pavements, tiles, walls,
&c. 934–40; Richborough, amphi-
theatre, coins, walls, &c. 949; Ro-
chester, coins, paterae, urns, &c. 612;
Tremworth Down, and hills adjacent,
earthen-ware, paterae, trinkets, urns,
&c. 1164,-5; Vintners, coins, 1242;
Waldershare, urns, paterae, &c. 1072;
Woodnesborough, broken vessels, 1017.

ROMAN BURYING PLACES; at
Ash, 1016; Chatham, 670,-1; Crock-
Field, near Newington, 688; Da-
vington Hill, 744.

ROMAN STATIONS; at Canter-
bury, (Durovernum,) 753; Dover,



(ad Portum Dubrs,) 1029; Folk-
stone, (Lapis Populi,) 1106; Judde
Hill, (Durolevum,) 753; Limne, (ad
Portus Lemanis,) 1135,-6; Newen-
den, (the supposed Anderida,) 1201;
Reculver, (Regulbium,) 935; Rich-
borough, (Rutupium,) 945; Roches-
ter, (Durobrivae,) 611,-12.

Romney Marsh, famous ordinances
made for the government of, 1139,-
40; how preserved from the sea,
1140,-1; its fertility the rise of va-
rious affluent families, ib.

Romney, or New Romney, an-
ciently a maritime town, 1142; its
haven destroyed, ib. a prescriptive
borough, corporation, church, 1143;
sepulchral memorials, priory, hos-
pital, 1144; brotherhood house, po-
pulation, barracks, 1145.

Romney Old, an ancient borough, 1145.
Rood of Grace, its singular history,

1237–9, (note.)
Rooke, Sir George, buried at Canter-

bury, 908; his cenotaph, 861; his
portrait, 1095.

Rookes, anciently seated at Horton,
1131.

Roydon Hall, a seat, birth-place of Sir
Roger Twysden, 1283.

S

Sackville, Thomas, Lord Buckhurst,
his character, 1328.

Sackville, Charles, Earl of Dorset,
some account of, 1329.

Salmstone Grange, a manor, and cha-
pel, 966.

Saltwood Castle, ancient history of,
1120; the rendezvous of Becket’s
murderers, 1121; becomes an ar-
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chiepiscopal palace, ib. its present
state, 1122,-3.

Saltwood Church described, its monu-
ments 1123.

Sandford, Henry de, Bishop of Ro-
chester, singular anecdote of, 699.

Sandgate, a bathing village, 1113.
Sandgate Castle, built, ib. altered into

a martello tower, 1114; Shorn
Cliffe ib.

Sandling, a seat, 1124.
Sandown Castle, built by Henry the

Eighth, described, 1018.
SANDWICH, anciently called Sond-

wych, and Lundenwic, 993; pil-
laged by the Danes, granted to the
See of Canterbury, ancient state of,
994,-5; fortified, plundered, and
burnt by the French, 996; decay of
the port, 997; described by Leland,



ib. inhabited by Flemish refugees,
998,-9; visited by Queen Elizabeth,
ib. (note;) state of in the reigns of
Elizabeth and James I. 1000,-1;
ravaged by the plague, earthquakes
felt here, 1002,-3, (note;) town de-
scribed, 1002,-3; gates, bridge,
churches, 1004,-5; Carmelite priory,
ib. hospitals, St. John’s, St. Tho-
mas’s, and St. Bartholomew’s, 1006;
grammar-school, charity-school, cor-
poration, 1007; common assembly,
Barons, town-hall, cucking-stool,
and mortar, 1008; witchcraft, po-
pulation, eminent natives, 1009 and
1156.

Satis, a seat, near Rochester, Queen
Elizabeth entertained here, 657,
(note.)

Sawbridge, Alderman John, born at
Ollantigh, 1163.

Saxons converted to Christianity, 761–
63.

Saxon Will, a curious one, 1340,-1,
(note.)

Scadbury, a seat of the Walsinghams,
Sir Francis Walsingham, and Sir
Nicholas Bacon, born here, 1356

Scott, Mrs. Author of the Life of
D’Aubignè, 1128, (note.)

Scott’s Hall, once an eminent seat of
the Scotts family, 1147; Reynold
Scott born here, 1148; magnificence
of, Sir Thomas Scott, ib.

Sea-Eel, a remarkable one caught at
Whitstable, 930.

Seale Church, a curious brass and mo-
numents here, 1333.

Sea-Salter, a large whale taken here,
929; church and fisheries, 930.

Seaton Manor, held by a curious tenure,
1178.

Secker, Archbishop, his learning and
death, 820.

Sedley, Sir Charles, the poet, born at
Aylesford friary, 1266.

Selling, Prior, his learning and epitaph,
828.

Sevenoaks, descent of the manor,
church, 1324; monuments, 1325;
Sir Will. de Sevenoke, his history,
alms-house, and free-school, ib.
market-house, population, Seven-
oaks Vine, 1326.

Sevenoke, Sir William, a deserted
orphan, afterwards Lord Mayor of
London, 1325.

Shakespeare’s Cliff described, 1066.
Shebbertswold,ancient barrows here, 1073.
Sheerness, 707; King’s-yard, or

Dock, 708; curious well, 709;
Queenborough castle, 709–11; and



church, 712; minster, ib. 715;
East Church, 715,-16; Leysdown,
Isle of Harty, 716; manor of the
Moat, 717.

Sheldon, Archbishop, vislts the Theatre
at Oxford, 817.

Shellness, a beach in the Isle of Shepey,
704; James the Second seized here,
736–9.

SHEPEY, ISLE OF, its extent, agri-
culture, 440; includes six parishes,
described, 704; fossils and animal
remains found here, ferries, 705;
King’s Ferry, the station of the
Danes, 706.

Shepway-Crosse, assemblies held here,
1137.

Shipbourne, birth-place of the Poet
Smart, 1335.

Shoreham Castle, 1345.
Shorn Cliffe, camp and barracks here,

1114.
Shottington Hill, a camp here, 751.
Shrine of Becket, its immense value,

848,-9.
Shurland, Sir Robert de, strange tale

concerning, 713, 14.
Sibton, a seat, 1126
Simmons, Dr. S. F. born at Sand-

wich, 1009
Simpsons, a seat, 1355.
Sissinghurst, a seat, its mansion dila-

pidated, 1207; Sir Richard Baker
born here, ib.
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Sittingborne, Henry the Fifth entertained
here, incorporated, 696; church
burnt by accident, monuments, cu-
rious one of a female, 697; font,
singular anecdote of Sandford,
Bishop of Rochester, population,
Lewis Theobald, the Poet, born
here, 698.

Six, James, Esq. buried at Canterbury,
904.

Skynner, Augustine, Esq. licensed to
eat flesh in Lent, 1279.

Slatyer, the Rev. William, author of
the Palae Albion, 1218.

Small Hithe, its chapel, 1199.
Smart, Christopher, the Poet, born at

Shipbourne, 1335.
Somner, William, the antiquary, his

epitaph, 905; particulars of, 926.
Sondes, a youth, murders his brother,

749.
Sonnet, on Penshurst, a beautiful one

by Mrs. C. Smith, 1311.
South Park, a seat, 1313.
Speldhurst Church destroyed by light-

ning, 1301.
St. Bartholomew, how venerated at



Otford, 1333, (note.)
St. Blase’s Well, 1353.
St. Eadburg’s Well, a spring, 1102.
St. Eanswide, her wonderful history,

1107; hour-glasses found in her cof-
fin, 1108, (note.)

St. John’s Hospital, 1332.
St. John’s Preceptory, 1103; describ-

ed, 1104; King John resigns his
crown here, 1104.

St. Lawrence Church described, Rich.
Joy, the strong man of Kent, born
here, 984.

St. Legers, some particulars of, 1223–
25,-6.

St. Leonard’s Chapel, a curious Nor-
man remain, 1275.

St. Margaret’s at Cliffe, its curious
church, 1029.

St. Margaret’s Bay, celebrated for its
lobsters, 1029.

St. Mary Cray, 1357.
St. Mildred, her lynch, and sanctity,

987; lands at Ippedsflete, 988; her
remains found, ib.

St. Nicholas Church, brasses, 953; ma-
nufactory of blocks for paper-
stainers, ib.

St. Peter’s Church described, brasses, and
tombs, 967.

St. Radigund’s Abbey, description of,
1069–71.

St. Rumbald, his statue, 1339,-40.
St. Stephen’s, or Hackington Church,

tomb of Sir Roger Manwood, 939.
St. Thomas’s Hill, a seat, 928.
St. Thomas’s Well, its miraculous ori-

gin, 1333, (note.)
Stafford, Duke of Buckingham, his

sad fate, 1290.
Standgate Creek assigned for the per-

formance of quarantine, 691.
Stanford Church, and font, 1135.
Staple Church, its singular font, 1089.
Staplehurst, pleasantliy situated, 1208;

curious extracts from its registers,
1209, (note.)

Star of the East, a Kentish beauty,
1078, and 1086.

Stockbury Church, Dr. Thorpe, the
Kentish antiquary, buried here,
1235.

Stockbury Valley, its beauty, 1235.
Stonar, formerly a considerable mar-

ket-town, 991; now only a farm-
house, inundated by the sea, burnt
by the French, salt-works, 992.

STONE-SEATS; at Bobbing, 692;
Chatham, 672; Hythe, 1118; Leeds,
1225; Lenham, 1216; Maidstone,
1250; Milton, 701; Rainham, 686;
Rochester, 645; Westwell, 1185.



Stone Chapel, partly built with Ro-
man tile, 712.

Storm, a dreadful one in Kent, 1230,-1,
(note.)

Street, or Court-up-Street, formerly a
town, 1137,-8; scene of the decep-
tions practised by the Holy Maid of
Kent, ib. her death, 1139; singular
marriage contract, ib. (note.)

Sturry Street, and church, 928.
Stutall Castle, a Roman fort so called,

1135,-6.
Style, Sir Oliver, his remarkable escape

from an earthquake, 1232.
Styles, some account of the family,

1282.
Sudbury, Archbishop, murdered on

Tower-Hill, 807.
Suffragan Bishop, at Dover, 1062.
Summer-Hill, a beautiful seat, 1293–

95; house described, 1294.
Sundridge, a seat, 1356.
Sundrish manor, place, and Place-

house, 1319.
Surrenden, a seat, 1186; descent of

the manor, and particulars of the
Derings, ib. 1188.

Surrenden, Old, a manor and seat,
1196.
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Sutton Baron, in Borden Parish, 693.
Sutton Valance, and castle, 1227,-8.
Swadling Downs, ancient entrench-

ments here, 1174.
Swale, a river or water so called, be-

tween the Isle of Shepey, and the
main land, 704.

Swanton Court, a seat, 1071.
Swinfield, Robert de, born at Swing-

field, 1105.
Swine, wild, in the Hurst woods,

1289.
Swingfield, a preceptory of Knights

Templars here, where King John
resigns his crown, 1103,-4; church,
and eminent natives, 1105.

Sydenham, its mineral springs, 1362.
Sydney, Algernon, mortgages Swing-

fie1d Park, 1104, (note.)
Sydney, Sir William, a tutor to Ed-

ward VI. 1306.
Sydney, Sir Henry, Lord President of

Wales, 1303; his distinguished
offices, talents, and able conduct,
1303–5, (note.)

Sydney, Sir Philip, a native of Pens-
hurst, styled the Incomparable, 1304;
particulars of his history and death,
1306; his exalted character, 1307,
(note.)

Sydney, Sir Robert, a native of Pens-
hurst, 1307; an eminent statesman,



1308; created Earl of Leicester,
ib.

Sydney, Robert, second Earl of Leices-
ter, his high offices and learning,
1308,-9; father of Algernon, and
Waller’s Saccharissa, 1309.

Sydney, Philip, third Earl of Leices-
ter, and his successors, some account
of, 1310.

Sydney Lodge, a seat, 1356.

T

Tenham, or Teynham, archiepiscopal
palace, 717; church, brasses, 718;
cherry-gardens, and apple orchards,
first planted here: Harrys, Richard,
fruiterer to Henry the Eighth, intro-
duces the growth of cherries and
apples into Kent, 719.

Tenterden, corporation, town-hall,
market-house, free-school, church,
1198; steeple, 1199, (note.)

Tenures, curious, at Bilsington, 1147;
Wilmington, 1178; Seaton, 1178;

Oxenhoath, 1285; West Peckham,
1285.

Teston, descent of the manor, 1280;
church, 1281.

Teston House, or Barham Court, de-
scribed, 1281.

Teynham Lodge, a seat, 1219.
THANET, ISLE OF, Augustine’s

interview with King Ethelbert, 762;
etymology of its name, 950; boun-
daries, pursuits of its inhabitants,
951; divided into two manors,
952; its parishes, towns, and seats,
952–92.

Thaw, a sudden one, its effects,
1248.

Theobald, Archbishop, his body found,
856; his shrine described, 867.

Theobald, Lewis, the poet and dra-
matist, born at Sittingborne, 698.

Theodore, Archbishop, particulars of,
768,-9.

Thorne, its ancient chapel, natives of,
990.

Thorpe, Dr. the Kentish antiquary,
buried at Stockbury, 1235.

Throwley Church, 749; monuments,
priory, 750.

Thunder storm at Dover, a severe one,
1066,-7.

Thunor, his lepe, 986.
Thurnham, a manor, and castle, 1234;

castle described, 1235; sand pits
here, ib.

Thynne, Francis, or Thom-at-the-Inne,
Lancaster Herald, a native of Kent,
1155, (note.)

Tillotson, Archbishop, encomium on



him by William III. 818.
Toad, a live one, found in a chesnut

tree, 1219.
Tobias, Bishop of Rochester, his

learning, 629.
Tong Church, 719.
Tong Castle, 720; singular account of

its origin, ib.
Tongs, a seat, 1203.
Tortoise, one dies at Sandwich more

than 100 years old, 1006, (note.)
Totesham, an ancient seat, 1279.
Tovel, a Pest-house here, 1247.
Trapham, Thomas, sewes on the head

of Charles I. 1257.
Tremworth Down, a Roman burying-

place, 1164.
Tribute, payment of to the Court of

Rome, prohibited by Edward III.
806, (note.)
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Trial by battle, awarded on a claim of
right, 717.

Trottescliffe, antiquities found here, de-
scent of the manor, 1339; an archie-
piscopal palace here, 1340.

Tunbridge, held by Richard de
Tonebridge, 1285; exchanged for
the Castle of Brione, 1286; anec-
dote relating to the exchange, ib.
(note;) etymology of the name,
1287; descent of the manor, 1288–
90; Castle, 1287; priory, 1291;
causeway, bridge, church, grammar-
school, 1292; population, adjacent
roads, anciently returned two mem-
bers to parliament, 1293.

Tunbridge Castle, founded, besieged,
1287; possessed by the Earls Clare,
1288; again besieged, 1289; de-
scribed, 1291.

Tunbridge Wells, how situated, 1295;
origin of attributed to Dudley, Lord
North, 1296; become celebrated,
1297,-8; curiously described by
Count Grammont, 1298, (note;)
chapel, school, Tunbridge ware,
qualities of the water, 1299; build-
ings, high rocks, 1300.

Tunstall, its Lords, 694; ancient ma-
nor-house, church, monuments, Ed-
ward Rowe Mores born here, 695.

Twysden, Sir Roger, the historian,
born at Roydon Hall, 1283.

U & V

Ulcombe, the ancient seat of the St.
Legers, 1225; descent of the manor,
church, guild, 1226.

Updown, a seat here, 1088.
Vessel, a new one invented by Lord

Stanhope, 1321.



Vineyards, ancient, at Canterbury,
885; Chartham, 1175; Ford, 932;
Halling, 1270; Leeds, 1221; Ro-
chester, 654; Westwell, 1183.

Vintners, a seat, Roman coins found
here, 1242.

W

Wages formerly given to Members of
Parliament, instances of, 913.

Wake, Archbishop, bequeaths his va-
luable library, and collection of
coins, to Christ Church College,
Oxford, 819.

Waldershare, a seat, 1072; Roman an-
tiquities found here, church and mo-
numents described, ib.

Walloons settle at Canterbury, 920–
21; their church, 851.

Walls, curious construction of those
at Richborough, 946–49.

Wallis. Dr. John, the eminent decy-
pherer, born at Ashford, 1156.

Walmer, a pleasant village, ruined ma-
nor-house of the Criols here, church,
1028; castle, appropriated to the
Lord Warden of the Cinque Ports, ib.

Walsingham, Sir Francis, born at
Scadbury, 135 .

Wateringbury Place described, 1281;
portraits, and painted glass, 1282.

Wateringbury Church, monuments of
the Styles, instances of longevity,
1282.

Weald of Kent, its ancient limits,
1192; described by Drayton, 1193:
its former state, ib. (note;) describ-
ed by Harris, 1194; ancient ser-
vices, ib. (note;) bad roads in,
1195; William Caxton, a native,
1195; Sigbert, King of Wessex,
slain, 1192, (note.)

Wells, curious ones, at Sheerness, 708;
at Queenborough, 711.

West, Gilbert, Esq. elegant inscription
by him, 1347.

West Cliffe, formerly a seat of the
Gibbons’ family, 1029.

Westenhanger, an ancient seat, 1131;
descent of the estate, and eminent
owners, 1132,-3; description of the
buildings, 1134,-5.

Westerham, descent of the manor,
1316; church, eminent natives, Ge-
neral Wolfe, Bishop Hoadley, Arch-
bishop John Hoadley, and John
Frith, the martyr, 1317,-18; land-
slips here, population, ib.

Westgate, Canterbury, rebuilt, 807; de-
scribed, 895.

West Langdon Abbey, now a farm,
1028.



Westwell, a park, and vineyard here,
1182,-3; church, stone seat, 1184,-5.

West Wickham, descent of the manor,
1347; church, monuments, and
painted glass, residence of the poet
West, ib.

West Wickham Court, a seat describ-
ed, 1347.

Whale, one thrown on shore at Sea
Salter, 929; another at Margate,

959; another at Broadstairs, 972.
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Whitgift, Archbishop, his exaltation,
815.

Whitley Forest, wild boars here, 1362.
Whitstable Street, its bay, copperas-

houses, sea-eel, church, 930.
Wickens, a seat, 1217.
Widville, Earl Rivers, slain, 1260.
Wilderness, a seat, 1335.
William, a Scotch baker, murdered

near Rochester, 635; his great re-
nown, 636; his chapel, 644,-5.

Wilmington Manor, held by a singu-
lar tenure, 1178.

Wine, thirty-three casks of, granted to
the Monks of Christ Church an-
nually, 847, (note.)

Wingham, a palace here, 1099.
Wingham College, account of, ib.

church, Henry de Wingham born
here, 1091.

Witchcraft, at Sandwich, 1009.
Wittanegemot, assembled at Faversham,

723.
Wolfe, Major-General James, born at

Westerham, some account of, 1317
Wolsey, Cardinal, entertained at Fa-

versham, 735.
Woodnesborough, a large mount or

tumulus here, supposed Roman,
1017.

Woollett, William, an eminent engra-
ver, born at Maidstone, 1257; his
great professional excellence, 1258;
death, and monument, 1259.

Wootton Court, a seat, 1074; Barony
of Chandos, house and grounds de-
scribed, 1074,-5; contiguous sce-
nery, (note.)

Wotton family, interesting particulars
of, 1210–14.

Wotton, Sir Henry, born at Boughton
Malherb, 1211.

Worth Gate, Canterbury, a Roman
avenue, 754.

Wrotham, a palace of the Archbishops
here, 1338; church, monuments,
ib. British coins found here, 1339,
(note.)

Wrotham Place, a seat, ib.



Wyatt, James, Esq. the architect, his
bust, 1095.

Wyatt, Sir Thomas, the elder, his great
accomplishments, 1262; fine poetical
allusions to his residence at Alling-
ton Castle, 1263 (note.)

Wyatt, Sir Thomas, his insurrection
begun at Maidstone, 1244; and why,
1260.

Wye, given to the Abbey of Battle, 1156:
its ancient jurisdiction, 1157; visit-
ed by different Kings, ib. (note;)
fountain near, ib. (note;) possessors
of the manor, church described,
1158; memorials of Lady J. Thorn-
hill, Thomas Kempe, and Thomas
Palmere, 1159,-60; remarkable mor-
tality, 1159, (note;) college and
grammar-school, 1160,-61; popula-
tion, 1161; Wye fight, 1162; Wye
Down, beautiful view from, ib.
(note.)

Withersden Holy Well, 1157, (note;)
miracle performed here, 1158, (note.)

Wynkyn de Worde, an eminent prin-
ter, 1196.

Y

Yalding, formerly a market-town, af-
flicted by the plague, the poet Am-
hurst born at Jennings Court, 1280.

Yew tree, a remarkable one, 1150.
York Indiaman, lost at Margate, 961.
Yorke, Philip, Earl of Hardwicke,

born at Dover, account of, 1068,-9.
Yokes, a seat, 1284.

END OF THE EIGHTH VOLUME.

Printed by Thomas Maiden, Sherbourn-Lane,
Lombard-Street.
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Additions and Corrections to Vol. VIII.

Page 637, line 10, for ‘Mumford,’ read Montfort.
Page 681, line 19, for ‘Stafford,’ read Stratford.
Page 688, line 11, for “Orspringe,’ read Ospringe.
Page 72!, line 30, after, ‘Colonel Auchmuty,’ read, This gentleman, now

Sir Samuel Auchmuty, commanded the British forces at the storming of Monte
Video in South America, February 3, 1807.

Page 729, last line, note, omit all after ‘1592.’
Page 803, line 22, for ‘Richard,’ read Robert.
Page 861, line 5, for ‘Monks Horton,’ read St. Lawrence House.
Page 918, line 24, for ‘Barnham,’ read Burham.
Page 936, line 5, note, for ‘Lawrence,’ read Nicholas.
Page 966, line 16, for ‘1793,’ read 1799.
Page 969–71. The estate of Kingsgate has been recently sold; and the

splendid seat built by Lord Holland, is now pulling down for the sake of the
materials. Report states that a new Bathing-place is to be established here.

Page 1013, last line, note, after ‘refused to sit at any other during the re-
past,’ add, and therefore stood at the King’s right-hand during the whole cere-
mony.

Page 1073, line 29. The Rev. E. T. Brydges died on the 17th of October



last.
Page 1283, line 10. Sir W. Twysden has been just appointed Receiver

General for the County of Kent.

Additions to List of Books.

Page 1, line 13, after ‘last Copy,’ read, but without the Account, &c.
Page 2, line 15, read ‘1778 and’ 1799.
Same page, line 38, after ‘Rochester,’ read, This was principally compiled

by the Rev. Samuel Denne; and some Parts by the Rev. John Duncombe. It
has been twice or thrice reprinted at Canterbury.

Page 5, line 2, after ‘Friends,’ read, and particularly by the Rev. Osmund
Beauvoir.

Same page, line 18,-19, for ‘the late,’ &c. read Mr. Epps.
Page 7, line 8, after ‘Rochester,’ read, This Work was chiefly written by

the Rev. Samuel Denne.
Page 8’, line 40, after ‘Part,’ read, by the Rev. John Duncombe.
Page 14, line 21, for ‘Coning,’ read Coney; and for ‘Cranstead,’ read

<S>tanstead.
Same page, line 29, for ‘Dr.’ read Mr.
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